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September 3, 2009 
 
Dear Shareholder, 
 
Last year was tough on businesses and people around the world. The economic crisis hit Herman Miller and our industry hard, and 
we’re still feeling it. The employees of Herman Miller, despite employment reductions, a 10 percent cut in hours and pay, and some 
benefit reductions, have responded with thoughtful determination.  Our customers have continued to receive the same impeccable 
quality and outstanding service they have come to know from Herman Miller and our dealer partners. We ended the year profitably and 
are well positioned to take advantage of the opportunities we know the economic downturn will offer us.  

In June, because the hard work on the parts of many people had put us in a good position financially, we were able to acquire 
Nemschoff, a $90 million manufacturer of healthcare furniture.  This alone is a good indication of the extraordinary performance of 
Herman Miller people under uncertain and rough conditions.  On top of that, we launched several exciting new products, including the 
award-winning Embody® and Setu™ chairs. 

We don’t believe we will see the end of what some are calling ―The Great Recession‖ until the spring of 2010.  We believe our 
business is stable, and we are continuing to invest in the capabilities and products that will enable us to grow and prosper as the 
general economy improves. 

Where we stand financially and why 

In the long run, our financial objective must be to create positive economic value for our shareholders, which includes our employees. 
Given a dramatic drop in demand for our products, our focus this past year has been on ensuring that we have the financial flexibility to 
endure the downturn and the strength to invest in things that will give us a lasting advantage when the market recovers. While we did 
not meet our objectives for improving EVA® or creating value for our shareholders this past year, we did an incredible job of adjusting 
our costs to respond to the lower demand, conserving our cash, and implementing changes to our balance sheet.  

While Herman Miller’s level of debt was modest for a company of our size, nevertheless we decided to use some of our cash to 
repay $75 million of our debt to increase our financial strength. We restructured some of our banking relationships to ensure we had the 
flexibility to work through this difficult period.  We also significantly reduced our dividend to help conserve cash that we could then use 
to reduce our debt and invest in programs for the future. 

Financial highlights 

It was a year of dramatic changes in the economy that had a significant negative impact on each of our business units.  In total, sales 
were down 19 percent, and orders were down 22 percent.  These two figures do not adequately reflect the severity of the economic 
impact:  our top line was down 34 percent in the second half of the year. While we have a business model that includes a variable cost 
structure, we had to act swiftly to position the business for the new economic reality. By the end of the year we reduced our cost 
structure by 26 percent, and we were able to complete the year with $151 million of operating income, or 9.3 percent of sales. This 
included a 5.9 percent operating income performance in the fourth quarter, despite a 38 percent year-over-year decline in revenue. In 
addition to the cost reduction efforts, we renegotiated our revolver during the most challenging credit crisis in U.S. history and received 
less restrictive covenants in the process, clearly a testament to our financial position. Altogether, these actions right-sized our business 
and helped to generate $92 million of cash from operations and a cash and investment balance of $204 million. 

All in all, our actions this past year were focused on ensuring our financial strength and competitive position while continuing to invest 
in our future. 

Other accomplishments 

Strengthening the Herman Miller brand and better integrating strategy, R&D, and marketing 

Our new website, which by now I hope you have seen, is a great improvement—more visual, easier for specifiers and customers to use, 
more in line with the many facets of our company.  The Marketing team produced Herman Miller Tales, a modular video of four of our 
unique stories.  We plan to add more, and you can see this on our website at hermanmiller.com/About-Us. 
 

Introduction of new products 

We launched Embody last October at Orgatec and the Setu chair at NeoCon this June, where it won two awards.  We have redesigned 
the Celle® chair, increasing its comfort and expanding its market.  And so, simultaneously, we have our competitors playing catch-up at 
the high-end of the task chair market and working to fill an entirely new category created by Setu.   

International introduced Sense® tables, Abak® Environments Bench, and Cubix™.  Intent™ furniture was added to our systems 
offering. We have new, low-cost filing and storage through the fast market response work by the filing and storage team.  And our new 
Herman Miller Energy Manager, a fantastic way to save energy at the workstation level, has led to recent wins. 
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The expansion of our retail footprint 

Costco customers have enthusiastically welcomed good design in the form of the Equa® and Caper® chairs, thousands of which we 
shipped last year to Costco stores around the country. Based on the first year’s results, I think we have found a good partner for the 
future, and we are working on some new products that will expand our relationship. 

Our dealers and “the last mile” 

The application of Herman Miller Performance System (HMPS) principles to the crucial work our dealers do for customers has become 
a strong point of competitive advantage and differentiation.  Customers actually see a difference—cleaner, more organized job sites 
and significantly reduced installation time.   
 

Strengthen our distribution in Asia 

Last August, right before the Olympics, we signed an alliance agreement with POSH, a Hong Kong-based office furniture manufacturer.  
Distribution is a real challenge in China, and POSH has a strong channel, with over 20 dealers. 
 

Our alliance with Legrand 

Legrand North America, which sells Wiremold products, is part of The Legrand Group.  This well-regarded company employs over 
34,000 people worldwide and had sales of over $4.5 billion in 2008.  Wiremold/Legrand is the industry leader in cable and wire 
management systems, as well as an innovative manufacturer of electrical and network infrastructures.  By embedding our Convia™ 
product in the Wiremold ceiling and floor electrical boxes, we will be giving a huge new group of customers ways to manage and 
conserve energy, increase the flexibility of their buildings, and improve the productivity of their employees.  This alliance will add 400 
people selling the Convia solution and the Herman Miller Energy Manager. It is a major achievement and, we hope, a turning point in 
the commercialization of Convia. 

What’s Ahead? 

You can believe my team and I have spent a lot of time considering the answer to that question.  To be blunt—no one knows for sure.  
Based on the work that Herman Miller employees have done this past year, the new capabilities we have in place, and the spirit of the 
people of Herman Miller, I am very confident in our long-term future.  I believe in the long run our ability to grow and find new customers 
and markets will result in great value to you, our shareholders. 

Thanks to each and every one of our shareholders for your support.  We know that the financial performance last year was not up to 
our expectations; yet we also believe that we are in a great position to create value for shareholders, which includes Herman Miller 
employees. 

I honestly believe it has been one of the toughest years since Herman Miller’s founder had to deal with the Great Depression in 
1930.  That crisis led DJ De Pree and Herman Miller into a wonderful new opportunity—‖modern‖ furniture and industrial design.  I am 
confident that as we keep our eyes open, and our community healthy, we are beginning a great new time for Herman Miller right now. 
 
 
Sincerely,  

 
Brian C. Walker 
President and Chief Executive Officer  



3 Herman Miller, Inc., and Subsidiaries 

Notice of Annual Meeting of Shareholders 

The annual meeting of the shareholders of Herman Miller, Inc. (the ―company‖), will be held on October 15, 2009 by means of remote 
communication on the Internet at the Company’s web site, www.hermanmiller.com, at 11:00 a.m. (EDT) for the following purposes:  
1. To elect five directors, one for a term of one year and four for a term of three years 
2. To consider and vote upon a proposal to ratify the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as our independent registered public 

accounting firm 
3. To transact such other business as may properly come before the meeting or any adjournment thereof  
 

Shareholders of record at the close of business on August 17, 2009, will be entitled to vote at the meeting.  
Please note that this year’s Annual Meeting will be held via the Internet only. The accompanying proxy materials include instructions 

on how to participate in the meeting and the means by which you may vote your shares of Company stock. 
 

We encourage you to vote your Proxy, at your earliest convenience, by one of the following means:  
 
By visiting www.proxyvote.com on the Internet;  
 
And if you request paper materials 
By calling (within the U.S. or Canada) toll free at 1-800-690-6903; or 
By signing and returning your Proxy card 

 
You may also vote at the meeting by faxing your Proxy to (616) 654-7218 before the polls are closed during the meeting. Regardless 

of whether you expect to attend the meeting through the Internet, please vote your shares in the one of the ways listed above.  
 

By order of the Board of Directors 
Daniel C. Molhoek, Secretary to the Board  September 3, 2009  
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Herman Miller, Inc. 

855 East Main Avenue  
PO Box 302  
Zeeland, Michigan 49464-0302  

Proxy Statement Dated September 3, 2009  

This Proxy Statement and the accompanying Proxy, which are being made available to shareholders on or about September 3, 2009, 
are furnished to the shareholders of Herman Miller, Inc., in connection with the solicitation by the Board of Directors of proxies to be 
used at the Annual Meeting of Shareholders. This meeting will be held on October 15, 2009 at 11:00 a.m. (EDT). Please note that this 
year’s Annual Meeting will be held via the Internet rather than in person.  

How to Participate in the Electronic Meeting  

In order to participate in this year’s Annual Meeting, please log on to www.hermanmiller.com and click on the ―About Us‖ then ―For Our 
Investors‖ section and the ―Annual Meeting Webcast‖ link at least 15 minutes prior to the start of the 11:00 a.m. meeting to provide time 
to register and download the required audio software if needed. All shareholders will need to register by entering your name and, if you 
would like to ask a question during the meeting, you will also need to enter the 12-digit control number received with your Notice or 
Proxy. Questions that would be appropriate to raise in person and that relate to the purpose of the meeting will be accepted during the 
meeting. To submit questions, please access the Annual Meeting Webcast and select ―Ask a Question.‖  

Solicitation of Proxies and Voting  

Each shareholder, as an owner of the company, is entitled to vote on matters scheduled to come before the annual meeting. The use of 
proxies allows a shareholder to be represented at the annual meeting if he or she is unable to attend the meeting via the Internet.  
 

You can vote by any of the following methods  

 Vote by Internet Before the Annual Meeting Use your computer to access the website listed on the Proxy (or the written Notice 
mailed to you) and, with the Proxy or Notice in hand, record your vote. The deadline for internet voting is 11:59 p.m., EDT, on 
October 14, 2009.  

If you request paper materials you may also  

 Vote by Telephone  Call the toll free telephone number provided with your Proxy and, with the Proxy in hand, follow the instructions. 
The deadline for telephone voting is 11:59 p.m. EDT on October 14, 2009.  

 Vote by Mail  Complete, date, and sign your Proxy. Mail it in the prepaid envelope provided so that it reaches us before October 15, 
2009.  

 Vote by Facsimile During the Annual Meeting  You may vote by facsimile during the Annual Meeting prior to the announcement 
that the polls are closed. You may do so by faxing a marked and signed copy of your Proxy to 1-616-654-7218.  

If your Proxy is properly executed, the shares represented by the Proxy will be voted at the Annual Meeting of Shareholders and at 
any adjournment of that meeting. Where shareholders specify a choice, the Proxy will be voted as specified. If no choice is specified, 
the shares represented by the Proxy will be voted for the election of all nominees named in the Proxy and for the proposal described in 
this Proxy Statement.  

A Proxy may be revoked prior to its exercise by (i) delivering a written notice of revocation to the Secretary of the company, (ii) 
executing and delivering a Proxy at a later date, or (iii) attending the meeting via the Internet and voting via fax. However, attendance at 
the meeting does not automatically serve to revoke a Proxy.  
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Election of Directors 

The Board of Directors has nominated Michael A. Volkema, Paget L. Alves, Douglas D. French, John R. Hoke III, and 
James R. Kackley for election as directors. Mr. Volkema has been nominated to serve a one–year term until the 2010 annual meeting of 
shareholders; the other four nominees would serve until the annual meeting in 2012. Under our Bylaws, our directors serve in three 
separate classes, each having a term of three years and each class is to be nearly equal in number to the other classes.  In order to 
accomplish that objective, Mr. Volkema is being nominated to serve in the class of directors whose term expires in 2010. Each of the 
nominees previously has been elected as a director by our shareholders, except for Mr. Alves who was appointed to the Board in fiscal 
2008.  

The latter portion of this Proxy Statement contains more information about the nominees. Unless otherwise directed by a 
shareholder’s proxy, each person named as proxy voters in the accompanying proxy will vote for the nominees named above. If any of 
the nominees become unavailable, which is not anticipated, the Board of Directors, at its discretion, may designate substitute 
nominees, in which event the enclosed proxy will be voted for such substituted nominees. Proxies cannot be voted for a greater number 
of people than the number of nominees named.  

A plurality of the votes cast at the meeting is required to elect the nominees as our directors. Accordingly, the five people who receive 
the largest number of votes cast at the meeting will be elected as directors. Shares not voted at the meeting, whether by abstention, 
broker non-vote, or otherwise, will not be treated as votes cast at the meeting. 

 
The Board of Directors recommends a vote FOR the election of each person nominated by the Board.  

Ratification of Appointment of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  

Our Audit Committee has appointed Ernst & Young LLP (Ernst & Young) as our independent registered public accounting firm for the 
fiscal year ending May 29, 2010. Representatives of Ernst & Young will be present at the annual meeting of shareholders and available 
to respond to appropriate questions submitted in advance. The Ernst & Young representatives will have the opportunity to make a 
statement if they so desire.  

Although the submission of this matter for approval by shareholders is not legally required, our Board of Directors believes that such 
submission follows sound corporate business practice and is in the best interests of our shareholders. If our shareholders do not 
approve the selection of Ernst & Young, the selection of this firm as our independent registered public accounting firm will be 
reconsidered by the Audit Committee. 

 
The Board of Directors recommends a vote FOR the ratification of the appointment of Ernst & Young LLP as our independent 
registered public accounting firm. 
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Disclosure of Fees Paid to Independent Auditors  

Aggregate fees billed to us for the fiscal years ended May 31, 2008, and May 30, 2009 by our independent registered public 
accounting firm, Ernst & Young, were as follows:  

Fiscal Year Ended May 31, 2008 May 30, 2009 

Audit Fees(1)  1,252,000 1,251,050 

Audit Related Fees(2)  26,000 30,600 

Tax Fees(3)  91,000 32,850 

All Other Fees  0 0 

Total  $1,369,000 $1,314,500 
 

(1) Includes fees billed for the audit of and accounting consultations related to our consolidated financial statements included in Form 10-K, including the associated audit 

of our internal controls, the review of our financial statements included in our quarterly reports in Form 10-Qs, and services in connection with statutory and regulatory filings.  

(2) Includes fees billed for audits of employees benefits plans and accounting consultations that are unrelated to the audit or review of financial statements.  

(3) Includes fees billed for tax compliance, tax advice and, tax planning.  

 

Our Audit Committee has adopted a policy for pre-approving all permissible services performed by Ernst & Young and other firms. 
This policy requires the Committee’s pre-approval of all services that may be provided by our independent registered public accounting 
firm and certain audit services provided by other firms. The policy authorizes the committee to delegate to one or more of its members 
pre-approval authority with respect to permitted services. All of the services provided by Ernst & Young under the captions ―Audit Fees,‖ 
―Audit Related Fees,‖ and ―Tax Fees‖ were approved by the Audit Committee under this policy.  

Voting Securities and Principal Shareholders 

On August 17, 2009, we had 55,844,151 shares of common stock issued and outstanding, par value $.20 per share. Shareholders are 
entitled to one vote for each share of common stock registered in their names at the close of business on August 17, 2009, the record 
date fixed by our Board of Directors. Votes cast at the meeting and submitted by proxy will be tabulated by our transfer agent. As of 
August 17, 2009, no person was known by management to be the beneficial owner of more than five percent of our common stock, 
except as follows.  

Name and Address of Beneficial Owner  Amount and Nature 

of Beneficial 

Ownership 

Percent of Class  

Barclays Global Investors, NA 4,508,792(1) 8.07 

45 Fremont Street   

San Francisco, CA 94105   

Columbia Wanger Asset Management L.P. 3,938,600(2) 7.05 

227 West Monroe Street , Suite 3000   

Chicago, IL 60606   
 

(1) This information is based solely upon information as of  December 31, 2008 contained in the 13G filed on February 5, 2009 by Barclays Global Investors, NA 

with the SEC, including notice that it has sole voting power as to 3,782,132 shares and sole dispositive power as to 4,508,792 shares.  

(2) This information is based solely upon information as of December 31, 2008 contained in the 13G  filed on February 5, 2009 by Columbia Wanger Asset Management  L.P. 

with the SEC, including notice that it has sole voting power as to 3,731,500 shares and sole dispositive power as to 3,938,600 shares. 
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Director and Executive Officer Information  

Security Ownership of Management  

The following table shows, as of August 17, 2009, the number of shares beneficially owned by each of the Named Executive Officers 
(NEOs) identified in the executive compensation tables of this Proxy Statement and by all directors and executive officers as a group. 
Except as described in the notes following the table, the following persons have sole voting and dispositive power as to all of their 
respective shares.  

Name Amount and Nature 

of Beneficial 

Ownership(1) 

Percent of Class(2) 

Brian C. Walker  429,936 .77 

Gregory J. Bylsma 19,040 .03 

Curtis S. Pullen 31,190 .06 

Donald D. Goeman 74,671 .13 

Andrew J. Lock  75,956 .14 

Kristen L. Manos 8,180 .01 

Elizabeth A. Nickels 223,150 .40 

All executive officers and directors as a group (23 persons)  3,901,030 6.99 
 

(1) Includes the following number of shares with respect to which the NEOs have the right to acquire beneficial ownership under stock options exercisable within 60 days: 

Mr. Walker—170,572; Mr. Bylsma—15,481; Mr. Pullen—19,090;  Mr. Goeman—65,627;  Mr. Lock—41,085; and Ms. Nickels—163,479.  

(2) Calculated based on the number of shares outstanding plus the option shares referred to in footnote (3) below.  

(3) Included in this number are 894,997 shares with respect to which executive officers and directors have the right to acquire beneficial ownership under options exercisable 

within 60 days.  

 



9 Herman Miller, Inc., and Subsidiaries 

Director and Executive Officer Information (continued) 

The Board of Directors  

The information in the following table relating to each nominee’s and director’s age, principal occupation or employment for the past five 
years, and beneficial ownership of shares of common stock as of August 17, 2009, has been furnished to us by the respective 
nominees and directors. Except as described in the notes following the table, the following nominees and directors have sole voting and 
dispositive power as to all of the shares set forth in the following table.  

Name and Principal Occupation Age 

 

Year First 

Became a 

Director 

Shares 

Owned(1) 

Percent of 

Class(2) 

 

Nominee for Election as Director for Term to Expire in 2010     

Michael A. Volkema   53  1995  218,950  .39 

Since 2000—     

Chairman of the Board, Herman Miller, Inc.     

July 1995 to July 2004      

Chief Executive Officer, Herman Miller, Inc.      

Nominees for Election as Director for Term to Expire in 2012     

Paget L. Alves 55 2007 4,160 .01 

Since February 2008—     

President, Sales & Distribution, Sprint Nextel     

September 2006 to February 2008     

President, South Region Sales & Distribution, Sprint Nextel     

June 2005 to September 2006     

Senior Vice President, Enterprise Markets, Sprint Nextel     

November 2003 to June 2005     

President, Strategic Markets, Sprint     

Douglas D. French  55  2002  47,316  .08 

Since June 2007—      

Managing Director, Santé Health Ventures      

May 2004 to May 2007     

Principal, JD Resources, LLC      

January 2000 to May 2004     

President and Chief Executive Officer,      

Ascension Health      

John R. Hoke III  44  2005  9,779 .02 

Since March 2008—     

Vice President, Global Footwear, Converse, Inc.     

From July 2003 – March 2008     

Vice President, Global Footwear Design, NIKE, Inc.      

James R. Kackley  67  2003  38,904 .07 

Since May 2002—      

Director of various companies     
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Director and Executive Officer Information (continued) 

Directors Whose Terms Expire in 2011     

Mary Vermeer Andringa   59  1999  55,398  .10  

Since February 2003—      

President and Chief Executive Officer, Vermeer Corporation     

Lord Brian Griffiths of Fforestfach  67  1991  79,971 .14 

Since 1991—      

International Advisor, Goldman Sachs International Limited and House of Lords, 

United Kingdom  

    

J. Barry Griswell  60  2004  19,202  .03 

May 2008 to December 2008     

Chairman of the Board, Principal Financial Group, Inc. and Principal Life     

From June 2006 to May 2008     

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Principal Financial Group, Inc. and 

Principal Life 

    

From January 2002 to June 2006     

Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and President, Principal Financial Group, Inc. and 

Principal Life 

    

Mark S. Nemschoff 63 2009 2,041,666 3.66 

Since June 2009—     

Consultant to Herman Miller     

1973 to June 2009     

President and Chief Executive Officer, Nemschoff Chairs, Inc.     

Brian C. Walker  47  2003  429,936  .77 

Since July 2004—      

President and Chief Executive Officer, Herman Miller, Inc.  

March 2003 to July 2004  

President and Chief Operating Officer, Herman Miller, Inc.  

Directors Whose Terms Expire in 2010      

C. William Pollard  71 1985 62,298 (3) .11 

Since April 2002—      

Chairman Emeritus, The Service Master Company     

January 2005 to December 2006     

Chairman of the Board, Unum Provident Corporation     

March 2003 to January 2005     

Co-Chairman of the Board, Unum Provident Corporation      

Dorothy A. Terrell  64  1997  36,469  .07 

Since April 2003—      

Venture Partner, First Light Capital      

April 2005 to June 2007      

President and Chief Executive Officer, Initiative for a Competitive Inner City      

David O. Ulrich  55  2001  90,658  .16 

Since 1982—      

Professor, University of Michigan Business School      

(1) Shares shown for each director include the following number of shares which that director has the right to acquire beneficial ownership under stock options exercisable 

within 60 days: 31,037 shares for Mr. French; 32,460 shares for Mr. Kackley; 16,948 shares for Ms. Andringa; 25,605 shares for Lord Griffiths; 170,572 shares for Mr. Walker; 

33,573 shares for Mr. Pollard; 26,775 shares for Ms. Terrell; and 90,658 shares for Mr. Ulrich.  

(2) Percentages are calculated based upon shares outstanding plus shares that may be acquired  under stock options exercisable within 60 days.  

(3) Includes 1,612 shares owned of record and beneficially by Mr. Pollard’s wife. Mr. Pollard disclaims beneficial ownership of these shares. Additionally, 19,500 shares 

are owned by a family partnership. 

 
Mr. Kackley also is a director of PepsiAmericas, Inc. and Orion Energy Systems, Inc. Mr. Volkema is a director of Wolverine 

Worldwide, Inc. Mr. Griswell is a director of Principal Financial Group, Inc. and Principal Life and Mr. Walker is a director of Briggs & 
Stratton Corporation. Ms. Terrell also is a director of General Mills, Inc. There are no family relationships between or among our 
directors, nominees, or any of our executive officers.  
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Corporate Governance and Board Matters 

Board Governance Guidelines 

For many years, our Board of Directors has been committed to sound and effective corporate governance practices. These practices 
reflect the Board’s long-standing philosophy that a proper structure, appropriate policies and procedures, and reflective cultural factors 
provide the cornerstone to good governance. The Board documented those practices by adopting our Board Governance Guidelines. 
These Guidelines address director responsibilities, the composition of the Board, required Board meetings and materials, Board 
committee composition and responsibilities, and other corporate governance matters. Under our Guidelines, a majority of the members 
of our Board must qualify as independent under the listing standards of the National Association of Securities Dealers (NASD). Our 
Guidelines also require the Board to have, among other committees, an Audit Committee, Executive Compensation Committee, and a 
Nominating and Governance Committee, and that each member of those committees qualify as an independent director under the 
NASD listing standards. Our Board Governance Guidelines, as well as the charters of each of the foregoing committees, are available 
for review on our website at www.hermanmiller.com/governance.  

Code of Conduct  

Our Board has adopted a Code of Conduct that applies to all of our employees, officers, and directors. This code also serves as the 
code of ethics for our CEO and senior financial officers. This code is posted on our website at www.hermanmiller.com/code. Any 
changes to or waivers of the code must be approved by the Board of Directors and will be disclosed. There were no changes or waivers 
in fiscal year 2009.  

Determination of Independence of Board Members  

As required by our Board Governance Guidelines, our Board has determined that each of our directors, other than Messrr. Walker and 
Nemschoff, qualifies as an ―Independent Director,‖ as such term is defined in the NASD listing standards, and that none of those 
directors has a material relationship with Herman Miller. The Board’s determination was made as a result of its review of completed 
individual questionnaires addressing the nature and extent of each member’s relationship with the company and taking into 
consideration the definition of ―Independent Director‖ under the NASD rules. Our Board also determined that each member of the Audit 
Committee, Executive Compensation Committee, and Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee meets the independence 
requirements applicable to those committees as prescribed by the NASD listing standards, and, as to the Audit Committee, the 
applicable rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission.  

Meeting Attendance  

Each of our directors is expected to attend all meetings of the Board and applicable committee meetings. The annual meeting of 
shareholders is held via the internet and the directors are encouraged to join the webcast. Six of our directors did so for our 2008 
Annual Shareholders’ Meeting. During fiscal 2009, the Board held five meetings; each director attended at least 75 percent of the 
aggregate number of meetings of our Board and Board committees on which they served. Consistent with the requirements of our 
Guidelines, our Board met in executive sessions, without the presence of management, following the conclusion of each regularly 
scheduled Board meeting. These meetings were chaired by the Chairman, Mr. Volkema. In addition, following all of the regularly 
scheduled Board Meetings, the independent directors met separately. These meetings were chaired by the board’s lead director. Mr. 
Pollard currently serves as lead director.  

Communications with the Board  

Shareholders and other parties interested in communicating directly with one or more of our directors may do so by writing to us, c/o 
Corporate Secretary, 855 East Main Avenue, PO Box 302, Zeeland, Michigan 49464-0302. The Corporate Secretary will forward all 
relevant correspondence to the director or directors to whom the communication is directed.  

Director Nominations  

Our Bylaws contain certain procedural requirements applicable to shareholder nominations of directors. Shareholders may nominate a 
person to serve as a director if they provide written notice to us not earlier than the close of business on the 120th day and not later 
than the close of business on the 90th day prior to the first anniversary of the preceding year’s annual meeting of shareholders and, 
with respect to any special meeting of shareholders, not later than the close of business on the 10th day following the date on which the 
meeting is first publicly announced or, if there is no announcement, the 10th day following the date on which the notice of that meeting 
was first sent to our shareholders. The notice must include (1) the name and address of the shareholder providing notice and of the 
person or persons nominated, including information on the securities of the Company held by those individuals, including any derivative 
securities, the details of which are set forth in our Bylaws, (2) a representation that the shareholder is a current record holder and will 
continue to hold those shares through the date of the meeting and intends to attend the meeting in person or by proxy, (3) for each 
proposed nominee, (a) all information relating to that person that would be required to be disclosed in a proxy statement required to be 
made in connection with solicitations or proxies for election of directors in a contested election pursuant to Section 14 of the Securities 
and Exchange Act of 1934 (including that person’s written consent to be named in the proxy statement as a nominee and to serve as a  
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director if elected), and (b) a description of all direct and indirect compensation and other material monetary arrangements existing 
during the past three years, as well as any other material relationships between or among the shareholders (and beneficial owner, if 
any) and their respective affiliates and associates and the proposed nominee and his or her respective affiliates and associates, 
including all information required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 404 under Regulation S-K, and (4) the completed and signed 
questionnaire from each nominee with respect to the background and qualification of such person and the background of any other 
person or entity on whose behalf the nomination is being made. 

Our Nominating and Governance Committee is responsible for reviewing the qualifications and independence of the members of the 
Board. However, it has not established specific, minimum qualifications for director nominees. This committee does assess the 
experience and background of prospective candidates, including his or her independence. The committee’s charter authorizes the 
committee to consider all factors it considers appropriate, including the candidate’s experience and knowledge of our history and 
culture, as well as his or her experience and background in manufacturing, design, marketing, technology, finance, management 
structure and philosophy, including his or her experience as a senior executive officer of a public company. In light of these general 
requirements, our governance committee reviews the suitability of each person nominated to our Board. In the past, through the board 
evaluation process, the committee has determined whether there were any skills or experience that needed to be added to the Board 
and used that information to help establish criteria for Board member searches and candidate evaluation. Other than the procedural 
requirements described above, the Board has not adopted a policy with regard to the consideration of director candidates nominated by 
shareholders. All candidates, by whomever nominated, are evaluated in the same manner and under the same standards.  

The Nominating and Governance Committee has not received any recommended nominations from any of our shareholders in 
connection with our 2009 annual meeting. The nominees who are standing for election as directors at the 2009 annual meeting are 
incumbent directors and each was recommended by the committee.  
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Board Committees 

Our Board has four standing committees. Committee responsibilities are detailed in written charters. These charters are available on 
our Internet website at www.hermanmiller.com/charters. The committees are as follows:  

Executive Compensation Committee  

We have an Executive Compensation Committee comprised of J. Barry Griswell (chair), Paget L. Alves, Douglas D. French, and John 
R. Hoke III. The Executive Compensation Committee recommends to the Board the annual executive incentive plan and the annual 
remuneration of our Chief Executive Officer and President, approves the annual remuneration and executive incentive plan for the other 
executive officers, grants employee stock options and other equity awards, and acts as the administrative committee for our employee 
stock option and long-term incentive plans. The committee met four times during the last fiscal year. A description of the Committee’s 
processes and procedures for the consideration and determination of executive and director compensation is set forth under the caption 
―Compensation Disclosure and Analysis -The Executive Compensation Committee‖ below in this Proxy Statement.  

Nominating and Governance Committee  

We have a Nominating and Governance Committee comprised of Dorothy A. Terrell (chair), Lord Brian Griffiths of Fforestfach, and 
David O. Ulrich. The Nominating and Governance Committee develops and recommends to the Board governance standards and 
policies and board compensation including that of the chairman of the board. In addition, the committee identifies and recommends to 
the Board candidates for election to the Board. The committee met three times during the last fiscal year.  

Executive Committee  

We have an Executive Committee comprised of Michael A. Volkema (chair), J. Barry Griswell, James R. Kackley, C. William Pollard, 
and Dorothy A. Terrell. The Executive Committee acts from time to time on behalf of the Board in managing our business and affairs 
(except as limited by law or our Bylaws) and is delegated certain assignments and functions by the Board of Directors. The committee 
met ten times during the last fiscal year.  

Audit Committee  

We have an Audit Committee comprised of James R. Kackley (chair), Mary V. Andringa, and C. William Pollard. Mr. Kackley is qualified 
as and serves as the ―Audit Committee financial expert‖ within the meaning of the applicable SEC regulations. This Committee, 
composed entirely of independent directors under the applicable listing standards of the National Association of Securities Dealers 
(NASD), as well as the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, is responsible for overseeing management’s reporting 
practices and internal controls on behalf of the Board of Directors. The Committee is also responsible for appointing, approving the 
compensation of, and overseeing our independent registered public accounting firm. The Audit Committee met eight times during the 
past fiscal year. The March 2009 meeting included an annual review of the Committee’s written charter.  

Executive Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation 

No member of the Executive Compensation Committee is or has been an officer or employee of the company or had any relationship 
that is required to be disclosed as a transaction with a related party except as noted under Certain Relationships and Related Party 
Transactions. In addition, no current executive officer of the Company has ever served as a member of the Board of Directors or 
Compensation Committee of any other entity that has or has had one or more executive officers serving as a member of our Board of 
Directors or Compensation Committee.  
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The Audit Committee’s purpose is to oversee the accounting and financial reporting processes of the company, the audits of the 
company’s financial statements and management’s assessment of the company’s internal controls, the qualifications of the public 
accounting firm engaged as the company’s independent registered public accounting firm, and the performance of the company’s 
internal auditors and independent registered public accounting firm. The Committee’s function is more fully described in its charter, 
which the Board has adopted and is included as Appendix II to this Proxy Statement. The Committee reviews the charter on an annual 
basis. The Board annually reviews the NASDAQ listing standards definition of independence for audit committee members and has 
determined that each member of the Committee meets that standard. 

Management is responsible for the preparation, presentation, and integrity of the company’s financial statements, accounting and 
financial reporting principles, internal controls, and procedures designed to ensure compliance with accounting standards, applicable 
laws, and regulations. The company’s independent registered public accounting firm, Ernst & Young, LLP, is responsible for performing 
an independent audit of the consolidated financial statements and expressing an opinion on the conformity of those financial statements 
with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Ernst & Young, LLP is also responsible for providing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the company’s internal control over financial reporting.  

We have reviewed–and discussed with management and Ernst & Young, LLP–the company’s audited financial statements for the 
year ended May 30, 2009, management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the company’s internal controls over financial reporting, 
and Ernst & Young, LLP’s evaluation of the company’s internal controls over financial reporting. 

We have discussed with Ernst & Young, LLP the matters required to be discussed by the Statement on Auditing Standards No. 61, 
Communication with Audit Committees Concerning Independence, as amended, as adopted by the Public Company Accounting 
Oversight Board in Rule 3200T. 

We have received and reviewed the written disclosures and the letter from Ernst & Young, LLP required by the applicable 
requirements of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board regarding Ernst and Young LLP’s communications with the Audit 
Committee regarding independence and we have discussed with Ernst & Young, LLP their independence including a consideration of 
the compatibility of non-audit services with their independence.  

Based on the reviews and discussions referred to above, we recommended to the Board of Directors that the financial statements 
referred to above be included in the company’s Form 10-K Report for the year ended May 30, 2009, and we selected Ernst & Young 
LLP as the independent auditor for fiscal year 2010. The Board is recommending that shareholders ratify that selection at the annual 
meeting. 

 
James R. Kackley (chair) Mary VerMeer Andringa C. William Pollard 
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Compensation Discussion and Analysis 

Overview of Compensation Program 

The Executive Compensation Committee of the Board (the ―Committee‖) is responsible for establishing our executive compensation 
programs. The Committee insures that the compensation paid to the Company’s corporate officers is fair, reasonable, competitive and 
consistent with our compensation philosophy. 

The Company is required to provide information regarding our compensation policies and decisions for our CEO, CFO, the three 
other most highly compensated executive officers, and any person who would have been one of the three most highly compensated 
executive officers except for the fact that they were not employed by the company at year end. We refer to our CEO, CFO and the other 
highly compensated executive officers for whom disclosure is required collectively as our ―Named Executive Officers‖ or ―NEOs.‖ In 
fiscal year 2009 two individuals, Curt Pullen and Greg Bylsma, held the position of CFO and Kris Manos would have been one of the 
three most highly compensated executive officers except for the fact that she left the company during the fiscal year. Accordingly, our 
proxy statement includes 7 NEOs for 2009. This Compensation Discussion and Analysis is intended to provide information regarding, 
among other things, the overall objectives of our compensation program and each element of compensation provided to the NEOs.  

The Executive Compensation Committee 

The Committee is comprised of four directors, each qualifying as an independent director under NASDAQ’s listing requirements. The 
Board has determined that each member of the Committee also meets the definition of independence under Herman Miller’s corporate 
governance guidelines and further each member qualifies as a non−employee Director for purposes of Rule 16b−3 under the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934.  

The Committee’s primary functions are to oversee the compensation philosophy and strategy, to determine or recommend the 
compensation of company officers, including the NEOs, and to act as the Administrative Committee for the Company’s key executive 
compensation plans.  

The Committee is responsible for recommendations to the full Board with respect to all aspects of the annual compensation of the 
Company’s President and Chief Executive Officer. The Committee, based upon recommendations from our CEO, approves the annual 
compensation for all other corporate officers covered by Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 including the NEOs 
(Corporate Officers). Our President and Chief Executive Officer establishes the base salary of all other company executives. The 
Committee establishes the performance objectives for the Economic Value Added (EVA®) Incentive Cash Bonus Plan and the equity-
based compensation plans, which cover the President and Chief Executive Officer, Corporate Officers, and executive employees of the 
company.  

The Committee does not set compensation for the Board of Directors. The Nominating and Governance Committee is responsible for 
reviewing, and recommending to the Board of Directors, the amount and form of payment of director compensation. 

Compensation Philosophy and Objectives 

Our compensation philosophy, as formulated by management and endorsed by the Committee and by our Board of Directors, is to 
allow for an appropriate level of risk and a corresponding compensation reward within a range that bears a relationship to the 
competitive market, to the responsibilities of the employee and to the performance of the employee and Company.  Consistent with this 
philosophy, the key objectives of our executive compensation program are to: 

 Link a material portion of executives’ total annual compensation directly to the Company’s performance 

 Reinforce our values, build corporate community, and focus employees on common goals 

 Align the interests of executives with the long-term interests of shareholders  

 Attract, motivate, and retain executives of outstanding ability.  

The compensation program is intended to provide executives who are judged to perform their duties at a proficient level with 
compensation that approximates the market median compensation for such position based upon the data provided by Towers Perrin 
(as described later in the Benchmarking of Compensation section). The compensation program is also intended to have the portion of a 
Corporate Officer’s compensation determined by the Company’s performance increase as the responsibility and authority of the 
Corporate Officer increases. The Committee believes that the compensation program through the use of base salary, annual incentive 
cash bonus and long-term incentives operates in a manner consistent with these objectives and rewards performance that generates 
both consistent and long-term enhancement of shareholder value. The compensation program and its various elements are described 
in more detail in the section titled Elements of the Compensation Program.  
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External Consultants 

During fiscal year 2009, the Committee retained Pearl Meyers and Partners as independent compensation consultants to the 
Committee. Pearl Meyers was not permitted to provide other consulting services to the Company. The independent services which 
Pearl Meyers provided to the Committee included reviewing the elements of compensation of the President and Chief Executive Officer, 
and the Corporate Officers and comparing those elements to the Company’s compensation philosophy and objectives and to the 
market practices for such compensation. Pearl Meyers concluded that the compensation program established for those officers is 
consistent with the Company’s compensation philosophy and objectives including with respect to market practices.  

The Company retains Towers Perrin to provide benchmarking data and compensation consulting services to management and, from 
time to time, other specialized work as may be required, such as recommending Board of Directors’ compensation, conducting a review 
of retirement or other benefit programs, and establishing change in control provisions. With the approval of the Committee, Towers 
Perrin in 2009 did provide consulting services to the Company including consulting services concerning certain aspects of executive 
compensation.   

Benchmarking of Compensation 

To ensure that executive compensation is competitive in the marketplace, the Committee uses benchmarking data to compare our 
compensation programs to general industry pay practices. The Committee chooses to benchmark compensation levels against 
industrial companies in general as it minimizes the potential volatility of market pay data due to changes in database/survey 
participation or mergers/acquisitions; lessens the impact that a single entity can have on the overall data; provides a more consistent 
result; and better reflects the market in which the Company competes for executive talent. The Committee believes the competitive 
market for executive talent in which the Company operates is the general corporate talent market, not just the office furniture or West 
Michigan talent markets.  

Towers Perrin annually presents the Committee with benchmarking data, market practices and trends to provide appropriate context 
for the Committee’s deliberations. Our CEO makes recommendations to the Committee regarding the compensation package for each 
of the Corporate Officers (other than himself). The CEO’s recommendations are based on the Towers Perrin information, his evaluation 
of the individual’s performance, the Company’s performance and other factors. The Committee’s approval of the CEO’s 
recommendations as to the compensation of Corporate Officers (other than the CEO) is based upon the Committee’s review of the 
information from Towers Perrin relative to market pay, advice from Pearl Meyers and their own judgment, including their judgment on 
the relative performance of both the Company and its executives. Based upon these same factors relative to the CEO’s performance 
and the independent advice of Pearl Meyers, the Committee makes a recommendation to the full board for the CEO’s compensation. 
The Board of Directors determines the compensation of the CEO.  

Towers Perrin in 2009 used the following survey sources when analyzing the market competitiveness pay levels of Corporate 
Officers; Towers Perrin Executive Compensation Database, Watson Wyatt Top Management Compensation Report, and the Mercer 
Executive Database (collectively these are referred to as ―Published Survey Data‖). The Published Survey Data is used to determine 
competitiveness of base pay, while the Towers Perrin Executive Compensation Database is used to assess the competitiveness of 
bonus and long term incentive awards. Towers Perrin uses a regression analysis and aging to make allowances for time differences in 
the data and to align the data so that it is representative of companies having revenues equivalent to the operations managed by our 
individual NEOs. The entities within the comparator groups were not disclosed to the Company. 

Towers Perrin compares the base salary, target total cash and target total direct compensation of each NEO to the 25th, 50th 
(market median) and 75th percentile of the Published Survey Data or Towers Perrin Executive Compensation Database for a 
comparable benchmark position. Each of the compensation elements is explained in more detail below. Positions are benchmarked 
based upon comparability of responsibilities and the annual revenues of the operations managed.  

The Committee annually reviews executive pay tally sheets prepared by Towers Perrin. The tally sheets reflect the total 
compensation to the NEOs from all sources of compensation, including payments under severance or change in control obligations. 
The Committee uses the tally sheets to help it determine that the Company’s compensation program is consistent with market norms as 
well as with our compensation philosophy and the objectives referenced above.  

The Committee based upon its experience, the tally sheets, the benchmarking data, and advice from Pearl Meyers has determined 
that total compensation for each NEO in fiscal 2009 was appropriate, reasonable and consistent with the Company’s compensation 
philosophy and objectives as described above.  
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Elements of the Compensation Program 

Our Corporate Officer compensation package includes five distinct elements: 

1. Base Salary 
2. Annual Executive Incentive Cash Bonus 
3. Long-Term Equity Incentives 
4. Retirement and Health Benefits  
5. Perquisites and other executive compensation plans 

These five elements together form an executive’s total compensation package. The first two elements form an executive’s total cash 
compensation and the first three elements form an executive’s total direct compensation package. It is the Company’s goal to align the 
compensation packages with prevailing market rates. The alignment is accomplished primarily through adjustments to each Corporate 
Officer’s total direct compensation.  

Each element of total direct compensation is benchmarked to the prevailing market; however, in certain circumstances local practices 
related to long-term incentives and bonuses may be significantly different than those applicable to the Company as a whole. In those 
circumstances, the Company emphasizes consistency in the application of its long-term incentive programs and adjusts base and 
bonus so as to maintain total direct compensation in an amount that is consistent with the Company’s compensation philosophy. The 
compensation program is intended to provide executives who are judged to perform their duties at a proficient level with a total direct 
compensation package that approximates the market median compensation for such position based upon the data provided by Towers 
Perrin. However, because of the performance based nature of the Annual Executive Incentive Cash Bonus and the Long-Term Equity 
Incentives, actual compensation of the NEOs may vary from market rates. 

In the light of impact of the recession upon the Company’s performance, the Committee made several reductions to the 2009 and 
2010 compensation packages for NEOs, which are described below. The Committee has determined that the total direct compensation 
(base salary, target incentive cash bonus and target long-term incentive grant) for each NEO for 2009 and 2010 is within the 
benchmarked range, given the NEO’s performance, position and the Company’s performance. 

 

Base Salary 

The CEO evaluates each of the Corporate Officers annually and makes recommendations to the Committee for base salary. The base 
salary of the CEO is set by the Board of Directors. In general, but subject to individual circumstances, base salaries reflect market rates 
for comparative positions and the NEO’s level of proficiency and performance.  The base salary of NEOs assessed by the CEO and the 
Committee to be proficient is generally targeted at the market median of the Published Survey Data. The base compensation of NEOs 
with less experience in general would be below the market median and those judged to be performing at a level higher than proficient 
generally would be above the market median. The Committee in each circumstance uses its judgment and experience in setting the 
specific level of base salary relative to the general market median data. 

Base Salary in 2009  
Effective July 21, 2008 the Committee set NEOs’ base salary for fiscal 2009. The base salary of Brian Walker was set by the Board at 
$720,000.  This base salary was approved by the Board of Directors based upon Mr. Walker’s excellent performance in driving the 
operating results of the Company in the previous fiscal year. The base salary of Curt Pullen was set by the Committee at $350,000. 
This base salary reflects Mr. Pullen’s role as chief financial officer for the first part of the year and was maintained upon his subsequent 
appointment as President of North American Office and Learning Environments. The base salary for Beth Nickels, President Herman 
Miller Healthcare was set by the Committee at $277,000 and reflects the Committee’s determination that Ms. Nickels continues to 
perform well in her position. The base salary of Don Goeman, Executive Vice President Research/Design/Development was set at 
$255,000 and reflects the Committee’s determination that Mr. Goeman continues to develop in his role as head of research and 
development. The base salary of Andy Lock was set at $330,000 and reflects the Committee’s determination that Mr. Lock continues to 
meet all the requirements of his role. Greg Bylsma was appointed chief financial officer in February, 2009 and his base salary was set 
at $250,000 which reflects the fact that he is new in his position. Kristen Manos, then executive vice-president North American Office 
and Learning Environments, had her base salary set at $295,000. Ms. Manos subsequently left the company. 

In fiscal 2009 the Company and the economy in general endured a period of severe economic stress. As the depth of the recession 
became clear, the Committee and the Board approved a recommendation from the Executive Leadership Team to reduce the Base 
Salary (and Long Term Incentives) for most Corporate Officers including the NEOs described above. Effective January 1, 2009, the 
Committee and the Board with the support of management, temporarily reduced the compensation of the members of the Executive 
Leadership Team, including all of the NEOs. The base salary of the CEO was reduced by ten percent and the base salary for all other 
NEOs was reduced by five percent. The reductions were implemented consistent with the Committee’s philosophy that base salary 
should in part reflect the Company’s business performance. None of the changes in base salary reflected a change in the individual 
performance of the NEOs. After the change, the base salary of Brian Walker was $648,000, the base salary of Don Goeman was 
$242,250, the base salary of Andy Lock was $313,500, the base salary of Beth Nickels was $263,150, the base salary of Kristen Manos 
was $280,250 and the base salary of Curt Pullen was $332,500. Greg Bylsma was not an NEO at this time. 
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Effective March 9, 2009, the Company implemented a second temporary reduction to NEO base salary for most of the NEOs. After 
this reduction, the effective base salary of Brian Walker was $583,000, the effective base salary of Greg Bylsma was $225,000, the 
effective base salary of Don Goeman was $218,025, the effective base salary of Andy Lock was $283,000, the effective base salary of 
Beth Nickels remained at $263,150 and the effective base salary of Curt Pullen was $300,000. These reductions are in effect until at 
least December 31, 2009. Kristen Manos had left the Company by March 9, 2009 and her base salary was therefore not impacted.  

Also effective March 9, 2009 the Company implemented a reduced work schedule for most other salaried employees under which 
the employees worked nine days out of every ten weekdays. The Company implemented this work schedule in response to the 
economic downturn. The schedule results in an effective 10 percent reduction in pay for those employees impacted by the change. In 
connection with that reduced schedule, the Committee adopted at management’s recommendation a salary replacement incentive plan 
that would pay an incentive bonus to those employees exceeding certain operating income goals. Members of the Executive 
Leadership Team, including the NEOs, are not eligible to participate in this plan. 

Base Salary in 2010 

The Board and the Committee at this time have decided to leave the base salary of each NEO at its current level. This does not reflect 
the Board’s or Committee’s view as to the performance of any NEO or all NEOs as a group. This decision reflects the Company’s view 
that it needs to aggressively manage costs and that no general wage increases are being given to employees. Each of the base 
salaries set for the NEOs by the Committee were within the range established for their performance in position. 

Annual Executive Incentive Cash Bonus 

The annual executive incentive cash bonus for the Corporate Officers is paid pursuant to the Executive Incentive Cash Bonus Plan. 
This plan is intended to link annual incentive compensation to the creation of shareholder value. The Executive Incentive Cash Bonus 
Plan provides for the annual payment of a cash bonus (Incentive Cash Bonus) to selected executives based upon the performance of 
the Company during the fiscal year. The annual Incentive Cash Bonus is reported in the Summary Compensation Table under the 
column titled ―Non-equity Incentive Plan Compensation.‖ Payments are made following the end of the fiscal year.  

The measure of performance for the Incentive Cash Bonus is EVA. EVA in general terms is equal to the Company’s net operating 
income after subtraction of taxes and a charge for capital. The Committee believes that the utilization of the EVA measurement system, 
with its focus on maximizing the Company’s return on capital investments relative to its cost of capital, is an effective means of 
evaluating and rewarding executive performance. The cash bonus for NEOs in fiscal 2009 was based upon consolidated EVA for the 
entire Company.  

Under the Executive Incentive Cash Bonus Plan a participant is assigned an Incentive Cash Bonus target expressed as a 
percentage of his or her base pay, and the actual bonus payment is determined by comparing the actual improvement in EVA achieved 
by the Company against expected improvement. The expected improvement is the dollar amount of EVA improvement necessary to 
earn the targeted EVA bonus. The interval is the dollar amount of EVA change, either above or below the expected improvement, 
necessary to either double the EVA bonus amount or reduce it to zero.  

The actual Incentive Cash Bonus amount paid with respect to any year may range from 0 to 2 times of the target based upon the 
relative achievement of our EVA targets described below. The Committee sets the EVA targets for 3 year periods. The current 3 year 
period expires at the end of fiscal 2010. The Incentive Cash Bonus earned by participants is expected over time to equal 100% of his or 
her individual target. The target Incentive Cash Bonus payment for the NEOs generally is set at 100% of the market median bonus 
amount for comparable positions as shown in the Towers Perrin Executive Compensation Database, although as explained earlier base 
pay and bonus may be adjusted in order to maintain total compensation in an amount that is consistent with our compensation 
philosophy. The Committee believes that this use of Incentive Cash Bonus is consistent with the objective of making compensation for 
senior corporate officers more variable with the Company’s performance.   

The Committee is responsible for administering all elements of the Executive Incentive Cash Bonus Plan, except that those elements 
of the plan relating to the CEO (including target percentage payment) are approved by the Board. The Committee approves participants 
in the plan, the target payment percentage, the EVA improvement goals and the cost of capital. The Audit Committee at the end of each 
fiscal year approves the calculation of EVA results for the year and the EVA change from the previous year and the resulting bonus 
factor. The Committee certifies the use of the bonus factor for use in the Incentive Cash Bonus calculation. The EVA targets for 2009 
were an expected improvement of $9 million and an interval of $32 million and the same targets will be used for fiscal 2010. The cost of 
capital in 2009 was 9% and 2010 will be 10.5%. 

Incentive Cash Bonus for 2009 
The Incentive Cash Bonus payment target percentages for NEOs in fiscal 2009 ranged from 100% of base salary for the CEO to 60% of 
base salary for other NEOs. For fiscal 2009 participants in the Executive Incentive Cash Bonus Plan received no Incentive Cash Bonus 
payments as the Company’s EVA performance resulted in a negative 1.4343 multiple. 
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Incentive Cash Bonus for 2010 
For fiscal 2010, the payment target percentage for our CEO and NEOs remained unchanged from 2009. The Committee believes that 
the Incentive Cash Bonus target percentages reflect the appropriate market information provided by the Published Survey Data and are 
within the range for each NEO.  

Long−Term Incentives 

Our shareholders in 2004 approved our Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTI Plan). The plan authorizes the Company to issue stock, 
restricted stock, options, restricted stock units, and other forms of equity-based compensation (Long-Term Incentive Grants). The key 
objectives of making Long-Term Incentive Grants under the LTI Plan are:  

 To provide an appropriate level of equity reward to Corporate Officers that ties a meaningful part of their compensation to the long-
term returns generated for shareholders.  

 To provide an appropriate equity award to the next level of executives where market data would support their inclusion in an annual 
equity award plan. 

 To assist in the achievement of our share ownership requirements. 

 To attract, retain and reward key employees. 

We believe that a significant portion of executive pay should be aligned with long-term shareholder returns and that encouraging 
long-term strategic thinking and decision-making requires that executives have a significant stake in the long-term success of Herman 
Miller. The Committee is responsible for administering all elements of the LTI Plan and for making all Long-Term Incentive Grants under 
the LTI Plan, except that the Board approves the grants to the CEO.  

The LTI Plan allows for the issuance of options with a reload feature. A reload feature permits an option holder who exercises an 
option to receive an additional (reload) option in connection with the exercise of an existing option. The reload option has an exercise 
price equal to the price at which the existing option was exercised and represents a number of shares equal to the number of shares 
traded in to exercise the option and to pay the taxes on the exercise of the option. The reload feature exists in option grants made 
before fiscal year 2007. The Committee, beginning in fiscal year 2007, discontinued the practice of issuing new options with reload 
features.  

The Committee at its July meeting normally sets the LTI target grants for the current fiscal year, sets the types of grants to used, sets 
any performance criteria for the various types of grants and confirms that actual awards resulting from the previous year’s target grants. 
The Committee also determines whether the performance criteria applicable to any grant have been met. The types of grants are 
described below. 

LTI Grants for 2009 
In July 2008 the Committee met and established target values for LTI grants to be made with respect to fiscal year 2009 at an on 

target EVA performance. For NEOs the target value was expressed as a percentage of his or her base. The target grants were divided; 
one-third performance shares, one-third market priced stock options, and one-third to be selected by the participant between the two 
forms of equity awards. The Committee believes that allowing the NEOs to have some flexibility in modifying the mix between options 
and shares gives the NEOs a greater sense of deriving value from the awards. The actual number of performance shares that would 
eventually be issued with respect to this award would depend upon the Company’s future EVA performance. The characteristics of the 
performance shares are more fully described below. 

In July 2008 the Long-Term Incentive grants for July 2009 were set with an initial target value ranging from 225% of base salary for 
our CEO to 100% of base salary for Andrew Lock, Kristen Manos, and Curt Pullen, 90% for Don Goeman and 60% for Beth Nickels. 
The target value of the LTI grants did not change from the previous year. 

On January 1, 2009 in connection with the base salary reduction actions discussed above, the Board and Committee cut in half the 
target value of the LTI grants to be awarded in July 2009. The target value of the LTI grant for Brian Walker was reduced to 112.5% of 
base salary, the target value of the LTI grants to Andrew Lock, Kristen Manos, and Curt Pullen were reduced to 50% of base salary, the 
target value of the LTI grant to Don Goeman was reduced to 45% and the target value of the LTI grant to Beth Nickels was reduced to 
30%. Greg Bylsma became chief financial officer on February 10, 2009 and his initial target as CFO was set at 50% of his base salary. 

The Committee in March 2009 also approved a change in the structure of the awards to be granted in July 2009, replacing the 
performance shares with restricted stock units. Participants with the exception of the CEO will have the option with respect to the LTI 
grants awarded in July 2009 to receive one-third of their reduced award as restricted stock units, one-third as market priced stock 
options and will be allowed choice between the two instruments for the final third of their award. The CEO will receive 100% of his 
reduced grant in the form of market priced options. The Committee believes that allowing the NEOs other than the CEO to have some 
flexibility in choosing the mix between options and restricted stock units gives them a greater sense of deriving value from the awards. 
The Committee believes the exclusive use of options for the CEO’s reduced LTI grant in this difficult economic environment is an 
appropriate method to link the risk and reward associated with his LTI compensation to the Company’s performance. Unlike 
performance shares, in which the actual number of shares issued is dependent upon the company’s future performance, the number of 
restricted stock units is fixed at the date of grant. The change from performance shares to restricted stock units and the elimination of 
performance goals with respect to the RSUs reflects the Committee’s concern that in the current economic environment retention of  
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executive talent is essential and the Committee’s belief that in this environment the certainty of a time vesting RSU has more retentive 
power than performance based PSUs. 

The key features of the performance shares, restricted stock units and options utilized for 2009 are as follows: 
Performance Shares: The performance shares represent shares of the Company’s common stock that are to be issued to 

participants at the end of a future 3-year measurement period beginning in the year that performance shares are granted. The value of 
the performance shares is initially based upon a target grant to each participant. The actual payout of shares can vary between 0% and 
200% of target shares depending upon the cumulative average EVA performance over the three-year measurement period. There is no 
payment of dividends during the performance period and the shares are not actually issued until the end of the three-year measurement 
period. 

Restricted Stock Units: The restricted stock units (RSU) consist of units representing the right to receive shares of Herman Miller, Inc 
common stock.  These units reflect the fair market value of the common stock as of the date of grant and cliff vest after three years. If 
the employee leaves the company for any reason other than death, disability, retirement or termination of employee without cause, 
vesting of the units will stop and any unvested units will be forfeited.  RSUs convert into shares after they vest. Dividends accrue on the 
RSUs and are added to the total value of the units.  

Stock Options: The options will vest equally over three years, have a ten year life and are priced at fair market value on the date of 
grant. 

The following table discloses the actual elections made by the NEOs with respect to the awards received in July 2008 (fiscal 2009).  

Name Number of  

Options 

Option Exercise 

Price 

Performance Shares 

(at target performance) 

Brian Walker 123,008 $25.52 19,487 

Greg Bylsma 4,089 $25.52 648 

Curt Pullen 21,437 $25.52 3,396 

Don Goeman 17,987 $25.52 2,850 

Andy Lock 25,829 $25.52 4,092 

Kristen Manos 12,090 $25.52 7,661 

Beth Nickels 10,702 $25.52 3,391 

The following table discloses the actual elections made by the NEOs with respect to the awards received in July 2009 (fiscal 2010).  

Name Number of  

Options 

Option Exercise 

Price 

Restricted Stock 

Units 

Brian Walker    121,236 $15.74  

Greg Bylsma 7,984 $15.74 3,163 

Curt Pullen 12,993 $15.74 5,148 

Don Goeman 11,776 $15.74 2,333 

Andy Lock 16,849 $15.74 3,338 

Kristen Manos NA NA NA 

Beth Nickels 4,340 $15.74 3,439 
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Compensation Discussion and Analysis (continued) 

LTI Grants for 2010 
The Committee at its July 2009 meeting established values for the LTI grants for fiscal 2010. The values of the Long Term Incentive 
grants as a percentage of base salary remain unchanged from those set in January 2009. The Committee-approved target LTI grant 
awards will result in actual grants in July 2010 and the grants will again consist of options and restricted stock units. The values as a 
percent of base salary for the Long-Term Incentive Grants (including options and restricted stock units) for fiscal 2010 were 112.5% for 
Brian Walker, 50% for Curt Pullen, Andy Lock, and Greg Bylsma, 45% for Don Goeman and 30% for Beth Nickels. The value of these 
grants reflects the impact of the economic downturn on the Company. The options and restricted stock units granted in July 2010 will 
have the same characteristics as those granted in 2009, and recipients will again receive one-third of the awards in the form of options, 
one-third in the form of restricted stock units and one-third to be selected by each participant between these two means, except for the 
CEO.  The CEO will receive 100% of his grant in the form of market priced options. 

Practices Concerning Grant Dates 
Grants under the LTI Plan are typically made in connection with the Board of Directors meeting in July of each year. The number of 
restricted stock units is determined using the closing price for the Company’s common stock on the date of grant, and the number of 
options is based on the Black-Scholes valuation method described in the footnote to the Long-Term Incentive Grants table. The 
Company does not attempt to influence the amount of executive compensation by timing equity grants in connection with the disclosure 
of material information to the public. The Company’s year end financial information is normally disclosed through a press release in the 
third week of June.  The backdating of equity award dates is specifically prohibited under policies adopted by the Board of Directors. 

Retirement and Health Plans 

Health Plans 
The Company maintains a broad base of health insurance plans available to all full-time and most part-time employees. The NEOs 
participate in such health insurance plans on the same terms as all other employees within their respective geographic region. 

Retirement Plans 
The Company maintains broad based retirement plans available for all non-union employees in the United States. Our employees in 
England and who are union members are covered by separate defined benefit retirement plans. Our retirement plans are designed to 
provide an appropriate level of replacement income upon retirement. The benefits available to NEOs are the same as available to other 
non-executive employees in their respective geographic region subject to limitations provided by law or regulation. The NEOs 
participate in the full range of benefits and are covered by the same plans (with exceptions noted) on the same terms as provided to all 
U.S. employees. 

The retirement plans include: 

 The Herman Miller, Inc. Retirement Income Plan 

 The Herman Miller, Inc. Profit Sharing and 401(k) Plan 

 The Herman Miller Limited Retirement Benefits Plan  

Retirement Income Plan: The Herman Miller, Inc. Retirement Income Plan (Cash Balance Plan) is what is known as a hybrid plan. 
Under the Plan the Company accrues a benefit for the participant which is expressed as a fixed dollar amount (cash balance). The 
Company credits each employee’s account with an amount equal to 4% of his or her salary, up to the maximum salary level permitted 
by the Internal Revenue Service (currently $230,000). Each account is also credited with hypothetical interest return pegged to a 
predetermined benchmark (for fiscal 2009 interest was credited at 4.44%). 

Profit Sharing Plan:  The Herman Miller, Inc. Profit Sharing and 401(k) Plan consists of two parts. The Company annually makes a 
contribution to the profit sharing portion based upon the Company’s EVA results for the year that may range from 0% to 6% of base 
salaries, with a target contribution of 3% of base salary.  Based upon our EVA results, the actual percentage contributed for fiscal year 
2009 was 0%. The amount of salary included in the base for the calculation is limited to the maximum salary level permitted by the IRS. 
The 401(k) portion of the plan is a salary deferral plan. Each employee may elect to defer up to the maximum amount permitted.  
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The Company normally matches up to half of the amount deferred by the employee up to the first 6% of the employee’s compensation 
contributed. Beginning March 9, 2009 the Company suspended matching payments to the plan. 

Herman Miller Limited Retirement Plan:  Herman Miller Limited, the Company’s wholly owned UK subsidiary maintains an average 
final pay pension plan for all of its retirees. Under the plan each employee is entitled to a normal basic pension equal to an equivalent of 
1/70th of final pensionable salary for each complete year of service. The pension is subject to a maximum of 40/70ths of final 
pensionable salary. Effective June 1, 2009 the Company has received the consent of the participants in the UK plan to suspend further 
benefit accruals under the plan. 
 
Perquisites and Other Executive Compensation Plans 

Perquisites 
The Company is conservative in its approach to executive perquisite benefits. Company compensation practices in general do not 
provide for personal perquisites and the Committee has adopted a policy which specifically restricts the use of corporate aircraft for 
non-business purposes. We provide a limited number of perquisites to Corporate Officers. The Company normally provides each NEO 
with a specified dollar amount which can be used for a range of perquisites. These perquisites include financial planning, life insurance, 
spousal travel and other benefits. In 2009 the dollar amount of these benefits used was approximately $20,000 for the CEO and 
between $6,000 and $18,000 for each of the other NEOs. 

The Company does not normally provide non-business-related use of chartered aircraft for Corporate Officers and none was 
provided in 2009.  

The Company in 2009 did provide the NEOs with the opportunity to purchase certain additional disability insurance and to obtain 
comprehensive physicals paid for by the Company. 

Deferred Compensation Plans 
In 2008 the Committee discontinued use of the existing Non-qualified Deferred Compensation Plan and approved the Herman Miller, 
Inc. Executive Equalization Retirement Plan. 

The Non-qualified Deferred Compensation Plan allowed selected employees to defer part or all of their Executive Incentive Cash 
Bonus payment each year. The Company matched any such deferral, up to 50% of the incentive cash bonus payment. The matching 
payment vests over 3 years and vesting is dependent upon the executive remaining employed with the Company. Amounts deferred 
are converted into units having the same value as the Company’s stock and are credited with amounts at the same rate as the 
Company’s dividend on its common stock. Units are converted into shares of the Company’s common stock at the time of distribution. 
While the Non-qualified Deferred Compensation Plan was not used in 2008, Company match contributions with respect to amounts 
deferred during 2007 and credited in 2008 appear on the 2008 Summary Compensation Table. The vesting on the Company matching 
contribution is shown on the Perquisites and Other Compensation table. 

The Herman Miller, Inc. Executive Equalization Retirement Plan was approved by the Committee and the Board in 2008. The plan is 
a supplemental deferred compensation plan and is available for salary deferrals beginning in January 2008. The plan is available to 
highly compensated employees who are selected for participation by the Committee. All of the NEOs are currently able to participate. 
The plan allows participants to defer up to 50% of their base salary and 100% of their Incentive Cash Bonus. Company contributions to 
the plan ―mirror‖ the amounts the Company would have contributed to the Herman Miller Retirement Income Plan and the Herman 
Miller Profit Sharing and 401(K) Plan had the employee’s compensation not been above the statutory ceiling (currently $230,000). 
Investment options under this plan are the same as those available under the 401(k) Plan except for Company stock which is not an 
investment option under this plan. Company matching contributions for amounts deferred in 2008 were made after year end and appear 
on the 2009 Summary Compensation Table under Perquisites and Other Compensation. For that part of fiscal year 2009 before March 
9, 2009, the Company’s contribution was equal to 50% of the participant’s retirement savings contributions until the matching 
contribution for the NEO brought the Company’s contribution credited to the Executive Equalization Retirement Plan, the Herman Miller 
Retirement Income Plan and the Herman Miller Profit Sharing and 401(k) Plan up to the amount necessary to accomplish the 
―mirroring.‖  On March 9, 2009 the Company in conjunction with the suspension of matching contributions to the Profit Sharing and 
401(k) Plan also suspended the ―mirroring‖ profit sharing and 401(k) contributions under the Executive Equalization Plan. Contributions 
for amounts deferred in fiscal 2009 will be made after the end of the fiscal year and will appear in the 2010 Summary Compensation 
Table under Perquisites and Other Compensation. 

Executive Long Term Disability Plan 
The plan covers 60% of the rolling two year average of executive incentive compensation.  Executives are eligible to participate when 
they have earned over $6,000 in annual executive incentive compensation.  This benefit continues as long as the executive is disabled 
until age 65.  The monthly benefit is capped at $10,000.  The executive can maintain the plan by paying Unum, the provider, directly 
when they leave the Company. 
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Deductibility of Compensation 

The income tax laws of the United States limit the amount the Company may deduct for compensation paid to the company’s CEO, 
CFO and the other three most highly paid executives. Under IRS certain guidelines compensation that qualifies as ―performance based‖ 
is not subject to this limit. All compensation paid by the Company during fiscal 2009 met the requirements for deductibility.  

Stock Ownership Guidelines  

The Committee believes that significant stock ownership by top management is of critical importance to the ongoing success of the 
Company, as it helps link the interests of senior management and company shareholders. Stock ownership requirements apply to the 
nine members of the Executive Leadership Team for the Company. Under these requirements, the President and Chief Executive 
Officer must own shares of company stock with an aggregate market value of at least six (6) times base salary, Corporate Officers 
having a Long-Term Incentive Plan target equal to 100% of base salary must own shares of Company stock with an aggregate market 
value of four (4) times their respective base salaries and  all other direct reports to the CEO must own shares with an aggregate market 
value of three (3) times their respective base salaries.  

All participants must achieve their ownership requirement over a five-year period from the date of their appointment to the position. 
The Committee reviews the NEOs’ progress toward these goals annually during the Company’s fourth quarter. Ownership for the 
purpose of the guidelines is defined to include shares owned by the executives, as well as shares held in the Company’s profit sharing 
and 401k plan, restricted stock and restricted stock units (both vested and unvested), and deferred accounts for his or her benefit. Stock 
options and unissued performance shares are not included in the calculation of an executive’s total ownership. If a participant fails to 
meet the ownership guidelines within the specified period half of his or her Incentive Cash Bonus will be paid in the form of Company 
stock until the guideline is met. 

At its annual review the Committee determined that in the light of current economic circumstances it would be difficult for the NEOs to 
remain in compliance with the ownership guidelines.  

Impact of Prior Compensation in Setting Elements of Compensation 

Prior compensation of the NEOs does not normally impact how the Committee sets the current elements of compensation. The 
Committee believes the current competitive environment is more relevant in determining an NEO’s current total level of compensation. 
As described earlier the Committee uses tally sheets to track all of the elements of current compensation to enable the Committee to 
determine whether the compensation which the NEO is currently receiving is consistent with market practices. The Committee, 
however, has the ability to consider the impact of any special equity grants upon the value of future grants made to Corporate Officers 
under the LTI plan 

Impact of Restatements Retroactively Impacting Financial Goals 

The Company has not had any material restatement of prior financial results. If such restatements were to occur, the Committee would 
review the matter and determine what, if any, adjustment to current compensation might be appropriate. The LTI plan and the Executive 
Incentive Bonus Plan give the Committee the right to ―claw back‖ Incentive Cash Bonus payments and LTI grants in the event of certain 
restatements. 

Post−Employment Compensation 

Change in control and discharge for other than cause can result in additional compensation being paid to or for certain NEOs. In 
addition, as described above, certain of the Long-Term Incentive Bonus payments continue if the NEO leaves employment as the result 
of death, disability or retirement. 

Termination and Retention Payments 

All of the NEOs are ―at will‖ employees. This means that they can be discharged at any time and for no reason. The Company has 
agreed to pay Corporate Officers and other executives severance if they are terminated for reasons other than malfeasance or 
voluntary separation. For 2009 the severance payments for each NEO would have been equal to 18 months of base salary. The 
Committee’s determination as to the amount of severance payments is the result of benchmarking our practices to the Published 
Survey Data.  In addition, the Company maintains the health insurance on these employees during the salary continuation period. In 
exchange for such payments the employee provides the Company with a mutual release of all claims and agrees not to work for a 
competitor or solicit the Company’s employees during the salary continuation period. 



24 2009 Proxy Statement 

Compensation Discussion and Analysis (continued) 

Change in Control Agreements 

Each NEO, other than Greg Bylsma, is party to a change in control agreement with the Company. In 2006 the Committee retained 
Frederic W. Cook to review the existing change in control agreements and to advise it on whether the continued use of such 
agreements was appropriate and if so whether the agreements were consistent with competitive practices. Frederic W. Cook advised 
the Committee that the continued use of change in control agreements is appropriate and that the amounts payable under the 
agreements were consistent with market practice. In 2006 the Company entered into new change in control agreements with the NEOs 
and certain other Corporate Officers and executives. The new form of change in control agreement is found under Exhibit 10 in the 
Company’s consolidated  financial statements for the fiscal year ended June 2, 2007, included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

The Committee believes that the use of change in control agreements is appropriate as they help insure a continuity of management 
during a threatened take-over and help insure that management remains focused on completing a transaction that is likely to maximize 
shareholder value. Potential payments under the change in control agreements are included in the tally sheets provided annually to the 
Committee. 

The narrative and footnotes to the tables entitled Potential Payments upon Termination in Connection with a Change in Control 
describe the change in control payments in greater detail.  



25 Herman Miller, Inc., and Subsidiaries 

Executive Compensation Committee Report 

The Committee has reviewed and discussed the Compensation Discussion and Analysis required by Item 402(b) of Regulation S-K with 
management and, based on such review and discussions, the Committee recommended to the Board that the Compensation 
Discussion and Analysis be included in the Proxy Statement. 

J. Barry Griswell (chair)    Paget L. Alves    Douglas D. French    John R. Hoke III
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Summary Compensation Table 

The summary compensation table below shows the compensation for the Named Executive Officers ―NEO‖ for the fiscal year ended 
May 30, 2009 (―Fiscal 2009‖), May 31, 2008 (―Fiscal 2008‖) and June 2, 2007 (―Fiscal 2007‖). The details of the Company’s executive 
compensation programs are found in the CD&A. 
 
Name and Principal Position 

 

 

Year Salary 

($) 

Bonus 

($) 

Stock 

Awards 

($)(1) 

Option 

Awards 

($)(1) 

Non-Equity 

Incentive 

Plan 

Compensation 

($)(2) 

Change in 

Pension 

Value and 

Nonqualified 

Deferred 

Compensation 

Earnings 

($)(3) 

All Other 

Compensation 

($)(4) 

Total 

($) 

Brian C. Walker 2009 668,685  400,528 566,076  13,578 184,649 1,833,516 

President and Chief Executive Officer 2008 664,615  776,875 480,440 908,349 12,964 111,355 2,954,598 

 2007 625,961  651,052 358,045 829,981 11,957 105,433 2,582,429 

Gregory J. Bylsma(5) 2009 201,542  (3,627) 25,765  8,683 7,605 239,968 

Chief Financial Officer          

Curtis S. Pullen(5) 

EVP and President, North American Office and        

Learning Environments 

2009 

2008 

2007 

325,029 

262,500 

191,975  

 4,052 

29,172 

23,216 

78,103 

36,484 

20,691 

 

200,427 

180,012 

12,882 

12,988 

11,189 

47,094 

23,393 

25,230 

467,160 

564,964 

452,313 

Donald D. Goeman(6) 2009 243,748  5,210 97,598  17,654 35,539 399,749 

EVP Research, Design and Development          

Andrew J. Lock  2009 313,956  (27,486) 128,853   49,157 464,480 

Chief Administration Officer 2008 313,654  158,900 95,121 257,489 135,837 38,247 999,248 

 2007 302,981  119,610 61,771 283,558 8,970 40,818 817,708 

Kristen L. Manos(7) 2009 244,427  27,172 15,373  9,480 191,934 488,386 

EVP North American Office and Learning 

Environments 

         

Elizabeth A. Nickels 2009 270,358  41,929 151,090  10,366 62,663 536,406 

President, Herman Miller for Healthcare 2008 285,385  94,471 157,589 237,098 10,280 152,965 937,788 

 2007 349,327  128,038 170,390 327,377 8,869 169,917 1,153,918 
 

(1) Amounts set forth in the stock award and option award columns represent the amounts recognized as compensation expense in the reported year for financial 

reporting purposes with respect to stock awards and options in accordance with FAS 123R except that the amounts do not reflect a reduction for estimated forfeitures. 

The assumptions used in calculating these amounts are set forth in Note 14, in the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended May 30, 2009, 

included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K.  

(2) Reflects bonus payments under our Annual Executive Incentive Cash Bonus Plan earned by the NEOs during the reported year and paid in the following fiscal year. 

 Includes any amounts that the NEO deferred under the Company’s Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan 

(3) Amounts represent the aggregate change in the actuarial present value of the accumulated benefits under the Company’s Retirement Plans.  Mr. Lock’s change in the Herman 

Miller, Inc. Retirement Income Plan was $10,431 and his change in the Herman Miller, UK Pension Plan was ($42,809). 

(4) The amounts in this column for all other compensation are described in the table on the following page.  

(5) On February 9, 2009, Mr. Bylsma succeeded Mr. Pullen as our CFO, at which time Mr. Pullen assumed the role of Executive Vice President and President of North American Office 
and Learning Environments. 

(6) Fiscal year 2009 is the first year Mr. Goeman is a named executive officer. 
(7) As of February 10, 2009 Ms. Manos was no longer with the company. 
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 Bundled

Benefits(a)
Severance(b) Dividends

on

restricted

stock

Company

Sponsored

Physicals

and

Healthcare

Retirement

Plan

Contribution(c)

Long-term 

Disability 

Insurance

Vesting of

Registrants

contributions

to Deferred

Compensation

Plan

Nonqualified 

Deferred 

Compensation 

Contribution(d)

Total

Other

Compensation

Brian C. Walker 18,774 35,200 6,900 2,809 11,605 109,361 184,649

Gregory J. Bylsma 4,987 717 1,901 7,605

Curtis S. Pullen 18,225 3,949 6,900 2,054 15,966 47,094

Donald D. Goeman 14,559 7,108 3,996 9,876 35,539

Andrew J. Lock 5,730 3,640 3,549 36,238 49,157

Kristen L. Manos 14,681 134,075 6,900 2,630 13,068 20,580 191,934

Elizabeth A. Nickels 12,130 125 6,900 2,684 16,989 23,835 62,663
 

(a) Bundled Benefits includes accounting fees, cell phone fees, club dues, family travel, financial planning, home office expenses, vehicle expenses, life insurance, 

and tax gross-ups. 

(b) Represents severance paid to Ms. Manos in connection with her termination of employment with the Company. 

(c) Amounts represent contributions by us pursuant to our defined contribution retirement plans.  

(d) Amounts represent the Company’s contribution to the Herman Miller, Inc. Executive Equalization Retirement Plan. 
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The Grant of Plan-Based Awards table below sets forth information on equity awards granted by the Company to the NEOs during fiscal 
2009 under the Long Term Incentive Plan (LTI Plan) and the possible payouts to the NEOs under the Executive Incentive Cash Bonus 
Plan (Annual Cash Bonus Plan) for fiscal 2009. The CD&A provides further details of grants under the LTI Plan, as well as the 
performance criteria under the Annual Cash Bonus Plan.  
 
Name  Grant 

 Date 

Estimated Possible Payouts Under 

Non-Equity Incentive Plan Awards(1) 

 Estimated Future Payouts 

Under Equity Incentive Plan Awards(2) 

All Other Stock 

Awards: 

Number 

of Shares of 

Stock 

of Units (#)  

All Other 

Option 

Awards: 

Number of 

Securities 

Underlying 

Options 

(#)(3)  

Exercise 

or 

Base Price 

of Option 

Awards 

($/Sh)(4) 

Grant Date 

Fair Value 

of Stock 

and 

Option 

Awards 

($)(5) 

Threshold 

($) 

Target 

($) 

Maximum 

($) 

 Threshold 

(#) 

Target 

(#) 

Maximum 

(#) 

Brian C. Walker 7/21/08     0 19,487 38,974    497,308 

 7/21/08         123,008 25.52 994,618 

  0 672,023 1,344,046         

Gregory J. Bylsma 7/21/08     0 648 1,296    16,537 

 7/21/08         4,089 25.52 33,063 

  0 119,488 238,976         

Curtis S. Pullen 7/21/08     0 3,396 6,792    86,666 

 7/21/08         21,437 25.52 173,335 

  0 194,458 388,916         

Donald D. Goeman 7/21/08     0 2,850 5,700    72,732 

 7/21/08         17,987 25.52 145,439 

  0 146,871 293,742         

Andrew J. Lock 7/21/08     0 4,092 8,185    104,428 

 7/21/08         25,829 25.52 208,848 

  0 189,131 378,262         

Kristen L. Manos 7/21/08     0 7,661 15,322    43,442 

 7/21/08         12,090 25.52 97,757 

             

Elizabeth A. Nickels 7/21/08     0 3,391 6,782    86,538 

 7/21/08         10,702 25.52 86,534 

  0 162,373 324,746         
 

(1) Under the Annual Cash Bonus Plan executives can earn incentive compensation based on the achievement of certain company performance goals. 

The actual Cash Bonus amount paid with respect to any year may range from 0 to 2 times of the target based upon the relative achievement of our EVA targets.  

(2)  The performance share units represent shares of the Company’s common stock and are to be issued to participants at the end of a future 3-year measurement period 

beginning in the year that performance shares are granted. The value of the performance shares is initially based upon a target grant to each participant. 

The actual payout of shares can vary between 0% and 200% of target shares depending upon the cumulative average EVA performance over the three-year measurement period. 

(3) Each option has a term of ten years and vests pro rata over three years.  

(4) Stock options are awarded at an option price not less than the market value of the Company’s common stock at the grant date in accordance with the LTI Plan.  

(5) Aggregate grant date values are computed in accordance with FAS 123R.  
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Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End 

The Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End table below shows the option awards and stock awards that were outstanding as of 
May 30, 2009. The table shows both exercisable and unexercisable options. The table also shows share units and equity plan awards 
that have not vested.  

   Option 

Awards 

   Stock Awards   

Name Grant 

Date 

Number of 

Securities 

Underlying 

Unexercised 

Options (#)(1) 

Exercisable 

Number of 

Securities 

Underlying 

Unexercised 

Options (#)(1) 

Unexercisable 

Option 

Exercise 

Price 

($) 

Option 

Expiration 

Date 

Number of 

Shares or 

Units of Stock 

That Have 

Not Vested 

(#)(2) 

Market 

Value of 

Shares or 

Units of 

Stock That 

Have Not 

Vested ($)(3) 

Equity 

Incentive 

Plan Awards: 

Number of 

Unearned 

Shares, Units 

or Other 

Rights That 

Have Not 

Vested (#) 

Equity 

Incentive 

Plan Awards 

Market or 

Payout Value 

of Unearned 

Shares, Units 

or Other 

Rights That 

Have Not 

Vested ($)(3)(4) 

Brian C. Walker 07/27/04     100,000 1,423,000   

 06/27/05 18,709  33.517 06/27/15 6,423 91,399   

 07/24/06 13,376 6,690 30.536 07/24/16 8,451 120,258   

 10/30/06 8,589  34.510 07/05/10     

 10/30/06 3,616  34.510 06/29/11     

 10/30/06 33,430  34.510 04/23/12     

 07/24/07 22,582 45,168 31.840 07/24/17   21,586 307,169 

 07/21/08  123,008 25.520 07/21/18   19,487 277,300 

Gregory J. Bylsma 04/23/01 2,500  25.100 04/23/11     

 

06/29/01 431  24.200 06/29/11     

04/23/02 2,800  25.000 04/23/12     

05/19/04 1,400  23.870 05/19/14     

06/27/05 2,495   33.517 06/27/15 173 2,462   

07/24/06 1,784 892 30.536 07/24/16 188 2,675   

07/24/07 908 1,816 31.840 07/24/17   620 8,823 

07/21/08  4,089 25.520 07/21/18   648 9,221 

Curtis S. Pullen 06/27/05 4,178  33.517 06/27/15 1,434 20,406   

 

07/24/06 2,988 1,493 30.536 07/24/16 1,887 26,852   

07/24/07 1,643 3,286 31.840 07/24/17   1,570 22,341 

07/21/08  21,437 25.520 07/21/18   3,396 48,325 

Donald D. Goeman 07/02/99 3,150  23.313 07/02/09     

 

07/05/00 2,800  27.359 07/05/10     

04/23/01 20,000  25.100 04/23/11     

 06/29/01 2,000  24.200 06/29/11     

 04/23/02 8,000  25.000 04/23/12     

 05/19/04 4,000  23.870 05/19/14     

 06/27/05 7,796  33.517 06/27/15 2,676 38,079   

 07/24/06 5,574 2,787 30.536 07/24/16 3,521 50,104   

 07/24/07 3,337 6,674 31.840 07/24/17   3,189 45,379 

 07/21/08  17,987 25.520 07/21/18   2,850 40,556 

Andrew J. Lock 06/27/05 12,473  33.517 06/27/15 4,282 60,933   

 07/24/06 8,918 4,460 30.536 07/24/16 5,633 80,158   

 07/24/07 3,313 6,624 31.840 07/24/17   6,332 90,104 

 07/21/08  25,829 25.520 07/21/18   4,092 58,229 

Kristen L. Manos 07/24/07       1,437 20,449 

 07/21/08       1,702 24,219 
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Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End (continued) 

Elizabeth A. Nickels 07/05/00 9,800  27.359 07/05/10     

 04/25/01 3,115  25.230 02/07/10     

 04/23/02 25,313  25.000 04/23/12     

 06/30/03 25,000  20.060 06/30/13     

 07/20/04 17,931  26.950 02/07/10     

 06/27/05 17,150  33.517 06/27/15 5,888 83,786   

 10/18/05 22,640  27.990 02/07/10     

 10/18/05 2,788  27.990 06/29/11     

 10/18/05 2,486  27.990 04/23/12     

 07/24/06 12,262 6,132 30.536 07/24/16 7,747 110,240   

 07/24/07 7,648 15,296 31.840 07/24/17   3,655 52,011 

 07/21/08  10,702 25.520 07/21/18   3,391 48,254 
 

(1) Options granted on 07/21/08, 07/24/07, 07/24/06 and 06/27/05 vest in three equal annual installments beginning on the first anniversary of the grant date. Options granted 

prior to 06/27/05 or in connection with a reload vest 100 percent on the one year anniversary date of the award except for those granted on 04/23/02 which vest ratably 

over two years and those granted on 04/23/01 which vest at the end of two years.  Options granted on 10/30/06, 10/18/05, 7/20/04 and 4/25/01 reflect options granted pursuant 

to stock option reload rights contained in certain option agreements. The rights permit employees to receive new options if an employee exercises options by trading in 

shares. Reload options allow for the purchase of shares of Company stock equal to the number of shares that were exchanged upon exercise of the underlying option. 

The reload options retain the expiration date of the original option, but the exercise price equals the fair market value of the company’s stock on the date of grant of the reload 

option. 

(2) All awards vest 100 percent on the five year anniversary date of the award. 

(3) Assumes a stock price of $14.23 per share, which was the closing price of a share of Common Stock on the last trading day of the fiscal year, May 30, 2009.  

(4) The performance share units represent shares of the Company’s common stock and are to be issued to participants at the end of a future 3-year measurement period 

beginning in the year that performance shares are granted. The value of the performance shares is initially based upon a target grant to each participant. 

The actual payout of shares can vary between 0% and 200% of target shares depending upon the cumulative average EVA performance over the three-year measurement period. 

Option Exercises and Stock Vested 

This table provides information on the number and value of (1) options exercised in Fiscal 2009 (of which there were none), and (2) the 
vesting of restricted stock (on an aggregate basis). 
 
Name Option Awards  Stock Awards 

 Number of 

Shares 

Acquired on 

Exercise (#) 

Value 

Realized 

on Exercise 

($) 

 Number of 

Shares 

Acquired on 

Vesting (#) 

Value Realized 

on Vesting 

($) 

Brian C. Walker      

Gregory J. Bylsma      

Curtis S. Pullen      

Donald D. Goeman      

Andrew J. Lock      

Kristen L. Manos    5,772 67,069 

Elizabeth A. Nickels      
 

.  
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Pension Benefits 

The Pension Benefit table which is below provides certain information on the retirement benefits available under each retirement plan to 
each NEO at the end of fiscal 2009. The retirement plans are described in the CD&A.  
 
Name  Plan Name  Number of Years 

Credited Service (#) 

Present Value of 

Accumulated Benefit ($)  

Payments During Last 

Fiscal Year ($)  

Brian C. Walker  Herman Miller, Inc. Retirement Income Plan 20 130,212  

Gregory J. Bylsma Herman Miller, Inc. Retirement Income Plan 8 44,227  

Curtis S. Pullen Herman Miller, Inc. Retirement Income Plan 18 112,749  

Donald D. Goeman  Herman Miller, Inc. Retirement Income Plan 29 198,894  

Andrew J. Lock(1) 

 

Herman Miller, Inc. Retirement Income Plan 

Herman Miller, UK Pension Plan 

7 

12 

59,164 

495,597  

Kristen L. Manos Herman Miller, Inc. Retirement Income Plan 6 50,046  

Elizabeth A. Nickels  Herman Miller, Inc. Retirement Income Plan 9 71,011  

(1) Mr. Lock was covered from 1990-2002 under the UK Pension Plan and from 2002-2009 under the Retirement Income Plan.  

Nonqualified Deferred Compensation  

The Nonqualified Deferred Compensation table below provides certain information relating to our two defined contribution plans that 
provides for the deferral of compensation on a basis that is not tax-qualified.  
 
Name  Executive Contributions 

in Last Fiscal Year ($)(1)  

Registrant Contributions 

in Last Fiscal Year ($)(2) 

Aggregate Earnings in 

Last Fiscal Year ($)(3) 

Aggregate Withdrawals/ 

Distributions ($) 

Aggregate Balance at 

Last Fiscal Year End ($) 

Brian C. Walker  126,430 109,361 (574,473) (117,998) 883,415 

Gregory J. Bylsma 3,983 1,901 44  7,405 

Curtis S. Pullen 27,443 15,966 (23,342)  78,525 

Donald D. Goeman  9,876 899  10,775 

Andrew J. Lock 34,363 36,238 289  79,228 

Kristen L. Manos 55,036 20,580 (169,213)  294,474 

Elizabeth A. Nickels  118,549 23,835 (256,187)  443,085 
 

(1) Amounts in this column represent the deferral of base salary earned in fiscal 2009.  The amounts identified in this column are also reported in the Summary Compensation Table 

under Salary for Fiscal 2009. 

(2) Amounts in this column represent the Company’s contribution.  

(3) Amounts reflect increases (decreases) in value of the employees account during the year, based upon deemed investment of deferred amounts.  

The Company’s Non-qualified Deferred Compensation Plan, which was terminated on fiscal 2007, allows certain employees to defer 
part or all of his or her Executive Incentive Cash Bonus payment each year. The Company matched any such deferral, up to 50 percent 
of the incentive cash bonus payment. The matching payment vests over 3 years and vesting is dependent upon the executive 
remaining employed with the Company. Amounts deferred are converted into units having the same value as the Company’s stock and 
are credited with amounts at the same rate as the Company’s dividend on its common stock. Units are converted into shares of the 
Company’s common stock at the time of distribution.   

The Committee approved The Herman Miller, Inc. Executive Equalization Retirement Plan for salary deferrals that began in January 
2008. The plan allows all United States employees who have compensation above the statutory ceiling to defer income in the same 
proportion as if the statutory ceiling did not exist. The Company makes contributions to the plan such that the amounts in the plan 
―mirror‖ the amounts the Company would have contributed had the employee’s compensation not be above the statutory ceiling. 
Distributions from the plan are paid out in cash based on the deferral election specified by the participant. 
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Potential Payments upon Termination, Death, Disability, Retirement or Change in Control  

The following tables quantify both the estimated payments that would be made to each NEO in the event of his/her termination by the 
Company without cause, and in the event of his/her termination under circumstances that would trigger payments under the change in 
control agreements. The tables also provide information regarding the incremental amounts that would have vested and become 
payable on May 30, 2009 if a change in control occurred on that date or if the NEO’s employment had terminated on that date because 
of death, disability or retirement. The amounts potentially payable to each NEO in the event of separation without cause, death, 
disability, retirement or in connection with a change in control in which a termination occurs is illustrated below. The narrative that 
follows the tables gives more details concerning the plans and the circumstances under which either accelerated payment or vesting 
would occur.  

Assumes termination occurs at end of Fiscal Year 2009 (May 30, 2009)  

 Benefit Death Disability Retirement Without Cause Change in Control 

Brian C. Walker Cash Severance    1,080,000 4,782,546 

 Prorated Annual Incentive      

 Equity      

 Restricted Stock 1,138,400 1,138,400  1,138,400 1,423,000 

 Restricted Stock Units 140,296 140,296  140,296 211,657 

 Performance Shares (at target)      

 Unexercisable Options      

 Total 1,278,696 1,278,696  1,278,696 1,634,657 

 Retirement Benefits(1)      

 Unvested Deferred Stock Units 11,967 11,967   11,967 

 Other Benefits      

 Health and Welfare    21,627 43,255 

 Outplacement    25,000 25,000 

 Tax Gross-Ups      

 Total    46,627 68,255 

 Total 1,290,663 1,290,663  2,405,323 6,497,424 

Gregory J. Bylsma Cash Severance    375,000 375,000 

 Prorated Annual Incentive      

 Equity      

 Restricted Stock      

 Restricted Stock Units 3,453 3,453  3,453 5,130 

 Performance Shares (at target)      

 Unexercisable Options      

 Total 3,453 3,453  3,453 5,130 

 Retirement Benefits(1)      

 Unvested Deferred Stock Units      

 Other Benefits      

 Health and Welfare    18,203 18,203 

 Outplacement    25,000 25,000 

 Tax Gross-Ups      

 Total    43,203 43,203 

 Total 3,453 3,453  421,656 423,333 
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Potential Payments upon Termination, Death, Disability, Retirement or Change in Control (continued) 

 Benefit Death Disability Retirement Without Cause Change in Control 

Curtis S. Pullen  Cash Severance    525,000 1,060,000 

 Prorated Annual Incentive      

 Equity      

 Restricted Stock      

 Restricted Stock Units 31,327 31,327  31,327 47,262 

 Performance Shares (at target)      

 Unexercisable Options      

 Total 31,327 31,327  31,327 47,262 

 Retirement Benefits(1)      

 Unvested Deferred Stock Units      

 Other Benefits      

 Health and Welfare    20,052 26,736 

 Outplacement    25,000 25,000 

 Tax Gross-Ups      

 Total    45,052 51,736 

 Total 31,327 31,327  601,379 1,158,998 

Donald D. Goeman Cash Severance    382,500 932,423 

 Prorated Annual Incentive      

 Equity      

 Restricted Stock      

 Restricted Stock Units 58,456 58,456  58,456 88,189 

 Performance Shares (at target)      

 Unexercisable Options      

 Total 58,456 58,456  58,456 88,189 

 Retirement Benefits(1)      

 Unvested Deferred Stock Units      

 Other Benefits      

 Health and Welfare    23,179 30,905 

 Outplacement    25,000 25,000 

 Tax Gross-Ups      

 Total    48,179 55,905 

 Total 58,456 58,456  489,134 1,076,516 

Andrew J. Lock  Cash Severance    495,000 1,229,896 

 Prorated Annual Incentive      

 Equity      

 Restricted Stock      

 Restricted Stock Units 93,528 93,528  93,528 141,099 

 Performance Shares (at target)      

 Unexercisable Options      

 Total 93,528 93,528  93,528 141,099 

 Retirement Benefits(1)      

 Unvested Deferred Stock Units      

 Other Benefits      

 Health and Welfare    17,450 23,266 

 Outplacement    25,000 25,000 

 Tax Gross-Ups      

 Total    42,450 48,266 

 Total 93,528 93,528  630,978 1,419,262 
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Potential Payments upon Termination, Death, Disability, Retirement or Change in Control (continued) 

 Benefit Death Disability Retirement Without Cause Change in Control 

Kristen L. Manos Cash Severance      

 Prorated Annual Incentive      

 Equity      

 Restricted Stock      

 Restricted Stock Units      

 Performance Shares (at target)      

 Unexercisable Options      

 Total      

 Retirement Benefits(1)      

 Unvested Deferred Stock Units      

 Other Benefits      

 Health and Welfare      

 Outplacement      

 Tax Gross-Ups      

 Total      

 Total      

Elizabeth A. Nickels Cash Severance    415,500 1,179,480 

 Prorated Annual Incentive      

 Equity      

 Restricted Stock      

 Restricted Stock Units 128,608 128,608  128,608 194,025 

 Performance Shares (at target)      

 Unexercisable Options      

 Total 128,608 128,608  128,608 194,025 

 Retirement Benefits(1)      

 Unvested Deferred Stock Units 7,867 7,867   7,867 

 Other Benefits      

 Health and Welfare    21,317 28,422 

 Outplacement    25,000 25,000 

 Tax Gross-Ups      

 Total      

 Total 136,475 136,475  590,425 1,434,794 

(1) The retirement benefits available to the Named Executive Officers are the same as those available to all salaried employees.  

Potential Payments upon Termination without Change in Control  

The Company under its salary continuation plan has agreed to pay Corporate Officers and other executives severance if they are 
terminated for reasons other than cause. The payments are equal to 18 months base salary continuation for the NEOs. In addition the 
Company maintains the health insurance on such employee during the salary continuation period. In exchange for such payments the 
employee provides the Company with a mutual release of all claims and agrees not to work for a competitor during the salary 
continuation period. In the event of a termination covered by the change in control agreements described below, the payments under 
those agreements is reduced by any amounts received under the salary continuation plan.  

The Executive Long Term Disability Plan provides a monthly benefit to an executive of 60% of their 2 year average executive 
incentive up to a monthly maximum of $10,000. Each of the NEOs would be entitled to a $10,000 monthly benefit if they became 
disabled as of May 30, 2009 as long as they are disabled or until age 65.  

Potential Payments upon Termination in Connection with Change in Control  

In Fiscal 2009 each NEO, other than Greg Bylsma, was party to a change in control agreement with the Company. The change in 
control agreements are all ―dual trigger‖ agreements. This means there both must be a change in control and the employee must incur 
an actual or constructive termination of employment by us in order to be entitled to a payment.  
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Potential Payments upon Termination without Change in Control (continued) 

The agreements define change in control as having occurred (1) when a third party becomes the owner of 35 percent or more of the 
Company’s stock, (2) when a majority of the Board of directors is composed of persons who are not recommended by the existing 
Board, or (3) under certain transactions involving a merger or reorganization, sale of all or substantially all of the company’s assets or a 
liquidation in which the Company does not maintain certain control thresholds.  

An employee is entitled to a payment under the change in control agreement if within 2 years after a change in control he or she (1) 
loses his or her employment with the Company for reasons other than cause or voluntary termination, (2) the responsibilities of his or 
her job are significantly reduced, (3) the base salary or bonus he or she receives is reduced, (4) the benefits he or she receives are 
reduced by more than 5 percent, (5) the location of his or her job is relocated more than 50 miles from its current location, or (6) the 
obligations of the change in control agreement is not assumed by any successor company.  

If both triggering events occur, then the NEO is entitled to a change in control payment. The change in control payment consists of 
three elements (1) amounts owed for current year base salary, on target bonus prorated to the date of termination and all amounts of 
deferred income, (2) medical and other insurance benefits, and (3) a separation payment. In addition, all existing unvested options and 
other equity units become immediately vested and exercisable. The separation payment in the case of the CEO is to be equal to 3 
times the amount described below and in the case of all other NEOs the payment is equal to 2 times the amount described below. The  
separation payment is a lump sum equal to either two or three times the sum of (a) the executive’s base salary plus (b) the greater of 
the executive’s actual bonus for the preceding year or his or her on-target bonus for the current year. This amount is reduced by any 
severance payment that executive receives under the severance program described above.  

The Company has the obligation to make a ―gross up‖ payment to the executive if the amount of the payments under the change in 
control agreements is subject to an excise tax under Section 4999 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986. However, if a reduction of 5 
percent in the separation payments to the executive would prevent them from being subject to the excise tax, the Company may reduce 
the payments up to 5 percent but only to the extent necessary to avoid the imposition of the excise tax.  

In order to receive the payments the NEO is obligated to comply with the non-competition covenant of the agreement, committing 
him or her to refrain from competing with the Company for a period equal to the number of years of compensation received by the NEO 
under the agreement.  

Accelerated Vesting upon Death, Disability, Retirement or Change in Control  

Various compensation plans contain provisions that permit accelerated vesting upon death, disability or change in control. In the event 
of a change in control, the Key Executive Deferred Compensation Plan, the Long-Term Incentive Plan, and the Executive Incentive 
Cash Bonus Plan provide for the acceleration of vesting and/or payment even if the NEO has not been terminated. These are so called 
single trigger payment provisions. The Long-Term Incentive Plan, Executive Incentive Cash Bonus Plan and Key Executive Deferred 
Compensation Plan each has provisions dealing with vesting upon death, disability or retirement. The definition of change in control for 
these plans is the definition contained in Treasury Regulations for Section 409A of the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004.  

Key Executive Deferred Compensation Plan  

The Key Executive Deferred Compensation Plan, which terminated in fiscal 2007, permits a participant to elect to have his or her 
account distributed immediately upon his death, disability, or termination of employment in addition to change in control. The plan also 
permits the Committee to distribute to the employee amounts deferred before December 31, 2005 in the event of his death, disability or 
termination of employment.  

Long-Term Incentive Plan  

The Long-Term Incentive Plan provides that all unvested options, restricted stock units and performance shares vest and become 
immediately exercisable in the event of a change in control. The measurement period for performance shares ends as of the date of a 
change in control and the number of performance shares actually vesting is determined by the Company’s average EVA performance 
during the shortened measurement period.  

Options granted under the LTI Plan to the extent vested at the date of death, disability or retirement, remain exercisable for the 
balance of their original term but not more than 60 months following the date of termination of employment. 

In all other cases the options terminate 3 months after the termination of employment. Restricted stock units vest ratably up to the 
date of termination if an employee dies, becomes disabled, or is terminated for reasons other than cause. Vesting is determined by 
comparing the number of months the employee has been with the Company between the date of grant and the date of termination to 
the original 5 year vesting period. If an employee retires the grant of restrict stock units will continue to vest over the original vesting 
period, provided the employee is available to provide 10 hours per quarter of consulting services and does not work for a competitor. 
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Potential Payments upon Termination without Change in Control (continued) 

Performance shares, as explained earlier, are granted at a target value and the actual number of units converted into shares is 
determined at the end of a 3 year measurement period. The percentage of the performance share target grant that is eligible to vest if 
an employee dies, becomes disabled, or is terminated for reasons other than cause is determined by comparing the number of months 
between the date of grant and the date of termination to the original 3 year vesting period. If an employee retires in the first year the 
percentage of the performance share target grant subject to vesting will be equal to the number of months the employee remains 
employed during the year divided by 12. If the employee retires after the first year 100 percent of the target performance share grant is 
subject to vesting. 

The Executive Incentive Cash Bonus Plan  

The Executive Incentive Cash Bonus Plan requires that an employee be employed by the Company on the last day of a fiscal year in 
order to be eligible to receive the Incentive Cash Bonus, with certain exceptions noted below. The plan provides that in the events of 
death, disability or retirement an employee does not need to be employed on the last day of the fiscal year in order to receive a bonus. 
The employee’s bonus will be reduced to reflect the portion of the year that he or she was employed by the Company. In the event of a 
change in control, the Incentive Cash Bonus is immediately vested (based upon EVA results achieved through the date of the change in 
control) and payable and is not reduced by virtue of the fact that it is calculated upon a partial year. The same provisions governing 
payment in the event of death, disability, retirement or change in control are also found in the bonus plan applicable to all other 
employees.  
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Director Compensation  

The following Director Compensation table provides information on the compensation of each director for fiscal year 2009. The standard 
compensation of each director is $108,000. This represents a ten percent reduction from the previous year. The audit committee chair 
receives an additional $17,500, the executive compensation committee chair receives an additional $10,000 and the nominating and 
governance committee chair receives an additional $7,500. The chairman of the Board of Directors receives additional annual 
compensation of $205,000 and is eligible to participate in the Company’s health insurance plan. Brian Walker, the Company’s CEO, 
does not receive any additional compensation for serving on the Board of Directors.  

The annual retainer and any chairperson fee (collectively, the ―Annual Fee‖) is payable by one or more of the following means, as 
selected by each director: (1) in cash; (2) in shares of our stock valued as of January 15 of each year; (3) credit under the Director 
Deferred Compensation Plan described below, valued as of January 15 of each year; (4) stock options valued as of January 15 of each 
year under the Black-Scholes Valuation Model; or (5) as a contribution to our company employee scholarship fund. Any director who 
does not meet the stock ownership guideline must take at least 50 percent of his or her fee in one of the permissible forms of equity.  

Stock Option Plan  

We have in effect a Stock Option Plan under which nonemployee officers and directors may be granted options to purchase shares of 
our stock if they elect to receive their compensation in stock options. Subject to certain exceptions, the options are not exercisable until 
12 months after the date of grant and expire 10 years after the date of the grant. The option price is payable upon exercise in cash or, 
subject to certain limitations, in shares of our stock already owned by the optionee, or a combination of shares and cash.  

Deferred Compensation Plan  

We also maintain a Nonemployee Officer and Director Deferred Compensation Stock Purchase Plan. The Plan permits participants to 
defer receipt of all or a portion of his or her Annual Fee to his or her deferred account.  The account is held in a Rabbi Trust.  Each 
account is credited with a number of stock units equal to a number of shares of the investment selected by the director.  The initial value 
of the deferral is equal to the dollar amount of the deferral, divided by the per share fair market value of the selected investment at the 
time of the deferral. The units are credited with any dividends paid on the investment.  

Stock Ownership Guidelines  

Director stock ownership guidelines have been in effect since 1997. These guidelines, like those of the management team, are intended 
to reinforce the importance of linking shareholder and director interests. Under these guidelines, beginning in 2000, each director is 
encouraged to reach a minimum level of share ownership having a value of at least three times the annual director retainer over a five-
year period after first becoming a director.  
 
Other  

Directors are reimbursed for travel and other necessary business expenses incurred in the performance of their services for the 
Company, and they are covered under the Company’s business travel insurance policies and under the Director and Officer liability 
insurance policy.  

Perquisites  

Some Directors’ spouses accompany them to Board meetings. The Company pays for their expenses and for some amenities for the 
Directors and their spouses, including some meals and social events. The total of these perquisites is less than $10,000 per Director 
except for Mr. Griffiths. His spouse’s travel is reported in All Other Compensation in the following table.  
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Director Compensation (continued) 

Director Compensation Table 

Name  Fees Earned 

or Paid in 

Cash ($)(1)  

Stock Awards 

($)(2) 

Options 

Awards ($)(2) 

Non-Equity 

Incentive Plan 

Compensation 

($) 

Change in 

Pension Value 

and 

Nonqualified 

Deferred 

Compensation 

Earnings 

All Other 

Compensation 

($) 

Total ($) 

Paget L. Alves   39,944    39,944 

Mary Vermeer Andringa  9,000 99,000     108,000 

Douglas D. French  4,500 103,500     108,000 

Lord Brian Griffiths of Fforestfach 108,000     28,079 136,079 

J. Barry Griswell   4,538 113,462     118,000 

John R. Hoke III 54,000 54,000     108,000 

James R. Kackley 62,750  66,223    128,973 

C. William Pollard 108,000      108,000 

Dorothy A. Terrell  57,750  21,360     79,110 

David O. Ulrich 54,000   88,794    142,794 

Michael A. Volkema      313,000      313,000 
 

(1) The amounts shown in the “Fees Earned or Paid in Cash” column include amounts which may be deferred under the Non-Employee Director Deferred Compensation Plan.  

Amounts deferred are retained as units equal to shares of stock under the plan. The plan permits non-employee directors to elect to defer amounts which they would otherwise 

receive as director fees. Amounts deferred are credited with earnings at the same rate as the dividend on the Company’s stock. Directors at the time of deferral elect the deferral 

period. The units together with the earnings on the units are converted to shares of the Company’s common stock at the end of the deferral period and are distributed to the director 

at the end of the deferral period. These amounts may also reflect contributions to the Michael Volkema Scholarship fund which awards college scholarships to children of 

employees. During fiscal year 2009 ten directors contributed a portion of their fees to the fund. 

(2) These amounts reflect the expense recognized as compensation expense in fiscal 2009 for financial reporting purposes with respect to stock awards and options, granted in fiscal 

2009 and/or prior years, in accordance with FAS 123R except that the amounts do not reflect a reduction for estimated forfeitures. The assumptions used in calculating these 

amounts are set forth in Note 14 in the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended May 30, 2009, included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K.  

 
As of May 31, 2009, each Director had the following aggregate number of outstanding options :  

Name Aggregate Number of Outstanding Options 

Paget L. Alves(1) 30,344 

Mary Vermeer Andringa 16,948 

Douglas D. French 31,037 

Lord Brian Griffiths of Fforestfach 28,605 

J. Barry Griswell 0 

John R. Hoke III 0 

James R. Kackley(2 50,090 

C. William Pollard 36,573 

Dorothy A. Terrell(3) 46,001 

David O. Ulrich(4) 105,830 

Michael A. Volkema 0 
 

(1) Included in the aggregate number of outstanding options for Mr. Alves are 30,344 options granted during the fiscal year with a grant date fair value of $107,997. 

(2) Included in the aggregate number of outstanding options for Mr. Kackley are 17,630 options granted during the fiscal year with a grant date fair value of $62,747. 

(3) Included in the aggregate number of outstanding options for Ms. Terrell are 16,226 options granted during the fiscal year with a grant date fair value of $57,750. 

(4) Included in the aggregate number of outstanding options for Mr.Ulrich are 15,172 options granted during the fiscal year with a grant date fair value of $53,999. 
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Equity Compensation Plan Information 

As noted in the Compensation Discussion and Analysis, we maintain certain equity compensation plans under which common stock is 
authorized for issuance to employees and directors in exchange for services. In addition, we maintain the Nonemployee Officer and 
Director Stock Option Plan, Long Term Incentive Plan, 2000 Employee Stock Option Plan, Employees’ Stock Purchase Plan, and 
various employee ownership and profit sharing plans under which common stock is authorized for issuance to employees and directors 
in exchange for services.  

The 2000 Employee Stock Option Plan is our only equity compensation plan under which common stock is authorized for issuance 
that has not been approved by our shareholders. Under the 2000 Employee Stock Option Plan, each full- or part-time employee of the 
company, or any U.S. or Canadian subsidiary, and certain foreign subsidiaries who was not eligible to participate in the Long-Term 
Incentive Plan, received a one-time, nontransferable grant of a nonqualified stock option to purchase 100 shares of our common stock, 
at fair market value of the shares on the grant date. The options were not exercisable until after one year of continuous employment 
from the grant date and remain exercisable until the earlier of 10 years after the grant date or three months after termination of 
employment (other than termination due to of retirement, disability, or death, which events allow for a longer exercise period). The 
Board is sensitive to dilution of shareholder interests resulting from the granting of stock options and therefore has allocated the options 
granted under this plan against the authorized shares available under the Long-term Incentive Plan.  

The following table sets forth certain information regarding the above referenced equity compensation plans as of May 30, 2009. 
 

Plan Category Number of securities to be 

issued upon exercise of 

outstanding options 

warrants and rights(1) 

Weighted-average 

exercise price of 

outstanding options, 

warrants and rights 

Number of securities 

remaining available for 

future issuance under equity 

compensation plans 

(excluding securities 

reflected in column (a)) 

 (a) (b) (c) 

Equity compensation plans approved by security holders 2,984,630 26.81 6,004,657(2) 

Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders   170,370 27.24  

Total 3,155,000 26.83 6,004,657 
 

(1) We have not granted warrants or rights applicable to this chart.  

(2) The number of shares remaining available for future issuance under our plans for awards other than options is limited to 12 percent of the shares authorized 

by shareholders. There are 436,978 shares remaining available for future issuance for awards other than options. 

Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance 

Our directors and officers, as well as any person holding more than 10 percent of our common stock, are required to report initial 
statements of ownership of our securities and changes in such ownership to the Securities and Exchange Commission. Based upon 
written representations by each director and officer, all the reports were timely filed by such persons during the last fiscal year.  
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Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions  

The Board of Directors has adopted a Policy on Related Party Transactions. Under that Policy, with certain limited exceptions, all 
proposed transactions between the Company and one of its directors or officers or their respective affiliates are required to be reported 
to the Nominating and Governance Committee prior to entering into such a transaction. Management is obligated to provide that 
Committee with information relating to the terms and conditions of the proposed transaction, how it complies with the Policy, and if the 
proposed transaction is with a director, advise the Committee if the transaction would impact that director’s status as an independent 
director. The Nominating and Governance Committee has the authority to determine whether the proposed transaction is exempt from 
approval or, if not, approve the transaction as compliant with the Policy or refer the matter to the Board of Directors. All approved or 
exempted transactions must be reported by the Committee to the full Board of Directors.  

In order to approve a transaction under the Policy, the Nominating and Governance Committee must determine that either (1) the 
dollar amount of the transaction and other transactions with the director during that year is less than $100,000, and, for any director that 
is a member of the Audit Committee, does not constitute a proscribed consulting, advisory, or other compensated fee, or (2) if the 
proposed transaction is for the acquisition of products or services and is either less than $100,000 or is subject to a bid process 
involving three or more competing parties, and the transaction is in the best interest of the Company and its shareholders, provided that 
(a) management determined that the proposed transaction will provide the best value for the Company, (b) the compensation is 
consistent with the proposals submitted by the other bidders, and (c) the director did not directly participate in the proposal process.  

J. Barry Griswell is the Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer of Principal Financial Group, Inc. During fiscal 
2007, management submitted a request to the Nominating and Governance Committee to approve a proposed transaction under which 
the Principal Financial Group would provide Family Medical Leave Act (FMLA)and short-term and long-term disability management 
work on behalf of the Company. Mr. Griswell did not participate in the bid process or discuss the proposal with management of the 
Company. Based upon management’s recommendation, the Committee determined that the proposed transaction was in the best 
interest of the Company and its shareholders and approved the proposed transaction. Under the terms of the transaction, Principal 
Financial Group will provide FMLA administration, short-term disability and long-term disability for a period of three years at an annual 
rate of approximately $1.5 million for each of the three years of the contract.  

In December 2007 the Company sought bids in connection with $200 million in Private Placement Notes. Nineteen different bids 
were received totaling approximately $400 million in subscriptions. One of the bids received was from the Principal Financial Group. Mr. 
Griswell did not participate in the bid process or discuss it with management of the Company. Based upon the pricing of their bid and 
management’s recommendation, the Committee determined that the transaction did not constitute a conflict of interest and was in the 
best interest of the Company and its shareholders. The Committee approved the inclusion of the Principal Financial Group, Inc. for $8 
million within the current Debt Private Placement. 

Effective June 24, 2009, the Company acquired all of the equity interests of Nemschoff Chairs, LLC, the majority, beneficial owner of 
which was Mark Nemschoff.  In connection with that transaction, Mr. Nemschoff was appointed to the Board of Directors of the 
Company and entered into an Executive Consulting and Noncompete Agreement.  Under the terms of that Agreement, Mr. Nemschoff 
has agreed to provide consulting services to the Company on a substantially full-time basis with the purpose of facilitating the transition 
and integration of Nemschoff Chairs with the Company as well as participating with strategic planning and business development.  The 
agreement is for a term of two years and provides for an annual consulting fee of $275,000 and certain health insurance and fringe 
benefits.  Also, in connection with that transaction, the Company entered into a Lease Agreement with an entity that is indirectly 
controlled by Mr. Nemschoff.  The premises, consisting of approximately 90,000 square feet, is to be leased by the Company for a 
period of five years at an annual base rent of $240,000.  Finally, also in connection with the transaction, the Company entered into a 
three-year supply agreement with Colby Metal, Inc., an entity indirectly controlled by Mr. Nemschoff, for the supply of certain light gauge 
sheet steel and tubular fabrication and/or paint equipment, products and services. 
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Submission of Shareholder Proposals for the 2010 Annual Meeting 

Shareholders wishing to submit proposals on matters appropriate for shareholder action to be presented at our 2010 annual meeting of 
shareholders and to be included in our proxy materials for that meeting may do so in accordance with Rule 14a-8 promulgated under 
the Exchange Act, whereby (1) all applicable requirements of Rule 14a-8 must be satisfied, (2) the notice must include various stock 
ownership and related information detailed in our Bylaws, and (3) such proposals must be received by us at our principal executive 
offices at 855 East Main Avenue, PO Box 302, Zeeland, Michigan 49464-0302, no later than May 6, 2010.  

Our bylaws, which are available on our website at www.hermanmiller.com/bylaws, contain certain procedural requirements that 
shareholders must follow to nominate a person for election as a director at an annual meeting or to bring an item of business before the 
annual meeting.  These procedures require that notice of an intention to nominate a person for election to the Board and/or to bring an 
item of business before our 2010 annual meeting must be received in writing by our secretary at 855 East Main Avenue, P.O. Box 302, 
Zeeland, Michigan  49464-0302 no earlier than June 17, 2010 and no later than July 17, 2010.  The notice must contain certain 
information about the shareholder making the proposal for nomination, including a representation that the shareholder intends to appear 
in person or by proxy at the annual meeting to nominate the person named in the notice or bring the item of business before the 
meeting, and about the nominee and/or the item of business and, in the case of a nomination, must be accompanied by a written 
consent of the proposed nominee to be named as a nominee and to serve as a director, if elected.  As of September 3, 2009, no 
proposals to be presented at the 2009 annual meeting have been received by us. 

Miscellaneous  

The cost of the solicitation of proxies will be borne by us. In addition to the use of the mails, proxies may be solicited personally or by 
telephone or electronic means by a few of our regular employees. We may reimburse brokers and other people holding stock in their 
names or in the names of nominees for their expenses in sending proxy materials to the principals and obtaining their proxies.  

Our mailing for the fiscal year ended May 30, 2009, includes the Notice Regarding the Availability of Proxy Materials. A copy of the 
Notice of 2009 Annual Meeting of Shareholders and the 2009 Annual Financial Statements as well as the Proxy Statement and our 
Report on Form 10-K both filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission are available, without charge, upon written request from 
the Secretary of the company, 855 East Main Avenue, PO Box 302, Zeeland, Michigan 49464-0302.  

 
Shareholders are urged to vote promptly. Questions related to your holdings can be directed as follows:  
 
Computershare Investor Services, LLC, 250 Royall Street, Canton, Massachusetts 02021 Phone: 1 866 768 5723 inside the United 
States Phone: 1 781 575 2723 outside the United States http://www.computershare.com  
 

By Order of the Board of Directors  
Daniel C. Molhoek, Secretary to the Board September 3, 2009  
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Appendix I  Herman Miller, Inc., Board of Directors – Audit Committee Charter July 2009  

Purpose 

The primary function of the Audit Committee (the ―Committee‖) is to assist the Board of Directors by overseeing (1) the quality and 
integrity of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting processes and the audits of the Company’s financial statements, (2) the 
performance of the Company’s Business Risk group, including the internal audit function, and independent auditor, (3) the Company’s 
disclosure controls and system of internal controls regarding finance, accounting, legal compliance, and ethics that management and 
the Board of Directors have established, and (4) the company’s process for identifying and managing significant business risks which 
could affect the company’s financial results and position. 

The Committee shall provide an open avenue of communication among the independent auditors, financial and senior management, 
the Business Risk group and the Board of Directors.‖ 

Membership 

The Committee shall be comprised of three or more members of the Board of Directors, each of whom (1) must qualify as an 
independent director under the listing standards of the NASDAQ, Section 301 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, and the rules of the Securities 
and Exchange Commission, (2) shall be free from any relationship to the Company that, in the opinion of the Board, would interfere with 
the exercise of his or her independent judgment as a member of the Committee, and (3) shall not have participated in the preparation of 
the financial statements of the Company or any current subsidiary of the Company at any time during the past three years. All members 
of the Committee shall meet the NASDAQ requirements to be able to read and understand fundamental financial statements. In 
addition, at least one member shall have met the NASDAQ standard for financial sophistication. The Board of Directors shall attempt to 
appoint at least one member of the Committee who is an ―Audit Committee Financial Expert‖ under the criteria established by the 
Securities and Exchange Commission. The members shall be nominated by the Nominating and Governance Committee and appointed 
annually to one-year terms by the Board. The Nominating and Governance Committee shall recommend, and the Board shall 
designate, one member of the Committee as Chair. A member of the Committee shall not simultaneously serve on the audit committee 
of more than two other public companies. 

Meetings and Procedures 

Meetings of the Committee shall be subject to the Committee procedure rules set forth in the Company’s Bylaws, rules established by 
the Board, and its own rules of procedure (including the Administrative Guidelines schedule), which shall be consistent with those 
Bylaws and the following: 
1. The Committee shall meet at least four (4) times annually and more frequently as circumstances require. At least four (4) scheduled 

meetings of the Committee shall include an executive session of the Committee, absent members of management and on such 
terms and conditions as the Committee may elect. The executive sessions may include meeting with the head of the Company’s 
Business Risk group and the independent auditors in separate executive sessions to discuss any matters that the Committee or the 
Business Risk department or independent auditors believe should be discussed privately. In addition, the Committee may meet 
periodically with management without the independent auditor or the Business Risk director. 

2. Following each of its meetings, the Committee shall deliver a report (verbal or written) on the meeting to the Board, including a 
description of actions taken by the Committee. 

3. Minutes will be prepared for each meeting by a legal non-employee resource and will be maintained as a permanent part of 
corporate records. 

4. At least annually, the Committee will review this Charter and update it as necessary. 

Responsibilities and Duties 

The Company’s management is responsible for preparing the Company’s financial statements, and the independent auditors are 
responsible for auditing the Company’s financial statements. Consequently, the Audit Committee’s role is one of oversight and does not 
provide any expert assurance or certification as to the Company’s financial statements or the work of the independent auditors or that of 
the Business Risk group. However, the independent auditors and director of Business Risk are directly accountable to the Audit 
Committee. The Committee shall have the following responsibilities and duties: 

Documents and Reports 

1. Review the Company’s annual financial statements and any financial reports submitted to the SEC or to the public, including any 
report issued by the independent auditors. 

2. Review the management letter and other reports from the independent auditors, reports issued to Audit Committee from the 
Business Risk group, management’s responses, and subsequent updates on actions taken.  

3. Recommend to the Board whether the Company’s annual financial statements should be included in the Annual Report on Form  
10-K. 

4. Cause to be prepared and approve the Committee’s report to be included in the Company’s proxy statement.  
5. Review with financial management, Business Risk and the independent auditors the quarterly report on Form 10-Q prior to filing. 
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Appendix I  Herman Miller, Inc., Board of Directors – Audit Committee Charter July 2009 (continued) 

6. Review quarterly earnings press releases with management prior to dissemination. 
7. Discuss with management financial information and earnings guidance provided to external parties (e.g., analysts and rating 

agencies), if not previously discussed with the Executive Committee or Board of Directors. 
8. Review management’s assessment and report and the independent auditors’ attestation and report on the effectiveness of the 

Company’s internal controls over financial reporting.  
 

Independent Auditors 

1. Appoint, retain or remove, approve the compensation of, and provide oversight of the work of the Company’s independent auditor 
and appoint and approve the compensation of any public accounting firm engaged for the purpose of preparing or issuing an audit 
report of the Company’s financial statements, or the Company’s internal controls, or performing other audit, review or attest services 
of the Company, including resolution of disagreements between management and the independent auditors regarding financial 
reporting. The independent auditors shall report directly to the Committee.  

2. On an annual basis, review and evaluate the qualifications and performance of the independent auditors.  
3. On an annual basis, receive from the independent auditors a formal written statement delineating all relationships between the 

independent auditors and the Company, consistent with PCAOB standards. The Committee will actively engage in a dialog with the 
independent auditor with respect to any disclosed relationships or services that may impact the objectivity and independence of the 
auditor. The Committee will take appropriate action to oversee the independence of the independent auditor.  

4 Administer the Company’s Audit and Non-Audit Services Pre-Approval Policy. 
5. Hold timely discussions with the independent auditors regarding: 

(a) Significant accounting policies and practices; 
(b) All alternative treatments of financial information within generally accepted accounting principles that have been discussed with 

management, ramifications of the use of such alternative disclosures and treatments, and the treatment preferred by the 
independent auditor; 

(c) Other material written communications between the independent auditor and management including, but not limited to, schedule 
of unadjusted differences; and 

(d) Items disclosed by the auditor as required in SAS No. 61 or SAS No. 100, including the auditor’s judgment as to the quality of the 
Company’s accounting principles, significant reporting issues and management’s judgments and accounting estimates made in 
connection with the preparation of the financial statements. 

(e) The establishment, documentation, effectiveness, and audit of the Company’s internal financial controls required by Sarbanes 
Oxley Section 404 and the PCAOB.  

6. At least annually, obtain and review a report by the independent auditor describing: 
(a) The firm’s internal quality control procedures; and 
(b) Any material issues raised by the most recent internal quality-control review of the firm or by any inquiry or investigation of the 

firm by governmental or professional authorities, within the preceding five years, respecting one or more independent audits 
carried out by the firm, and any steps taken to deal with any such issues. 

(c) All relationships between the independent auditor and the Company.  

Financial Reporting Processes 

1. Review the integrity of the Company’s financial reporting process, both internal and external, giving consideration to the disclosure 
controls, and consultation with management, the independent auditors and the director of Business Risk. 

2. Review and discuss significant changes in the Company’s procedures concerning internal controls over financial reporting.  
3. Consider and approve, as appropriate, material changes to the Company’s auditing and accounting principles and practices as 

suggested by the independent auditors, management or the director of Business Risk. 
4. Establish and maintain procedures for the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints regarding accounting, internal accounting 

controls or auditing matters, including procedures necessary to receive and respond to confidential and anonymous submissions by 
Company employees regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters; consider risk factors for potential fraudulent financial 
reporting. 

5. Approve the annual EVA calculation including the actual improvement and bonus factor. 
 

Business Risk Group/Internal Audit 

1. Review the audit plan, activities, organizational structure and qualifications of the Company’s Business Risk group including a 
periodic review of the department’s and the director’s performance, and approve the appointment of the director. 

2. Periodically review any significant difficulties, disagreements with management, or scope restrictions encountered in the course of 
that group’s work. 
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Appendix I  Herman Miller, Inc., Board of Directors – Audit Committee Charter July 2009 (continued) 

Legal and Business Risks 

1. Review, with the Company’s counsel, legal compliance matters. 
2. Review, with the Company’s counsel, any legal matter that could have a significant impact on the Company’s financial statements. 
3. Discuss the Company’s process for identifying and managing significant business and financial risk exposures and steps taken by 

management to control or mitigate those exposures.  
 
Other 

1. Perform an annual self-assessment relative to the Audit Committee’s purpose, duties and responsibilities set forth in this Charter. 
2. To the extent it deems appropriate, and with or without full Board approval, obtain advice and assistance from outside legal, 

accounting or other advisors as deemed appropriate to perform its duties and responsibilities. 
3. Monitor the development of the company’s insurance programs, except director and officer insurance, and their adequacy to 

safeguard against extraordinary liabilities and losses. 
4. Perform any other activities consistent with this Charter, the Company’s Bylaws and governing law, as the Audit Committee or the 

Board of Directors deems necessary or appropriate. 
 
Funding 

The Company shall provide appropriate funding, as determined by the Audit Committee, for payments of:  
1. Compensation to any registered public accounting firm engaged for the purpose of preparing or issuing an audit report or performing 

other audit, review or attest services for the Company;  
2. Compensation to any advisors employed by the Audit Committee pursuant to the Charter; and  
3. Ordinary administrative expenses of the Audit Committee that are necessary or appropriate in carrying out its duties.  
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7KH�FRPSDQ\¶V�DQQXDO�UHSRUW�RQ�)RUP���-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and all amendments to those 
UHSRUWV�DUH�PDGH�DYDLODEOH�IUHH�RI�FKDUJH�WKURXJK�WKH�³$ERXW�8V´�WKHQ�³)RU�2XU�,QYHVWRUV´�VHFWLRQ�RI�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�LQWHUQHW�Zebsite at 
www.hermanmiller.com, as soon as practicable after such material is electronically filed with or furnished to the Securities and 
([FKDQJH�&RPPLVVLRQ��6(&���7KH�FRPSDQ\¶V�ILOLQJV�ZLWK�WKH�6(&�DUH�DOVR�DYDLODEOH�IRU�WKH�SXEOLF�WR�UHDG�DQG�FRS\�LQ�SHUVRQ�DW the 
6(&¶V�3XEOLF�5HIHUHQFH�5RRP�DW�����)�6WUHHW�1(��:DVKLQJWRQ��'& 20549, by phone at 1-800-SEC-0330, or via their internet website 
at www.sec.gov. 

Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosures 

As defined in Item 304 of Regulation S-K, there have been no changes in, or disagreements with, accountants during the 24-month 
period ended May 30, 2009. 
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Share Price, Earnings, and Dividends Summary 

Herman Miller, Inc., common stock is traded on the NASDAQ-Global Select Market System (Symbol: MLHR). As of July 22, 2009, there 
ZHUH�DSSUR[LPDWHO\��������UHFRUG�KROGHUV��LQFOXGLQJ�LQGLYLGXDO�SDUWLFLSDQWV�LQ�VHFXULW\�SRVLWLRQ�OLVWLQJV��RI�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�Fommon stock.

Per Share and Unaudited Market Market 
Price Price Market Earnings Dividends 
High Low Price Per Share- Declared Per 

(at close) (at close) Close Diluted(1) Share 

Year Ended May 30, 2009 

First quarter $28.54 $23.70 $28.14 $0.60 $0.08800 

Second quarter 30.39 11.38 14.71 0.60 0.08800 

Third quarter 15.13 10.08 10.08 (0.10) 0.08800 

Fourth quarter 15.02 8.05 14.23 0.14 0.02200 

Year $30.39 $8.05 $14.23 $1.25 $0.28600 

Year Ended May 31, 2008 

First quarter $36.78 $26.32 $29.02 $0.54 $0.08800 

Second quarter 29.75 23.54 27.45 0.67 0.08800 

Third quarter 33.71 27.66 29.83 0.65 0.08800 

Fourth quarter 30.77 22.41 24.80 0.71 0.08800 

Year $36.78 $22.41 $24.80 $2.56 $0.35200 

(1) The sum of the quarters may not equal the annual balance due to rounding associated with the calculation of earnings per share on an individual quarter basis 

Dividends were declared and paid quarterly during fiscal 2009 and 2008 as approved by the Board of Directors. While it is anticipated 
that the company will continue to pay quarterly cash dividends, the amount and timing of such dividends is subject to the discretion of 
WKH�%RDUG�GHSHQGLQJ�RQ�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�IXWXUH�UHVXOWV�RI�RSHUDWLRQV��ILQDQFLDO�FRQGLWLRQ��FDSLWDO�UHTXLUHPHQWV��DQG�RWKHU�UHOHYant factors. 

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities 
The following is a summary of share repurchase activity during the fourth quarter ended May 30, 2009. 

(d) Maximum Number (or 
(c) Total Number of Approximate Dollar 

Shares (or Units) Value) of Shares (or 
(a) Total Number of Purchased as Part of Units) that May Yet be 

Shares (or Units) (b) Average price Paid Publicly Announced Purchased Under the 
Period Purchased per Share or Unit Plans or Programs Plans or Programs(1) 

3/1/09-3/28/09 1,977 11.58 1,977 $171,140,954 
3/29/09-4/25/09 1,630 26.82 1,630 $171,097,241 
4/26/09-5/30/09 0 0 0 $171,097,241 
Total 3,607 18.47 3,607 

(1) Amounts are as of the end of the period indicated 

The company repurchases shares under a previously announced plan authorized by the Board of Directors on September 28, 2007, 
which provided share repurchase authorization of $300,000,000 with no specified expiration date. 

No repurchase plans expired or were terminated during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009, nor do any plans exist under which the 
company does not intend to make further purchases. 

During the period covered by this report the company did not sell any of its equity shares that were not issued under the Securities 
Act of 1933. 
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Share Price, Earnings, and Dividends Summary (continued) 

Shareholder Return Performance Graph 
Set forth below is a OLQH�JUDSK�FRPSDULQJ�WKH�\HDUO\�SHUFHQWDJH�FKDQJH�LQ�WKH�FXPXODWLYH�WRWDO�VKDUHKROGHU�UHWXUQ�RQ�WKH�&RPSDQ\¶V�
FRPPRQ�VWRFN�ZLWK�WKDW�RI�WKH�FXPXODWLYH�WRWDO�UHWXUQ�RI�WKH�6WDQGDUG�	�3RRU¶V�����6WRFN�,QGH[�DQG�WKH�1$6'�1RQ-Financial Index for 
the five-year SHULRG�HQGHG�0D\����������� �7KH�JUDSK�DVVXPHV�DQ� LQYHVWPHQW�RI� �����RQ�0D\���������� LQ� WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�FRPPRQ�
VWRFN��WKH�6WDQGDUG�	�3RRU¶V�����6WRFN�,QGH[�DQG�WKH�1$6'�1RQ-Financial Index, with dividends reinvested.   

$180 
$160 
$140 
$120 
$100 S&P 500 Index
$80 NASD Non-Financial 
$60 Herman Miller, Inc. 
$40 
$20 

$0 

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 

Herman Miller, Inc. $100 $124 $128 $155 $107 $63 
S&P 500 Index $100 $107 $115 $137 $125 $82 
NASD Non-Financial $100 $104 $110 $133 $133 $73 

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 

Information required by this item is also contained in Item 12 of this report. 
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Review of Operations 

(In millions, except key ratios and per share data) 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 

Operating Results 
Net sales $1,630.0 $2,012.1 $1,918.9 $1,737.2 $1,515.6 
Gross margin 527.7 698.7 645.9 574.8 489.8 
Selling, general, and administrative(8) 359.2 400.9 395.8 371.7 327.7 
Design and research 45.7 51.2 52.0 45.4 40.2 
Operating earnings 122.8 246.6 198.1 157.7 121.9 
Earnings before income taxes 98.9 230.4 187.0 147.6 112.8 
Net earnings 68.0 152.3 129.1 99.2 68.0 
Cash flow from operating activities 91.7 213.6 137.7 150.4 109.3 
Depreciation and amortization 41.7 43.2 41.2 41.6 46.9 
Capital expenditures 25.3 40.5 41.3 50.8 34.9 
Common stock repurchased plus cash dividends paid 19.5 287.9 185.6 175.4 152.0 

Key Ratios 
Sales growth (decline) (19.0)% 4.9% 10.5% 14.6% 13.2% 
Gross margin(1) 32.4 34.7 33.7 33.1 32.3 
Selling, general, and administrative(1)(8) 22.0 19.9 20.6 21.4 21.6 
Design and research expense(1) 2.8 2.5 2.7 2.6 2.7 
Operating earnings(1) 7.5 12.3 10.3 9.1 8.0 
Net earnings growth (decline) (55.4) 18.0 30.1 45.9 60.8 
After-tax return on net sales(4) 4.2 7.6 6.7 5.7 4.5 
After-tax return on average assets(5) 8.8 21.0 19.4 14.4 9.6 
After-tax return on average equity(6) 433.1% 170.5% 87.9% 64.2% 37.3% 

Share and Per Share Data 
Earnings per share-diluted $1.25 $2.56 $1.98 $1.45 $0.96 
Cash dividends declared per share 0.29 0.35 0.33 0.31 0.29 
Book value per share at year end 0.15 0.42 2.47 2.10 2.45 
Market price per share at year end 14.23 24.80 36.53 30.34 29.80 
Weighted average shares outstanding-diluted 54.5 59.6 65.1 68.5 70.8 

Financial Condition 
Total assets $767.3 $783.2 $666.2 $668.0 $707.8 
Working capital(3) 242.7 182.7 103.2 93.8 162.3 
Current ratio(2) 1.6 1.6 1.4 1.3 1.5 
Interest-bearing debt and related swap agreements 377.4 375.5 176.2 178.8 194.0 
6KDUHKROGHUV¶�HTXLW\ 8.0 23.4 155.3 138.4 170.5 
Total capital(7) 385.4 398.9 331.5 317.2 364.5 

(1) Shown as a percent of net sales. 
(2) Calculated using current assets divided by current liabilities. 
(3) Calculated using current assets less non-interest bearing current liabilities. 
(4) Calculated as net earnings divided by net sales. 
(5) Calculated as net earnings divided by average assets. 
(6) Calculated as net earnings divided by average equity. 
(7) Calculated as interest-EHDULQJ�GHEW�SOXV�VKDUHKROGHUV¶�HTXLW\�
(8) Selling, general, and administrative expenses include restructuring expenses in years that are applicable 
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2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999 

$1,338.3 $1,336.5 $1,468.7 $2,236.2 $2,010.2 $1,828.4 
415.6 423.6 440.3 755.7 680.4 641.6 
304.1 319.8 399.7 475.4 404.4 379.3 

40.0 39.1 38.9 44.3 41.3 38.0 
61.2 48.3 (79.9)  236.0 234.7 224.3 
51.6 35.8 (91.0)  225.1 221.8 229.9 
42.3 23.3 (56.0)  140.6 139.7 141.8 
82.7 144.7 54.6 211.8 202.1 205.6 
59.3 69.4 112.9 92.6 77.1 62.1 
26.7 29.0 52.4 105.0 135.7 103.4 
72.6 72.7 30.3 105.3 101.6 179.7 

0.1% (9.0)% (34.3)%   11.2% 9.9% 3.1% 
31.1 31.7 30.0 33.8 33.8 35.1 
22.7 23.9  27.3 21.3 20.1 20.7 

3.0 2.9 2.6 2.0 2.1 2.1 
4.6 3.6 (5.4)  10.6 11.7 12.3 

81.5 141.6 (139.8) 0.6 (1.5)  10.5 
3.2 1.7 (3.8)  6.3 6.9 7.8 
5.7 3.0 (6.3)  14.5 16.5 18.5 

21.9% 10.3% (18.2)%              43.5%              55.5%              64.4% 

$0.58 $0.31 $(0.74) $1.81 $1.74 $1.67 

0.18  0.15  0.15  0.15  0.15  0.15 
2.71  2.62  3.45  4.63  3.76  2.63 

24.08 19.34 23.46 26.90 29.75 20.19 
73.1 74.5 75.9 77.6 80.5 84.8 

$714.7 $757.3  $788.0  $996.5 $941.2 $751.5 
207.8 189.9 188.7 191.6 99.1 55.5 

1.8 1.7 1.8 1.5 0.9 1.0 
207.2 223.0 235.1 259.3 225.6 147.6 
194.6 191.0 263.0 351.5 294.5 209.1 
401.8 414.0 498.1 610.8 520.1 356.7 
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0DQDJHPHQW·V�'LVFXVVLRQ�DQG�$Qalysis 

<RX� VKRXOG� UHDG� WKH� LVVXHV� GLVFXVVHG� LQ� 0DQDJHPHQW¶V� 'LVFXVVLRQ� DQG� $QDO\VLV� LQ� FRQMXQFWLRQ� ZLWK� WKH� FRPSDQ\¶V� &RQVROLGDWHG�
Financial Statements and the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Form 10-K. 

Executive Overview 
We use problem-solving design and performance innovation to enhance the quality of human habitats worldwide, making our 
FXVWRPHUV¶� OLYHV�PRUH� SURGXFWLYH�� UHZDUGLQJ�� GHOLJKWIXO�� DQG�PHDQLQJIXO�� �:H�GR� WKLV� E\� SURYLGLQJ� KLJK� TXDOLW\� SURGXFWV� DQG� Uelated 
knowledge services. At present, most of our customers come to us for work environments in both corporate office and healthcare 
settings. We also have a growing presence in educational and residential markets, including home office. Our primary products include 
furniture systems, seating, storage and material handling solutions, freestanding furniture, and casegoods.  Our services extend from 
workplace to furniture asset management. We extended our industry leading position in seating as we introduced the NeoCon award 
winning Embody TM chair and SetuTM family of seating. 

We are globally positioned in terms of manufacturing operations.  In the United States, our manufacturing operations are located in 
Michigan, Georgia, and Washington. In Europe, we have a significant manufacturing presence in the United Kingdom, our largest 
marketplace outside of the United States.  In Asia, we have manufacturing operations in Ningbo, China. 

Our products are sold internationally through wholly-owned subsidiaries or branches in various countries including Canada, France, 
Germany, Italy, Japan, Mexico, Australia, Singapore, China, India, and the Netherlands. Our products are offered elsewhere in the 
world primarily through independent dealerships.  We have customers in over 100 countries. 

We manufacture our products using a system of lean manufacturing techniques collectively referred to as the Herman Miller 
Performance System (HMPS). We strive to maintain efficiencies and cost savings by minimizing the amount of inventory on hand. 
Accordingly, production is order-driven with direct materials and components purchased as needed to meet demand. The standard lead 
time for the majority of our products is 10 to 20 days. As a result, the rate of our inventory turns is high. These combined factors could 
cause our inventory levels to appear relatively low in relation to sales volume. 

A key element of our manufacturing strategy is to limit fixed production costs by sourcing component parts from strategic suppliers. 
This strategy has allowed us to increase the variable nature of our cost structure while retaining proprietary control over those 
production processes that we believe provide us a competitive advantage. As a result of this strategy, our manufacturing operations are 
largely assembly-based. 

Our business consists of various operating segments as defined by generally accepted accounting principles.  These operating 
segments are determined on the basis of how we internally report and evaluate financial information used to make operating decisions 
and are organized by the various markets we serve. For external reporting purposes, we aggregate these operating segments as 
follows. 

North American Furniture Solutions±Includes the business associated with the design, manufacture, and sale of furniture products 
primarily though a Certified Dealer Network for office, learning and healthcare environments throughout the United States, Canada, and 
Mexico. 
Non-North American Furniture Solutions±Includes the business associated with the design, manufacture, and sale of furniture products 
primarily for work-related settings outside North America. 
Other±Includes our North American residential furniture business as well as other business activities such as Convia�, and unallocated 
corporate expenses. 

Core Strengths 
We rely on the following core strengths in delivering workplace solutions to our customers. 

Problem-Solving Design and Innovation±We are committed to developing research-based functionality and aesthetically innovative new 
products and have a history of doing so. We believe our skills and experience in matching problem-solving design with the workplace 
needs of our customers provide us with a competitive advantage in the marketplace.  An important component of our business strategy is 
to actively pursue a program of new product research, design, and development.  We accomplish this through the use of an internal 
research and design staff as well as third party design resources generally compensated on a royalty basis. 
Operational Excellence±We were among the first in our industry to embrace the concepts of lean manufacturing. HMPS provides the 
foundation for all of our manufacturing operations.  We are committed to continuously improving both product quality and production 
and operational efficiency. We have begun to extend this lean process work externally to our manufacturing supply chain and to our 
distribution channel.  We believe this work holds great promise for further gains in reliability, quality and efficiency. 
Building and Leading Networks±We value relationships in all areas of our business. We consider our networks of innovative designers, 
owned and independent dealers, and suppliers to be among our most important competitive factors and vital to the long-term success of 
our business. 

2009 Annual Financial Statements 6 



 

 
  

 
  

 

  
 

        
       

   
    

     
      

 
        

     
         

 
 

 
  

      

 

 

 
  

  

   

      
       
     

 
 

  
   

 
 

  

  

0DQDJHPHQW·V�'LVFXVVLRQ�DQG�$QDO\VLV�RI�)LQDQFLDO�&RQGLWLRQ�DQG�5HVXOWV�RI�2SHUDWLRQV
Executive Overview (continued) 

Channels of Distribution 
Our products and services are offered to most of our customers under standard trade credit terms between 30 and 45 days and are 
sold through the following distribution channels. 

Independent Contract Furniture Dealers and Licensees±Most of our product sales are made to a network of independently owned and 
operated contract furniture dealerships doing business in many countries around the world. These dealers purchase our products and 
distribute them to end customers. We recognize revenue on product sales through this channel once our products are shipped and title 
passes to the dealer. Many of these dealers also offer furniture-related services, including product installation. 
Owned Contract Furniture Dealers±At May 30, 2009, we owned 8 contract furniture dealerships, some of which have operations in 
multiple locations. The financial results of these owned dealers are included in our Consolidated Financial Statements. Product sales to 
these dealerships are eliminated as inter-company transactions from our consolidated financial results. We recognize revenue on these 
sales once products are shipped to the end customer and installation is substantially complete. We believe independent ownership of 
contract furniture dealers is generally, the best model for a financially strong distribution network. With this in mind, our strategy is to 
continue to pursue opportunities to transition our owned dealerships to independent owners.  Where possible, our goal is to involve local 
managers in these ownership transitions. 
Direct Customer Sales±We sometimes sell products and services directly to end customers without an intermediary (e.g. sales to the 
U.S. federal government). In most of these instances, we contract separately with a dealership or third-party installation company to 
provide sales-related services. We recognize revenue on these sales once products are shipped and installation is substantially 
complete. 
Independent Retailers±Certain products are sold to end customers through independent retail operations. Revenue is recognized on 
these sales once products are shipped and title passes to the independent retailer. 

Challenges Ahead 
Like all businesses, we are faced with a host of challenges and risks.  We believe our core strengths and values, which provide the 
foundation for our strategic direction, have us well prepared to respond to the inevitable challenges we will face in the future.  While we 
are confident in our direction, we acknowledge the risks specific to our business and industry.  Refer to Item 1A of our Annual Report on 
Form 10-K for discussion of certain of these risk factors. 

Future Avenues of Growth 
We believe we are well positioned to successfully pursue our mission despite the risks and challenges we face.  That is, we believe we 
can continue to improve the performance of human habitats worldwide.  In pursuing our mission, we have identified the following as key 
avenues for our future growth. 

Primary Markets±Capturing additional market share within our primary markets by offering superior solutions to customers who value 
space as a strategic tool. 
Adjacent Markets±Further applying our core skills in space environments such as healthcare, higher education, and residential. 
Developing Economies±Expanding our geographic reach in areas of the world with significant growth potential 
New Markets±Developing new products and technologies that serve new markets 

Industry Analysis 
7KH� %XVLQHVV� DQG� ,QVWLWXWLRQDO� )XUQLWXUH� 0DQXIDFWXUHU¶V� $VVRFLDWLRQ� �%,)0$�� LV� WKH� WUDGH� DVVRFLDWLRQ� IRU� WKH� 8�6�� GRPHVWLF� RIfice 
furniture industry. We monitor the trade statistics reported by BIFMA and consider them an indicator of industry-wide sales and order 
performance. BIFMA publishes statistical data for the contract segment and the office supply segment within the U.S. furniture market. 
The U.S. contract segment is primarily with large to mid-size corporations installed via a network of dealers.  The office supply segment 
is primarily to smaller customers via wholesalers and retailers. We primarily participate, and are a leader in, the contract segment.  It is 
important to note that our diversification strategy lessens our dependence on the U.S. office furniture market. 

We also analyze BIFMA statistical information as a benchmark comparison against the performance of our domestic U.S. business 
and also to that of our competitors.  The timing of large project-based business may affect comparisons to this data. Finally, BIFMA 
regularly provides its members with industry forecast information, which we use internally as one of many considerations in our short 
and long-range planning process. 
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0DQDJHPHQW·V�'LVFXVVLRQ�DQG�$QDO\VLV�RI�)LQDQFLDO�&RQGLWLRQ�DQG�5HVXOWV�RI�2SHUDWLRQV�(continued) 

Discussion of Business Conditions 
Our fiscal years ended May 30, 2009 and May 31, 2008 each included 52 weeks of operations.  

Fiscal 2009 was a year marked with unprecedented economic challenges and uncertainties. We are encouraged by our 
achievements in the face of these economic conditions. We were able to maintain solid operating income performance despite a rapid 
and steep decline in revenue, as we acted quickly to adjust our cost structure. While we took significant steps in reducing our cost 
structure, it did not prevent us from continuing to invest in our strategy of problem solving design and innovation. We introduced several 
new products designed to reach customers in nearly all areas of our business.  These new products made a strong showing at NeoCon, 
WKH�FRQWUDFW� IXUQLWXUH� LQGXVWU\¶V� ODUJHVW� WUDGHVKRZ��2XU�QHZO\� LQWURGXFHG�FKDLU��6HWXTM��ZRQ� ³*ROG´� IRU�FRQIHUHQFH�URRP�VHDWLQJ��DQG�
³6LOYHU´� LQ� WKH� lounge seating category.  Our Embody TM FKDLU�ZRQ� ³6LOYHU´� LQ� WDVN�VHDWLQJ�DQG�ZH�ZHUH�QDPHG�³0DQXIDFWXUHU�RI� WKH�
<HDU´�E\�WKH�2IILFH�)XUQLWXUH�'HDOHUV�$VVRFLDWLRQ�IRU�WKH�VHFRQG�\HDU�LQ�D�URZ���

In fiscal 2009, we significantly changed our capital structure to align with the economic conditions. We suspended our share 
repurchases and focused on cash conservation and strengthening our balance sheet. Our intent to conserve cash is both a defensive 
strategy as well as offensive. We reduced our dividend in the fourth quarter from $.088 per share to $.022 per share. This adjustment 
aligns our dividend payout with our historic dividend metrics. We also announced and implemented several initiatives to improve our 
operating profitability and cash flow. We put in place a restructuring action that eliminated approximately 1,400 full-time positions and 
temporary workers. We took further action to reduce our cost structure by $30 million by adjusting our work schedule, working 9 out of 
every 10 days, and suspending our 401(k) match. All these actions allowed us to end the year with a cash and investment balance of 
$204.2 million. Given the uncertain nature of the current economic environment we have taken a number of actions to increase our 
financial strength and flexibility. At the same time, we believe there will be opportunities to increase market share for companies that are 
able to take advantage of these conditions.  For example, subsequent to year-end we announced the acquisition of Nemschoff Chairs, 
LLC, (Nemschoff) a provider of lobby room seating and furnishings, administrative office lounge seating, and a wide range of healthcare 
patient room furniture products. We believe this acquisition, coupled with our recent acquisition of Brandrud, will make us the number 
one provider of furniture in healthcare environments. 

Additionally, after year±end we renegotiated our syndicated revolving line of credit, reducing our availability from $250 million to $150 
million, while giving us additional covenant flexibility. We also completed the repurchase of $75 million of our outstanding public bonds. 
In addition to improving our covenant metrics this action also significantly reduces our interest expense moving forward. 

In May we announced the closing of a manufacturing facility. This closing, which will take place over the next 9 to 12 months, will 
provide significant savings once completed.   As a result of our HMPS process improvements, we do not believe this causes a reduction 
to our long-term manufacturing capacity. 

While many of the decisions we made were difficult and had negative impacts on some of our employee-owners, they were made as 
a result of unprecedented economic conditions.  Overall we are pleased with our performance for the year and the opportunities in front 
of us. 

Looking forward, the general economic outlook for our industry in the U.S. is expected to be negative through calendar year 2009, 
and we remain appropriately cautious as a result. BIFMA issued its most recent report in May 2009 expecting that the growth rate of 
office furniture orders and shipments in the U.S. for calendar 2009 will be negative 29.3 percent and 28.6 percent, respectively. For 
calendar 2010, BIFMA expects positive 2.6 percent and 2.8 percent growth for orders and sales, respectively.  This forecasted 
improvement is based upon an assumption of a slight improvement in the U.S. economy in the fourth quarter of calendar 2009 and the 
first quarter of 2010. 
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0DQDJHPHQW·V�'LVFXVVLRQ�DQG�$QDO\VLV�RI�)LQDQFLDO�&RQGLWLRQ�DQG�5HVXOWV�RI�2SHUDWions (continued) 

Financial Results  
The following is a comparison of our annual results of operations and year-over-year percentage changes for the periods indicated. 
(Dollars In millions) Fiscal 2009 % Chg Fiscal 2008 % Chg Fiscal 2007 

from 2008 from 2007 

Net sales 
Cost of sales 
Gross margin 
Operating expenses 
Operating earnings 
Net Other expenses 

$1,630.0 
1,102.3 

527.7 
404.9 
122.8 

23.9 

(19.0)% 
(16.1)% 
(24.5)% 
(10.4)% 
(50.2)% 

47.5% 

$2,012.1 
1,313.4 

698.7 
452.1 
246.6 

16.2 

4.9% 
3.2% 
8.2% 
1.0% 

24.5% 
45.9% 

$1,918.9 
1,273.0 

645.9 
447.8 
198.1 

11.1 
Earnings before income taxes 
Income tax expense 
Minority interest, net of tax 
Net earnings 

98.9 
31.0 
(0.1) 

$68.0 

(57.1)% 
(60.4)% 

²
(55.4)% 

230.4 
78.2 
(0.1) 

$152.3 

23.2% 
35.1% 

NA 
18.0% 

187.0 
57.9 
²

$129.1 

The IROORZLQJ�WDEOH�SUHVHQWV��IRU�WKH�SHULRGV�LQGLFDWHG��WKH�FRPSRQHQWV�RI�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�&RQVROLGDWHG�6WDWHPHQWV�RI�2SHUDWLRQV�DV a 
percentage of net sales. 
Fiscal Year Ended May 30, 2009  May 31, 2008  June 2, 2007 

Net sales 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 
Cost of sales 67.6 65.3 66.3 
Gross margin 32.4 34.7 33.7 
Selling, general, and administrative expenses 20.3 19.7 20.6 
Restructuring 1.7 0.3 ²
Design and research expenses 2.8 2.5 2.7 
Total operating expenses 24.8 22.5 23.3 
Operating earnings 7.5 12.3 10.3 
Net other expenses 1.5 0.8 0.6 
Earnings before income taxes 6.1 11.5 9.7 
Income tax expense 1.9 3.9 3.0 
Net earnings 4.2 7.6 6.7 

Net Sales, Orders, and Backlog 
Fiscal 2009 Compared to Fiscal 2008 
For the fiscal year ended May 31, 2009, consolidated net sales declined 19.0 percent to $1,630.0 million from $2,012.1 million in fiscal 
2008. This year-over-year decline was driven by the global economic environment and was experienced across nearly all operating 
and geographic units. The strengthening of the U.S. dollar during fiscal 2009 against most major foreign currencies reduced our top line 
by approximately $30 million.  

Consolidated net trade orders for fiscal 2009 totaled $1,565 million. This is comparable to net trade orders of $2,009 million last year, 
and represents a decrease of 22 percent. Starting with the financial market volatility in the early fall in part related to the instability in the 
banking industry we experienced a sudden and dramatic fall in order rates through most of the third quarter. Orders rates stabilized 
through the fourth quarter, albeit at much lower level than last year. The strong dollar reduced orders by approximately $38 million 
compared with the prior year. 

Our backlog of unfilled orders at the end of fiscal 2009 totaled $208 million, a 27 percent decline from $286 million at the end of fiscal 
2008. 

BIFMA reported an estimated year-over-year decline in U.S. office furniture shipments of approximately 13.8 percent for the twelve­
month period ended May 2009.  By comparison, the net sales decline for our domestic U.S. business was approximately 14.6 percent. 
We believe that while comparisons to BIFMA are important, we continue to pursue a strategy of revenue diversification that makes us 
less reliant on the drivers that impact BIFMA. 
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0DQDJHPHQW·V�'LVFXVVLRQ�DQG�$QDO\VLV�RI�)LQDQFLDO�&RQGLWLRQ�DQG�5HVXOWV�RI�2SHUDWLRQV
Financial Results (continued) 

Fiscal 2008 Compared to Fiscal 2007 
Consolidated net sales of $2,012.1 million in fiscal year 2008 increased $93.2 million from fiscal 2007. This increase of 4.9 percent was 
driven by growth within both of our reportable business segments. 

Consolidated net trade orders in fiscal 2008 totaled $2,009 million representing a year-over-year growth of 2.1 percent from orders of 
$1,967 million in fiscal 2007. 

The backlog of unfilled orders at the end of fiscal 2008 totaled $286 million, decreasing 0.7 percent from the fiscal 2007 level of $288 
million. 

In the second quarter of fiscal 2008, we announced a restructuring program designed to reduce operating expenses and improve 
profitability. These actions included the elimination of approximately 150 full-time positions within the North American Furniture 
Solutions segment.  The positions that were eliminated represented a variety of functional areas, and the individuals affected were 
offered one-time termination benefits, including severance and outplacement services.  Pre-tax restructuring expenses for fiscal 2008 of 
$5.1 million, are reflected separately in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.  The related cash payments were $4.5 million in 
fiscal 2008. The balance of the restructuring accrual at May 31, 2008 was $0.6 million, and is reflected on the Consolidated Balance 
6KHHW�ZLWKLQ�³2WKHU�DFFUXHG�OLDELOLWLHV�´

Discussion of Business Segments 
Fiscal 2009 Compared to Fiscal 2008 
Net sales within our North American Furniture Solutions segment decreased from $1,636 million in fiscal 2008 to $1,349 million in the 
current year. This represents a year-over-year decrease of $287 million or 17.5 percent. We experienced a decline throughout our 
North American business operations, however, there were customer types within this segment that performed better than the overall 
average, primarily education, government and healthcare customers. Operating earnings for the segment in fiscal 2009 were $133 
million, or 9.9 percent of net sales. This compares to segment earnings of $195.9 million or 12.0 percent in the prior year. With a top-
line decline of 17.5 percent within the segment, we saw both dollar and percent-of-sales decreases to operating earnings in the North 
$PHULFDQ�)XUQLWXUH�6ROXWLRQV�VHJPHQW��7KLV�VHJPHQW¶V�DELOLW\�WR�JHQHUDWH�VWURQJ�RSHUDWLQJ�SHUIRUPDQFH�GHVSLWH�D�VLJQLILFDQW�Gecline in 
volume is largely due to the variable business model in place, which allowed costs to be shed as the top line declined as well as our 
execution of the restructuring plan discussed above. 

Net sales from our non-North American Furniture Solutions segment declined $85 million or 26% from the prior year. The decline 
was compounded by the strengthening of the U.S. dollar against most foreign currencies. Nearly every region within the segment 
posted decreases in year-over-year net sales. There were pockets of resiliency including the Middle East, South America, and 
Australia. Total net sales for the segment were $238 million, versus $323 million in the prior year. The regions which were the hardest 
hit by the current economy were the U.K. which was down 35%, and Japan, down 47%. Operating earnings within our non-North 
American segment totaled $15 million for the year or 6.3 percent of net sales.  This compares to $47 million or 14.6 percent of net sales 
in fiscal 2008, a decrease of 830 basis points.  Despite the decline in operating income, our low fixed cost model generated positive 
income with rapid declines in the top-line. 
1HW�VDOHV�ZLWKLQ�WKH�³2WKHU´�VHJPHQW�FDWHJRU\�ZHUH�����PLOOLRQ�LQ�ILVFDO������FRPSDUHG�WR�����PLOOLRQ�LQ�WKH�SULRU�\HDU��7KH�decrease 

is the result of net sales declining within our North American Home business, primarily due to the challenges associated with the U.S. 
macroeconomic environment.  This overall decrease was somewhat offset by sales to a new retail customer. 

The U.S. dollar strengthened against most major currencies throughout fiscal 2009. The changes in currency exchange rates from 
the prior year affected the U.S. dollar value of net sales within both primary operating segments.  We estimate these changes effectively 
decreased our fiscal 2009 net sales within the North American Furniture Solutions segment by approximately $18 million, driven largely 
by the U.S. dollar / Canadian dollar and the Mexican peso average exchange rate during the current year.  Currency exchange rate 
fluctuations within our non-North American Furniture Solutions segment decreased net sales in fiscal 2009 by approximately $12 
million. This was primarily driven by movements in the U.S. dollar / British pound sterling. It is important to note that period-to-period 
changes in currency exchange rates have a directionally similar impact on our international cost structures. Operating earnings within 
our non-North American segment increased an estimated $1.5 million in fiscal 2009 due to the aforementioned changes in currency 
exchange rates relative to the prior year level. The estimated impact on operating earnings of our North American business segment 
was a decrease of approximately $1 million.  
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0DQDJHPHQW·V�'LVFXVVLRQ�DQG�$QDO\VLV�RI�)LQDQFLDO�&RQGLWLRQ�DQG�5HVXOWV�RI�2SHUDWLRQV
Financial Results (continued) 

Fiscal 2008 Compared to Fiscal 2007 
Net sales within our North American Furniture Solutions segment increased from $1,563.6 million in fiscal 2007 to $1,636.3 million in 
fiscal 2008. This represents a year-over-year increase of $72.7 million or 4.7 percent.  We experienced growth throughout our North 
American business operations, but particularly strong growth was experienced in the healthcare industry which posted double-digit 
year-over-year growth.  The healthcare industry remains a key growth area within the segment and lines up with our strategy to pursue 
diversification. Sales at our Mexican subsidiary again reached double-digit growth over fiscal 2007. Canadian sales turned around from 
a flat year in 2007 to impressive double-digit growth in fiscal 2008.  Operating earnings for the segment in fiscal 2008 were $195.9 
million, or 12.0 percent of net sales. This compares to segment earnings of $161.7 million or 10.3 percent in fiscal 2007. With top-line 
growth of 4.7 percent within the segment, we saw both dollar and percent-of-sales increases to operating earnings in the North 
$PHULFDQ�)XUQLWXUH�6ROXWLRQV�VHJPHQW�� �7KLV�VHJPHQW¶V�VWURQJ�RSHUDWLQJ�SHUIRUPDQFH� LV� ODUJHO\�GXH� WR� LPSURYHG�PDUJLQV�RQ�FHUWain 
recently introduced products, our focus on cost management, and our execution of the restructuring plan discussed above. 

Net sales from our non-North American Furniture Solutions segment grew at double-digit rates. Every region within the segment 
posted increases in year-over-year net sales.  Total net sales for the segment were $323.5 million, up $45.0 million or 16.2 percent.  
Sales generated from our non-North American Furniture Solutions segment increased to 16.1 percent of our consolidated net sales, an 
increase of 160 basis points from 14.5 percent in fiscal 2007.  The largest sales contribution within this segment came from our 
operations in the United Kingdom, which posted a 17.5 percent year-over-year increase to the top line.  We also saw a strong increase 
in net sales within continental Europe.  Our results within the Asia Pacific region are particularly noteworthy, growing by 26.8 percent 
from fiscal 2007. We continued to pursue our diversification strategy and the effects are clearly visible in these results.  Operating 
earnings within our non-North American segment totaled $47.3 million for the year or 14.6 percent of net sales.  This compares to $28.9 
million or 10.4 percent of net sales in fiscal 2007, an increase of 420 basis points.  
1HW� VDOHV� ZLWKLQ� WKH� ³2WKHU´� VHJPHQW� FDWHJRU\�were $52.3 million in fiscal 2008 compared to $76.8 million in fiscal 2007.  The 

decrease is primarily the result of OEM Sales of $20.4 million recognized in fiscal 2007 that did not occur in fiscal 2008.  Net sales 
within our North American Home business were down 8.3 percent primarily due to the challenges associated with the U.S. 
macroeconomic environment. 

The U.S. dollar continued to weaken against major currencies throughout fiscal 2008.  The changes in currency exchange rates from 
fiscal 2007 affected the U.S. dollar value of net sales within both primary operating segments.  We estimate these changes effectively 
increased our fiscal 2008 net sales within the North American Furniture Solutions segment by approximately $12 million, driven largely 
by the U.S. dollar / Canadian dollar average exchange rate during the current year.  Currency exchange rate fluctuations within our non-
North American Furniture Solutions segment, increased net sales in fiscal 2008 by approximately $15 million.  This was primarily driven 
by favorable movements in the U.S. dollar / British pound sterling and U.S. dollar / euro exchange rates as compared to fiscal 2007. It is 
important to note that period-to-period changes in currency exchange rates have a directionally similar impact on our international cost 
structures. Operating earnings within our non-North American segment increased an estimated $6 million in fiscal 2008 due to the 
aforementioned changes in currency exchange rates relative to fiscal 2007.  The estimated impact on operating earnings of our North 
American business segment was an increase of approximately $1 million.  

Gross Margin 
Fiscal 2009 Compared to Fiscal 2008 
Our fiscal 2009 gross margin as a percentage of sales was 32.4 percent, a decline of 230 basis points from the prior year level.  Higher 
direct material costs from vendors coupled with significantly lower volumes contributed to this decreased gross margin performance 
year-over-year. Details relative to each component of gross margin follow. 

Direct material costs as a percentage of sales in the current year increased 220 basis points.  The impact was front end loaded as 
raw material prices increased dramatically in the first half of the year, stabilized in the third quarter, and then declined substantially by 
the end of the year ending at approximately the same level they began the year.   

Our direct labor costs were higher by only 10 basis points as a percentage of sales from prior year levels.  First and foremost, this 
performance is an indication of the speed with which action was taken to reduce costs in the face of a significant decrease to net sales. 
This change in performance is also reflective of increased efficiency which was offset by the underlying increases in benefit costs, 
particularly medical benefits. 

Overhead costs decreased by $52 million from fiscal 2008. Our ability to react quickly to the sales decline, coupled with the variable 
nature of our business model, allowed us to actually improve overhead by 10 basis points from the prior year. This decrease in costs 
was a result of the restructuring actions which took place during the year and related primarily to headcount.    

Freight expenses, as a percentage of sales, were modestly lower compared to 2008 levels.  Contributing to the reduction in freight 
expenses was a significant decrease in diesel fuel prices in the United States, as we moved through the year. 
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0DQDJHPHQW·V�'LVFXVVLRQ�DQG�$QDO\VLV�RI�)LQDQFLDO�&RQGLWLRQ�DQG�5HVXOWV�RI�2SHUDWLRQV
Financial Results (continued) 

Fiscal 2008 Compared to Fiscal 2007 
Our fiscal 2008 gross margin as a percentage of sales was 34.7 percent, an improvement of 100 basis points from the prior year level. 
Favorable direct material costs contributed to this increased gross margin performance year-over-year.  Lower relative direct labor costs 
also boosted our margins while overhead expenses were slightly unfavorable.  Details relative to each component of gross margin 
follow. 

Direct material costs as a percentage of sales in fiscal 2008 decreased 100 basis points.  Although a higher sales volume favorably 
affected the percentage, the effect of our fixed contracts for the procurement of certain raw materials also contributed to the 
improvement.  The majority of our fixed-price contracts expired during the fourth quarter of the year and we began to see the impact of 
increased costs for our raw material inputs late in the year.  

Our direct labor costs were lower by 40 basis points as a percentage of sales from prior year levels.  This reduction is primarily due 
to higher sales volume, and our continued manufacturing process improvements. 

Overhead costs increased in fiscal 2008 from prior year levels.  We recognized certain costs associated with the completion of a 
large project, and had an overall shift into low margin service-related sales, which had the effect of increasing overhead costs by 30 
basis points in fiscal 2008.    

Freight expenses, as a percentage of sales, were modestly higher in fiscal 2008 compared to fiscal 2007 levels.  Contributing to the 
additional freight expenses was a significant increase in diesel prices in the United States.  We have continued to benefit from the 
efforts of our logistics teams to consolidate shipments, increase trailer utilization, and engage lower cost carriers, which together, 
served to mitigate the impact of increases in fuel costs.  Pricing also served to partially offset the increases in fuel costs. 

Restructuring 
In the second quarter of fiscal 2009, we announced a restructuring program designed to align our cost structure with the reality of the 
current economic conditions. These actions included the elimination of approximately 1,400 permanent and temporary positions across 
all segments. These reductions were permanent for our salaried workforce, while our direct labor positions were eliminated until 
business levels return. Those positions that were permanently eliminated represented a variety of functional areas, and the individuals 
affected were offered one-time termination benefits, including severance and outplacement services. Further actions were announced 
during the fourth quarter, which included a 10% reduction in the work schedule for most employees in the U.S., and the suspension of 
the 401(k) match. Within the non-North American Segment further reductions in force and a change to the work schedule were 
implemented to achieve similar savings. 

Additionally, in the fourth quarter we announced the plans to shut down our IMT facility in Spring Lake, Michigan. The operations 
within the plant will be moved to other owned facilities, and a small component of this work will be outsourced to suppliers. We 
anticipate this shutdown will be completed over the next 9 to 12 months. Only the expenses related to the curtailment and special 
termination benefits of the pension plan have been recognized in fiscal 2009. The remaining costs are expected to be incurred over the 
course of the planned shutdown. 

Pre-tax restructuring expenses for the aforementioned actions totaled $28.4 million in fiscal 2009, which are reflected separately in 
the Consolidated Statements of Operations. The related cash payments were $16.8 million in fiscal 2009. The balance of the 
restructuring accrual at May 30, 2009 is $11.6 million, and is reflected on the Consolidated Balance Sheet within ³2WKHU� DFFUXHG�
OLDELOLWLHV�´

Operating Expenses 
Fiscal 2009 Compared to Fiscal 2008 
Operating expenses in fiscal 2009 were $404.9 million, or 24.8 percent of net sales, which compares to $452.1 million, or 22.5 percent 
of net sales in the prior fiscal year.  Although there was a year-over-year decrease of $47.2 million, we experienced a 230 basis point 
increase to operating expenses as a percentage of sales compared to fiscal 2008.  A charge of $28.4 million for restructuring expenses 
as discussed above is included in fiscal 2009.  There was a restructuring charge of $5.1 million in fiscal 2008. 

The year-over-year dollar decline in expenses, excluding restructuring expense, was $70.5 million or 16%.  This is primarily due to a 
decrease in employee compensation and benefit costs as a result of the restructuring actions previously described, as well as a 
reduction in incentive compensation. 

12 2009 Annual Financial Statements 



 

 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
  

 
 

 
  

 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 

  

 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

0DQDJHPHQW·V�'LVFXVVLRQ�DQG�$QDO\VLV�RI�)LQDQFLDO�&RQGLWLRQ�DQG�5HVXOWV�RI�2SHUDWLRQV
Financial Results (continued) 

Year-over-year changes in currency exchange rates had a deflationary impact on operating expenses associated with our 
international operations, as measured in U.S. dollars.  We estimate these changes decreased our consolidated operating expenses in 
fiscal 2009 by approximately $6 million relative to the prior year. 

Design and research costs included in total operating expenses were $45.7 million and $51.2 million in fiscal 2009 and fiscal 2008, 
respectively. These expenses include royalty payments to the designers of our products.  We consider such royalty payments, which 
totaled $9.5 million and $12.4 million in fiscal years 2009 and 2008, respectively, to be variable costs of the products being sold. 
Accordingly, we do not include them in research and development costs as discussed in Note 1. 
Fiscal 2008 Compared to Fiscal 2007 
Operating expenses in fiscal 2008 were $452.1 million, or 22.5 percent of net sales.  This compares to $447.8 million or 23.3 percent of 
net sales in fiscal 2007.  Although there was a year-over-year increase of $4.3 million, we experienced an 80 basis point reduction to 
operating expenses as a percentage of sales compared to fiscal 2007.  A charge of $5.1 million for restructuring expenses was included 
in fiscal 2008. There were no restructuring expenses in fiscal 2007.  

The dollar increase from fiscal 2007 to fiscal 2008 in expenses is primarily due to increases in employee compensation and benefit 
costs, designer royalties, global selling expenses, program marketing costs, and the foreign exchange impact on operating expenses, 
partially offset by lower levels of charitable contributions, and savings from certain R&D and product management programs. Leverage 
on higher sales levels in fiscal 2008 drove the percent-of-sales reduction in operating expenses. 

Incremental employee compensation and benefit costs in fiscal 2008, which includes merit increases, stock-based compensation, 
and health benefits were an estimated $6 million higher than fiscal 2007.  Global selling costs and designer royalty expenses, both of 
which vary with net sales levels, were $3.7 million and $2.4 million higher, respectively, in fiscal 2008 than in fiscal 2007. In fiscal 2008, 
we continued our pursuit of bringing new and innovative products to market, which drove incremental program marketing expenses of 
$2.8 million compared to fiscal 2007. 

Year-over-year changes in currency exchange rates had an inflationary impact on operating expenses associated with our 
international operations, as measured in U.S. dollars.  We estimate these changes increased our consolidated operating expenses in 
fiscal 2008 by approximately $4.8 million relative to fiscal 2007. 

Partially offsetting these operating expense increases were charitable contributions that were $6.3 million lower than fiscal 2007 and 
a combined savings from certain R&D and product management programs of $6.6 million. 

Design and research costs included in total operating expenses were $51.2 million and $52.0 million in fiscal 2008 and fiscal 2007, 
respectively. These expenses include royalty payments to the designers of our products.  We consider such royalty payments, which 
totaled $12.4 million and $9.9 million in fiscal years 2008 and 2007, respectively, to be variable costs of the products being sold. 
Accordingly, we do not include them in research and development costs as discussed in Note 1. 

Operating Earnings 
Fiscal 2009 operating earnings were $122.8 million, which represents a decrease of 50.2 percent from our fiscal 2008 level of $246.6 
million. As a percentage of net sales, operating earnings in fiscal 2009 decreased to 7.5 percent of net sales, a 480 basis-point 
decrease from the 12.3 percent reported in the prior year. The increase in restructuring expense led to 90 basis points of the decline 
while the remainder is largely a result of the decline in volume.  In fiscal year 2007, we reported operating earnings of $198.1 million or 
10.3 percent of net sales.  

Other Expenses and Income 
Net other expenses totaled $23.9 million in fiscal 2009 compared to $16.2 million in the prior year and $11.1 million in fiscal 2007. The 
increase in expense in fiscal 2009 compared to fiscal 2008 was principally driven by additional interest expense of $6.8 million in the 
current year associated with the additional senior subordinated notes.  Net foreign currency transaction losses recorded in fiscal 2009 
totaled $1.1 million versus a $0.1 million gain in fiscal 2008. 

The year-over-year increase in net other expenses of $5.1 million between fiscal 2008 and fiscal 2007 was also as a result of higher 
interest expense related to the aforementioned debt issued in December of 2007. 
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0DQDJHPHQW·V�'LVFXVVLRQ�DQG�$QDO\VLV�RI�)LQDQFLDO�&RQGLWLRQ�DQG�5HVXOWV�RI�2SHUDWLRQV
Financial Results (continued) 

Income Taxes 
Our effective tax rate was 31.4 percent in fiscal 2009 versus 33.9 percent in fiscal 2008 and 31.0% in fiscal 2007. The effective rate in 
fiscal 2009 was below the statutory rate of 35%, primarily due to the domestic U.S. manufacturing tax incentive and the realization of 
foreign tax credits. The effective rate in fiscal 2008 was below the statutory rate primarily due to the domestic U.S. manufacturing tax 
incentive. The effective rate in fiscal 2007 was lower than the statutory rate primarily due to $4.3 million in tax credits for foreign taxes, 
other credits for research and development activities, and tax incentives for export sales and domestic manufacturing.   

We expect our effective tax rate for fiscal 2010 to be between 27 and 29 percent. For further information regarding income taxes, 
refer to Note 15. 

Net Earnings 
In fiscal 2009 we generated $68.0 million of net earnings.  This compares to net earnings in fiscal 2008 and fiscal 2007 of $152.3 million 
and $129.1 million, respectively. Fiscal 2009 diluted earnings per share were $1.25.  Earnings per diluted share in fiscal 2008 were 
$2.56 and $1.98 in fiscal 2007. 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 
The table below presents certain key cash flow and capital highlights for the fiscal years indicated. 

(In millions) 2009 2008 2007 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $192.9 $155.4 $76.4 

Short term investments, end of period  $11.3 $15.7 $15.9 

Cash generated from operating activities  $91.7  $213.6 $137.7 

Cash used for investing activities $(29.5) $(51.0) $(37.4) 

Cash used for financing activities $(16.5) $(86.5) $(131.5) 

Pension and post-retirement benefit plan contributions $(5.3) $(5.2) $(7.6) 

Capital expenditures $(25.3) $(40.5) $(41.3) 

Stock repurchased and retired $(.3) $(266.7) $(164.9) 

Interest-bearing debt, end of period(1)(3) $377.4 $375.5 $176.2 

Available unsecured credit facility, end of period(2)(3) $236.9 $236.9 $136.9 

(1) $PRXQWV�VKRZQ�LQFOXGH�WKH�IDLU�PDUNHW�YDOXH�RI�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�LQWHUHVW�UDWH�VZDS�DUUDQJHPHQW�V���7KH�QHW�IDLU�YDOXH�RI�WKLV�WKese arrangement(s) was/were $2.4 million at May 30, 
2009, $0.5 million at May 31, 2008, and $(1.8) million at June 2, 2007. 

(2) $PRXQWV�VKRZQ�DUH�QHW�RI�RXWVWDQGLQJ�OHWWHUV�RI�FUHGLW��ZKLFK�DUH�DSSOLHG�DJDLQVW�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�XQVHFXUHG�FUHGLW�IDFLOLW\��DQd excludes the $100 million accordion feature disclosed 
in Note 9. 

(3) During the third quarter of fiscal 2008, the company issued new senior unsecured private placement notes and replaced its unsecured revolving credit facility.  
 Refer to Notes 9 and 10 to the consolidated financial statements for additional information. 

Cash Flow ± Operating Activities 
Cash generated from operating activities in fiscal 2009 totaled $91.7 million compared to $213.6 million generated in the prior year. This 
represents a decrease of $121.9 million compared to fiscal 2008. Changes in working capital balances resulted in a $34.4 million use of 
cash in the current fiscal year compared to an $11.8 million source of cash in the prior year.  

The use of cash related to working capital balances in fiscal 2009 is primarily driven from decreased current liabilities of $102.3 
million over the prior year. The reduction in liabilities is primarily related to reductions in accounts payable related to inventory, and 
accruals related to regular and incentive compensation. The use of cash is partially offset by volume related declines in accounts 
receivables of $60.1 million and inventories of $17.8 million. Accounts receivable declined 28.8% from the prior year, though it should 
be noted, this decline is not as substantial as the quarterly decline in sales. However, this lag is not reflective of deterioration of the 
accounts receivable aging, but rather the timing of the sales within the fourth quarter and the customer type. Certain direct customers 
and geographic customers tend to have a longer pay cycle.  A relatively large percentage of the North American accounts receivable 
increase pertains to our Mexican subsidiary which has the longest cash collection cycle in the North American segment. 
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0DQDJHPHQW·V�'LVFXVVLRQ�DQG�$QDO\VLV�RI�)LQDQFLDO�&RQGLWLRQ�DQG�5HVXOWV�RI�2SHUDWLRQV
Financial Results (continued) 

The source of cash related to working capital balances in fiscal 2008 is primarily driven from increased current liabilities of $33.1 
million over the prior year, and to a lesser extent, lower inventory of $2.6 million from prior year levels.  The increase in current liabilities 
is comprised of $16.6 million in tax-related accruals, $6.1 million of increased trade accounts payable and $10.4 million of other 
accruals. These sources of cash are offset partially by increases in volume-related accounts receivable of $21.3 million due to 
increased sales inside and outside North America.  

The working capital investment in fiscal 2007 was related to increases in inventory and accounts receivable, primarily due to the 
significant level of growth in our non-North American Furniture Solutions segment.  A contributing factor to the working capital 
investment during fiscal 2007 relates to our business with the U.S. federal government.  Order activity with the federal government 
increased significantly during fiscal 2007, particularly during the first and second quarters.  These sales generally require a longer cash 
collection cycle than do sales to independent contract furniture dealers. Accordingly, we experienced a related increase in accounts 
receivable.  Inventory levels were also affected by this growth in federal government business, since we are generally required to hold 
product in inventory longer than with non-government business. This extended inventory holding period is necessary to be consistent 
with our revenue recognition policy for direct customer sales. 

Collections of accounts receivable remained strong throughout the year, and we believe our recorded accounts receivable valuation 
allowances at the end of fiscal 2009 are adequate to cover the risk of potential bad debts. Allowances for non-collectible accounts 
receivable, as a percent of gross accounts receivable, totaled 4.7 percent, 2.6 percent, and 2.5 percent at the end of fiscal years 2009, 
2008, and 2007, respectively. 

Included in operating cash flows are cash contributions made to our employee pension and post-retirement benefit plans which 
totaled $5.3 million, $5.2 million, and $7.6 million in fiscal years 2009, 2008, and 2007, respectively. For further information regarding 
WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�SHQVLRQ�DQG�SRVW-retirement benefit plans, including information relative to the funded status of these plans, refer to Note 
12. 

Cash Flow ± Investing Activities 
Capital expenditures totaled $25.3 million, $40.5 million and $41.3 million in fiscal 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.  Outstanding 
commitments for future capital purchases at the end of fiscal 2009 were approximately $6.2 million.  We expect capital spending in 
fiscal 2010 to be between $25 million and $32 million.  

Included in our fiscal 2009 investing activities, is a net cash outflow of $26.6 million related to the completion of our acquisition of 
Brandrud, and $2.9 million related to our acquisition of certain elements of Ruskin Industries. In fiscal 2008, our investing activities 
included a net cash outflow of $11.7 million related to the acquisition of Brandrud.  In fiscal 2007, our investing activities reflected a 
cash outflow of $3.5 million related to the acquisition of a technology company.  This acquisition added enhanced functionality to the 
existing product portfolio for our Convia subsidiary.  Refer to Note 2 for further information related to these acquisitions. 

Our net marketable securities transactions for fiscal 2009 yielded a $3.4 million source of cash.  This compares to a $0.3 million 
source of cash in fiscal 2008. 

In fiscal 2009, we were advanced $19.3 million of cash against the value of company owned life insurance policies. This is reflected 
as cash proceeds from investing activities in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows.   

Cash Flow ± Financing Activities 
(In millions, except share and per share data)  2009  2008  2007 

Shares acquired 2,138,701 7,488,430 5,116,375 

Cost of shares acquired(1) $0.3 $266.7 $164.9 

Average cost per share acquired(1) NA NA $32.23 

Shares issued 257,765 276,002 2,001,348 

Average price per share issued $14.7 $23.73 $25.19 

Cash dividends paid $19.2 $21.2 $20.7 

(1) On January 3, 2008, the company entered into two agreements to purchase shares of its common stock from Morgan Stanley & Co. Inc., for an aggregate purchase price of $200 
PLOOLRQ��SOXV�IHHV��XQGHU�DQ�$FFHOHUDWHG�6KDUH�5HSXUFKDVH��³$65´��SURJUDP���7KH�FRPSDQ\�HQWered into these agreements as part of a repurchase program approved by its Board 
of Directors. The number of shares purchased under the ASR program was based on the volume-weighted-DYHUDJH�SULFH�RI�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�FRPPRQ�VWRFN�GXULQJ�WKH�WHUP�RI�WKH�
agreements. On January 4, 2008 the company paid $200.6 million in exchange for an initial delivery of 4.4 million shares, representing 70% of the shares that could have been 
purchased, based on the closing price of its common stock on January 3, 2008. An additional 1.0 million shares were delivered during the remainder of fiscal 2008.  An additional 
2.1 million shares were delivered on September 9, 2008, which completed the ASR program. The total number of shares repurchased under the ASR was 7,538,718 at an average 
price of $26.61 per share. 
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0DQDJHPHQW·V�'LVFXVVLRQ�DQG�$QDO\VLV�RI�)LQDQFLDO�&RQGLWLRQ�DQG�5HVXOWV�RI�2SHUDWLRQV
Financial Results (continued) 

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009 we announced a reduction in the cash dividend effective for first quarter of fiscal 2010 payment. 
This change will reduce the cash dividend to $0.022 per share versus a total quarterly cash dividend of $0.088 per share that was paid 
through the third quarter of fiscal 2009. 

In fiscal 2008 we completed a debt financing transaction involving the issuance of $200 million in senior unsecured private placement 
notes. Notes totaling $50 million are due in January 2015, and bear interest at a fixed annual coupon rate of 5.94 percent.  The 
remaining $150 million of these notes are due in January 2018 and bear interest at a fixed annual coupon rate of 6.42 percent. We 
used the $200 million proceeds from the notes for an ASR of our common stock.  Refer to Note 10 for more information related to our 
long-term debt. 

In fiscal 2008, we also completed a refinancing of our existing unsecured credit facility, increasing our borrowing capacity from $150 
million to $250 million.  The new credit facility includes a $100 million increase option, subject to customary conditions.  The facility may 
be used to refinance existing debt, provide working capital or for other general corporate purposes.  In fiscal 2008, we also paid off $2.1 
million of debt on behalf of Brandrud, our most recent acquisition. 

As part of our decision to conserve cash we suspended share repurchases during fiscal 2009. In fiscal 2008 we repurchased shares 
totaling $267 million. The amount remaining under our share repurchase authorization at the end of fiscal 2009 totaled $171.1 million. 

Interest-bearing debt at the end of fiscal 2009 of $377.4 million increased $1.9 million from the end of fiscal 2008, as compared to a 
$199.3 million increase during the prior fiscal year.  The increase in fiscal 2009 is a result in the change in the fair value of our interest 
rate swap instrument, while the increase in fiscal 2008 related primarily to the issuance of $200 million of private placement notes. 

The only usage against our unsecured revolving credit facility at the end of fiscal years 2009 and 2008 represented outstanding 
standby letters of credit totaling $13.1 million at each date. The provisions of our private placement notes and unsecured credit facility 
require that we adhere to certain covenant restrictions and maintain certain performance ratios. We were in compliance with all such 
restrictions and performance ratios during fiscal 2009. 

In fiscal 2009, we received $3.4 million related to the issuance of shares in connection with stock-based benefit plans.  This 
compares to receiving $6.5 million and $50.4 million in fiscal 2008 and fiscal 2007, respectively. 

During fiscal 2009 and 2008 we repatriated $8.0 million and $23.9 million of undistributed foreign earnings, respectively.  
We believe cash on hand, cash generated from operations, and our borrowing capacity will provide adequate liquidity to fund near 

term and future business operations and capital needs, subject to financing availability in the marketplace. 

Contingencies 
The company leases a facility in the U.K. under an agreement that expires in June 2011. Under the terms of the lease, the company is 
required to perform the maintenance and repairs necessary to address the general dilapidation of the facility over the lease term. The 
ultimate cost of this provision to the company is dependent on a number of factors including, but not limited to, the future use of the 
facility by the lessor and whether the company chooses and is permitted to renew the lease term. The company has estimated the cost 
of these maintenance and repairs to be between $0 and $3 million, depending on the outcome of future plans and negotiations. Based 
on existing circumstances, it is estimated that these costs will most likely approximate $1.0 million.  As a result, this amount has been 
UHFRUGHG�DV�D�OLDELOLW\�UHIOHFWHG�XQGHU�WKH�FDSWLRQ�³2WKHU�/LDELOLWLHV´�LQ�WKH�&RQVROLGDWHG�%DODQFH�6KHHWV�DV�RI�0D\����������DQG�0D\�����
2008. 

The company has a lease obligation in the U.K. until May 2014 for a facility that it previously exited.  Current market rates for 
comparable office space are lower than the rental payments owed under the lease agreement, as such, the company would remain 
liable to pay the difference. As of May 30, 2009 and May 31, 2008 the future cost of this arrangement was estimated to be $1.6 million 
and $2.0 million respectively. AccordingO\�WKLV�DPRXQW�LV�UHIOHFWHG�ZLWKLQ�³2WKHU�/LDELOLWLHV´�RQ�WKH�&RQVROLGDWHG�%DODQFH�6KHHWV�DV�RI�
these dates. 
7KH�FRPSDQ\�LV�LQYROYHG�LQ�OHJDO�SURFHHGLQJV�DQG�OLWLJDWLRQ�DULVLQJ�LQ�WKH�RUGLQDU\�FRXUVH�RI�EXVLQHVV��,W�LV�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�Rpinion that 

the outcome of such proceedings and litigation currently pending will not materially affect its Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Basis of Presentation 
7KH�FRPSDQ\¶V�ILVFDO�\HDU�HQGV�RQ�WKH�6DWXUGD\�FORVHVW�WR�0D\�����7KH�ILVFDO�\HDUV�HQGHG�0D\�����������0D\�������08, and June 2, 
2007 each included 52 weeks of operations.  This is the basis upon which weekly-average data is presented.  
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0DQDJHPHQW·V�'LVFXVVLRQ�DQG�$QDO\VLV�RI�)LQDQFLDO�&RQGLWLRQ�DQG�5HVXOWV�RI�2SHUDWLRQV�(continued) 

Contractual Obligations 
Contractual obligations associated with our ongoing business and financing activities will result in cash payments in future periods. The 
following table summarizes the amounts and estimated timing of these future cash payments. Further information regarding debt 
obligations can be found in Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Likewise, further information related to operating leases 
can be found in Note 11. 
(In millions) Payments due by fiscal year 

Total 2010 2011-2012 2013-2014 Thereafter 

Long-term debt(1)(7) $375.0 $75.0 $100.0 $²  $200.0 
Estimated interest on debt obligations(2) 110.1 18.9 29.5 25.2 36.5 
Operating leases 61.8 16.3 24.5 13.2 7.8 
Purchase obligations(3) 20.6 18.6 1.7 0.3 ²
Pension plan funding(4) 0.3 0.3 ² ² ²
Shareholder dividends(5)(7) 1.2 1.2 ² ² ²
Other(6)(7) 9.0 2.2 1.5 1.5 3.8 

Total $578.0 $132.5 $157.2 $40.2 $248.1 

(1) Amounts indicated do not include the recorded fair value of interest rate swap instruments. 
(2) Estimated future interest payments on our outstanding debt obligations are based on interest rates as of May 30, 2009. Actual cash outflows may differ significantly due to changes 

in underlying interest rates and timing of principal payments. 
(3) Purchase obligations consist of non-cancelable purchase orders and commitments for goods, services, and capital assets. 
(4) Pension funding commitments are defined as the estimated minimum funding requirements to be made in the following 12-month period. Such funding, if any, is not known beyond 

fiscal 2010. As of May 30, 2009, the total accumulated benefit obligation for our domestic and international employee pension benefit plans was $337.1 million. 
(5) Represents the recorded dividend payable as of May 30, 2009. Future dividend payments are not considered contractual obligations until declared. 
(6) Other contractual obligations primarily represent long-term commitments related to deferred and supplemental employee compensation benefits, other post-employment benefits, 

and minimum designer royalty payments. 
(7) Total balance is reflected as a liability in the Consolidated Balance Sheet at May 30, 2009. 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 
Guarantees 
We provide certain guarantees to third parties under various arrangements in the form of product warranties, loan guarantees, standby 
letters of credit, lease guarantees, performance bonds, and indemnification provisions. These arrangements are accounted for and 
GLVFORVHG� LQ� DFFRUGDQFH� ZLWK� ),1� ���� ³*XDUDQWRU¶V� $FFRXQWLQJ� DQG� 'LVFORVure Requirement for Guarantees, Including Indirect 
*XDUDQWHHV�RI�,QGHEWHGQHVV�RI�2WKHUV´�DV�GHVFULEHG�LQ�1RWH����WR�WKH�&RQVROLGDWHG�)LQDQFLDO�6WDWHPHQWV�

Variable Interest Entities 
On occasion, we provide financial support to certain independent dealers in the form of term loans, lines of credit, and loan guarantees. 
At May 30, 2009 and May 31, 2008, we were not considered the primary beneficiary of any such dealer relationships as defined by 
)$6%�,QWHUSUHWDWLRQ�1R������³&RQVROLGDWLRQ�RI�9DULDEOH�,QWHUHVW�(QWLWLHV´��),1����5���DQG�WKHUHIRUH��QR�HQWLWLHV�ZHUH��LQFOXGHG�DV�9,(V�DV�
of these dates. 

The risks and rewards associated with our interests in these dealerships are primarily limited to our outstanding loans and guarantee 
amounts. As of May 30, 2009 and May 31, 2008, our maximum exposure to potential losses related to outstanding loans to these 
dealerships totaled $0.6 million and $3.2 million, respectively.  Information on our exposure related to outstanding loan guarantees 
provided to such entities is included in Note 19 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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0DQDJHPHQW·V�'LVFXVVLRQ�DQG�$QDO\VLV�RI�)LQDQFLDO�&RQGLWLRQ�DQG�5HVXOWV�RI�2SHUDWLRQV�(continued) 

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates 
Our goal is to report financial results clearly and understandably. We follow U.S. generally accepted accounting principles in preparing 
our Consolidated Financial Statements, which require us to make certain estimates and apply judgments that affect our financial 
position and results of operations. We continually review our accounting policies and financial information disclosures. These policies 
and disclosures are reviewed at least annually with the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors.  Following is a summary of our more 
significant accounting policies that require the use of estimates and judgments in preparing the financial statements. 

Revenue Recognition 
$V�GHVFULEHG�LQ�WKH�³([HFXWLYH�2YHUYLHZ�´�WKH�PDMRULW\�RI�RXU�SURGXFWV�DQG�VHUYLFHV�DUH�VROG�WKURXJK�RQH�RI�IRXU�FKDQQHOV��,Qdependent 
contract furniture dealers and licensees, owned contract furniture dealers, direct to end customers, and independent retailers. We 
recognize revenue on sales to independent dealers, licensees, and retailers once the product is shipped and title passes to the buyer. 
When we sell product directly to the end customer or to owned dealers, we recognize revenue once the product and services are 
delivered and installation thereof is substantially complete.  

Amounts recorded as net sales generally include any freight charged to customers, with the related freight expenses recognized 
within cost of sales. Items such as discounts off list price, rebates, and other sale-related marketing program expenses are recorded as 
reductions to net sales. We record accruals for rebates and other marketing programs, which require us to make estimates about future 
customer buying patterns and market conditions. Customer sales that reach (or fail to reach) certain levels can affect the amount of 
such estimates, and actual results could differ from our estimates.   

Receivable Allowances 
We base our allowances for receivables on known customer exposures, historical credit experience, and the specific identification of 
other potential problems, including the current economic climate. These methods are applied to all major receivables, including trade, 
lease, and notes receivable. In addition, we follow a policy that consistently applies reserve rates based on the age of outstanding 
accounts receivable. Actual collections can differ from our historical experience, and if economic or business conditions deteriorate 
significantly, adjustments to these reserves may be required. 

The accounts receivable allowance totaled $7.3 million and $5.6 million at May 30, 2009 and May 31, 2008, respectively. As a 
percentage of gross accounts receivable, these allowances totaled 4.7 percent and 2.6 percent, respectively.  The year-over-year 
increase in the allowance percentage is primarily due to the perceived risk associated with the current economic conditions as opposed 
to an increase in specific customer issues. 

Goodwill 
The carrying value of our goodwill assets as of May 30, 2009 and May 31, 2008, totaled $69.5 million and $40.2 million, respectively. 
The increase in goodwill balances relates primarily to our final payment for the acquisition of Brandrud and also the acquisition of 
certain elements of Ruskin Industries.  We account for our goodwill assets in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standards (SFAS) No. 142. Under this accounting guidance, we are required to perform an annual test on our goodwill assets by 
reporting unit to determine whether the asset values are impaired. If impairment is determined, we are required to reduce the net 
carrying value of the assets to their estimated fair market value.  

Our impairment-testing model is based partly on the present value of projected cash flows and the resulting residual value as well as 
a market-based approach that considers recent market capitalization values.  In completing the test under this approach, we assume 
that one of the drivers of the value of a business today is the cash flows it will generate in the future. We also assume that such future 
cash flows can be reasonably estimated. While these projected cash flows reflect our best estimate of future reporting unit performance, 
actual cash flows could differ significantly.  

The results of this test, performed in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009, indicated that our net goodwill asset values were not impaired. 
We employed a market-based approach in selecting the discount rates used in our analysis. By this, we mean the discount rates 
selected represent market rates of return equal to what we believe a reasonable investor would expect to achieve on investments of 
similar size to our reporting units. We believe the discount rates selected in our testing are conservative in that, in all cases, they 
exceed the estimated weighted average cost of capital for our business as a whole. The results of the impairment test are sensitive to 
changes in discount rates, though the testing performed in fiscal 2009 would indicate that even a significant increase in the discount 
rate would not have changed the result.    
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0DQDJHPHQW·V�'LVFXVVLRQ�DQG�$QDO\VLV�RI�)LQDQFLDO�&RQGLWLRQ�DQG�5HVXOWV�RI�2SHUations 
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates (continued) 

Warranty Reserve 
We stand behind our products and keep our promises to customers. From time to time, quality issues arise resulting in the need to incur 
costs to correct problems with products or services. We have established warranty reserves for the various costs associated with these 
guarantees. General warranty reserves are based on historical claims experience and periodically adjusted for business levels. Specific 
reserves are established once an issue is identified. The valuation of such reserves is based on the estimated costs to correct the 
problem. Actual costs may vary and may result in an adjustment to these reserves. 

Inventory Reserves 
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market. The inventories at the majority of our manufacturing operations are valued using 
the last-in, first-out (LIFO) method, whereas inventories of certain other subsidiaries are valued using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) 
method. We establish reserves for excess and obsolete inventory, based on prevailing circumstances and judgment for consideration of 
current events, such as economic conditions, that may affect inventory. The reserve required to record inventory at lower of cost or 
market may be adjusted in response to changing conditions. 

Income Taxes 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the expected future tax consequences attributable to differences between the 
financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities, and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
are measured using the enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are 
expected to reverse. 

We have net operating loss (NOL) carryforwards available in certain jurisdictions to reduce future taxable income. We also have 
foreign tax credits available in certain jurisdictions to reduce future tax due. Future tax benefits for NOL carryforwards and foreign tax 
credits are recognized to the extent that realization of these benefits is considered more likely than not. We base this determination on 
the expectation that related operations will be sufficiently profitable or various tax planning strategies available to us will enable us to 
utilize the NOL carryforwards and/or foreign tax credits. When information becomes available that raises doubts about the realization of 
a deferred income tax asset, a valuation allowance is established. 

Self-Insurance Reserves 
With the assistance of indHSHQGHQW�DFWXDULHV��ZH�HVWDEOLVK� UHVHUYHV� IRU�ZRUNHUV¶� FRPSHQVDWLRQ�DQG�JHQHUDO� OLDELOLW\�H[SRVXUHV��7KH�
reserves are established based on expected future claims for incurred losses. We also establish reserves for health, prescription drugs, 
and dental benefit exposures based on historical claims information along with certain assumptions about future trends. The methods 
and assumptions used to determine the liabilities are applied consistently, although actual claims experience can vary. We also 
maintain insurance coverage for certain risk exposures through traditional premium-based insurance policies.   

Pension and other Post-Retirement Benefits 
The determination of the obligation and expense for pension and other post-retirement benefits depends on certain actuarial 
assumptions. Among the most significant of these assumptions is the discount rate, interest-crediting rate, and expected long-term rate 
of return on plan assets. We determine these assumptions as follows. 

Discount Rate±This assumption is established at the end of the fiscal year based on high-quality corporate bond yields. We utilize the 
services of an independent actuarial firm to analyze and recommend an appropriate rate.  For our domestic pension and other post­
retirement benefit plans, thH�DFWXDU\�XVHV�D�³FDVK�IORZ�PDWFKLQJ´�WHFKQLTXH��ZKLFK�FRPSDUHV�WKH�HVWLPDWHG�IXWXUH�FDVK�IORZV�RI�WKH�
plan to a published discount curve showing the relationship between interest rates and duration for hypothetical zero-coupon fixed 
income investments. We set the discount rate for our international pension plan based on the yield level of a commonly used 
corporate bond index in that jurisdiction. Because the average duration of the bonds underlying this index is less than that of our 
international pension plan liabilities, the index yield is used as a reference point.  The final discount rate, which takes into 
consideration the index yield and the difference in comparative durations, is based on a recommendation from our independent 
actuarial consultant.  
The discount rates selected for our domestic pension and post-retirement benefit plans at the end of fiscal 2009 were consistent with 

those established at the end of fiscal 2008. With all other assumptions and values held constant, this would not result in a significant 
change in our pension and post-retirement benefit plan expenses for our 2009 fiscal year, which began on June 1, 2008.  The discount 
rate selected for our international pension plan at the end of the current year was higher than the rate established at the end of fiscal 
2008. This change would result in a decrease in our international pension plan expense for fiscal 2009 if all other assumptions were 
held constant.    
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0DQDJHPHQW·V�'LVFXVVLRQ�DQG�$QDO\VLV�RI�)LQDQFLDO�&RQGLWLRQ�DQG�5HVXOWs of Operations 
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates (continued) 

Interest Crediting Rate±We use this assumption in accounting for our primary domestic pension plan, which is a cash balance-type plan. 
The rate, which represents the annual rate of inteUHVW�DSSOLHG�WR�HDFK�SODQ�SDUWLFLSDQW¶V�DFFRXQW�EDODQFH��LV�HVWDEOLVKHG�DW�DQ�DVVXPHG�
level, or spread, below the discount rate. We base this methodology on the historical spread between the 30-year U.S. Treasury and 
high-quality corporate bond yields.  This relationship is examined annually to determine whether the methodology is still appropriate. 
Expected Long-Term Rate of Return±We base this assumption on our long-term assumed rates of return for equities and fixed income 
securities, weighted by the allocation of the invested assets of the pension plan. We consider risk factors specific to the various 
classes of investments and advice from independent actuaries in establishing this rate. Changes in the investment allocation of plan 
assets would impact this assumption. A shift to a higher relative percentage of fixed income securities, for example, would result in a 
lower assumed rate.  
While this assumption represents our long-term market return expectation, actual asset returns can and do differ from year-to-year. 

Such differences give rise to actuarial gains and losses.  In years where actual market returns are lower than the assumed rate, an 
actuarial loss is generated. Conversely, an actuarial gain results when actual market returns exceed the assumed rate in a given year. 
As of May 30, 2009, and May 31, 2008, the net actuarial loss associated with our employee pension and post-retirement benefit plans 
totaled approximately $197.4 million and $107.4 million, respectively. At both dates, the majority of this unrecognized loss was 
associated with lower than expected plan asset returns.  

For purposes of determining annual net pension expense, we use a calculated method for determining the market-related value of 
plan assets. Under this method, we recognize the change in fair value of plan assets systematically over a five-year period. 
Accordingly, a portion of our net actuarial loss is deferred. The remaining portion of the net actuarial loss is subject to amortization 
expense each year. The amortization period used in determining this expense is the estimated remaining working life of active pension 
plan participants.  We currently estimate this period to be approximately 14 years.  As of the beginning of fiscal year 2009, the deferred 
net actuarial loss (i.e., the portion of the total net actuarial loss not subject to amortization) was approximately $17.2 million.  

Refer to Note 12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for more information regarding costs and assumptions used for employee 
benefit plans. 

Long-Lived Assets 
We evaluate long-lived assets and acquired business units for indicators of impairment when events or circumstances indicate that an 
impairment risk may be present. Our judgments regarding the existence of impairment are based on market conditions, operational 
performance, and estimated future cash flows. If the carrying value of a long-lived asset is considered impaired, an impairment charge 
is recorded to adjust the asset to its estimated fair value. 

Stock-Based Compensation 
We view stock-based compensation as a key component of total compensation for certain of our employees, non-employee directors 
and officers. We account for these programs, which include grants of restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance share units, 
employee stock purchases, and stock options, in accordance with SFAS 123(R). Under this guidance we recognize compensation 
expense related to each of these share-based arrangements. We utilize the Black-Scholes option pricing model in estimating the fair 
value of stock options issued in connection with our compensation program.  This pricing model requires the use of several input 
assumptions. Among the most significant of these assumptions are the expected volatility of our common stock price, and the expected 
timing of future stock option exercises. 
Expected Volatility 
This represents a measure, expressed as a percentage, of the expected fluctuation in the market price of our common stock. As a point 
of reference, a high volatility percentage would assume a wider expected range of market returns for a particular security. All other 
assumptions held constant, this would yield a higher stock option valuation than a calculation using a lower measure of volatility. In 
measuring the fair value of stock options issued during fiscal year 2009, we utilized an expected volatility of 33 percent. 
Expected Term of Options 
This assumption represents the expected length of time between the grant date of a stock option and the date at which it is exercised 
(option life). We assumed an average expected term of 5.5 years in calculating the fair values of the majority of stock options issued 
during fiscal 2009. 

Refer to Note 14 for further discussion on our stock-based compensation plans. 
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0DQDJHPHQW·V�'LVFXVVLRQ�DQG�$nalysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates (continued) 

Contingencies 
In the ordinary course of business, we encounter matters that raise the potential for contingent liabilities.  In evaluating these matters for 
accounting treatment and disclosure, we are required to apply judgment in order to determine the probability that a liability has been 
incurred. We are also required to measure, if possible, the dollar value of such liabilities in determining whether or not recognition in 
our financial statements is required.  This process involves the use of estimates which may differ from actual outcomes. Refer to Note 
19 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for more information relating to contingencies.  

New Accounting Standards 
Refer to Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for information related to new accounting standards. 

Forward Looking Statements 
&HUWDLQ� VWDWHPHQWV� LQ� WKLV� ILOLQJ� DUH� QRW� KLVWRULFDO� IDFWV� EXW� DUH� ³IRUZDUG-looking statemeQWV´� DV� GHILQHG� XQGHU� 6HFWLRQ 27A of the 
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act, as amended. Such statements are based on 
PDQDJHPHQW¶V�EHOLHI��DVVXPSWLRQV��FXUUHQW�H[SHFWDWLRQV��HVWLPDWHV�DQG�SURMHFWLRQV�DERXW�WKe office furniture industry, the economy and 
WKH� FRPSDQ\� LWVHOI��:RUGV� OLNH� ³DQWLFLSDWHV�´� ³EHOLHYHV�´� ³FRQILGHQW�´� ³HVWLPDWHV�´� ³H[SHFWV�´� ³IRUHFDVW�´� ³OLNHO\�´� ³SODQV�´ ³SURMHFWV�´� DQG�
³VKRXOG�´�DQG�YDULDWLRQV�RI�VXFK�ZRUGV�DQG�VLPLODU�H[SUHVVLRQV�LGHQWLfy forward looking statements. These statements do not guarantee 
future performance and involve certain risks, uncertainties, and assumptions that are difficult to predict with regard to timing, expense, 
likelihood, and degree of occurrence.  These risks include, without limitation, employment and general economic conditions in the U.S. 
and in our international markets, the increase in white collar employment, the willingness of customers to undertake capital 
expenditures, the types of products purchased by customers, the possibility of order cancellations or deferrals by customers, 
competitive pricing pressures, the availability and pricing of direct materials, our reliance on a limited number of suppliers, currency 
fluctuations, the ability to increase prices to absorb the additional costs of direct materials, the financial strength of our dealers, the 
financial strength of our customers, the mix of our products purchased by customers, our ability to attract and retain key executives and 
other qualified employees, our ability to continue to make product innovations, the strength of the intellectual property relating to our 
products, the success of newly introduced products, our ability to serve all of our markets, possible acquisitions, divestitures or 
alliances, the outcome of pending litigation or governmental audits or investigations, and other risks identified in this Form 10-K and our 
other filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Therefore, actual results and outcomes may materially differ from what we 
express or forecast. Furthermore, Herman Miller, Inc., takes no obligation to update, amend, or clarify forward-looking statements. 
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Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk 

The company manufactures, markets, and sells its products throughout the world and, as a result, is subject to changing economic 
conditions, which could reduce the demand for its products. 

Direct Material Costs 
The company is exposed to risks arising from price changes for certain direct materials and assembly components used in its 
operations. The largest such costs incurred by the company are for steel, plastics, textiles, wood particleboard, and aluminum 
components. Commodity prices were volatile during fiscal 2009, resulting in sharp increases in costs for the first half of the year. As the 
year progressed, prices receded back to approximately the same level that they began the year at. The net impact of price changes 
during fiscal 2009 was an increase to our costs of $24 million to $26 million. Commodity prices were fairly flat during most of fiscal 
2008, resulting in increased costs of $2 million to $4 million, with most of this increase occurring in the fourth quarter. During fiscal 
2007, rising commodities had a significant impact, adding an estimated $14 million to $16 million to the consolidated cost of sales for 
the full year. 

Steel and fuel price fluctuations have a direct impact on our input costs for many products. During the past fiscal year both factors 
increased sharply, followed by a steady decline in the second half of the year. During fiscal 2008 the impact of steel price increases was 
fairly flat due to price contracts with suppliers. 

The company believes market prices for commodities in the near term may move lower but acknowledges that over time increases 
on its key direct materials and assembly components are likely.  Consequently, it views the prospect of such increases as an outlook 
risk to the business. 

Foreign Exchange Risk 
The company manufactures its products in the United States, United Kingdom, and China. It also sources completed products and 
SURGXFW�FRPSRQHQWV� IURP�RXWVLGH� WKH�8QLWHG�6WDWHV��7KH�FRPSDQ\¶V�FRPSOHWHG�SURGXFWV�DUH�VROG� LQ�QXPHURXV�FRXQWULHV�DURXQG� WKH
world. Sales in foreign countries as well as certain expenses related to those sales are transacted in currencies other than the 
FRPSDQ\¶V�UHSRUWLQJ�FXUUHQF\��WKH�8�6��GROODU��$FFRUGLQJO\��SURGXFWLRQ�FRVWV�DQG�SURILW�PDUJLQV�UHODWHG�WR�WKHVH�VDOHV�DUH�DIfected by 
the currency exchange relationship between the countries where the sales take place and the countries where the products are sourced 
RU�PDQXIDFWXUHG���7KHVH�FXUUHQF\�H[FKDQJH�UHODWLRQVKLSV�FDQ�DOVR�DIIHFW�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�FRPSHWLWLYH�SRVLWLRQV�ZLWKLQ�WKHVH�PDUNets. 

In the normal course of business, the company enters into contracts denominated in foreign currencies. The principal foreign 
currencies in which the company conducts its business are the British pound (GBP), euro (EUR), Canadian dollar, Japanese yen, 
Mexican peso, Chinese renminbi (CNY), and Brazilian real (BRL). For the past three fiscal years the company has entered into forward 
currency instruments in order to offset exposure denominated in non-functional currency.  In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009, nine 
contracts in total were placed to offset various currency exposures. To offset net asset exposure denominated in non-functional 
currency, three forward contracts for 4.8 million EUR and three forward contracts for 6.4 million USD were placed. Conversely, three 
contracts were placed to offset the cRPSDQ\¶V�QHW�OLDELOLW\�H[SRVXUH�GHQRPLQDWHG�LQ�QRQ-functional currency. The contracts included 0.5 
million BRL, 3.5 million CNY, and 1.6 million of GBP. At the end of fiscal 2008, three contracts were placed to offset 4.0 million EUR for 
net asset exposure and two contracts for 6.0 million USD were placed to offset net liability exposure. Similarly, in the fourth quarter of 
fiscal 2007, the company entered into three separate forward currency contracts in order to offset 4.0 million EUR of net asset exposure 
denominated in a non-functional currency. In all three years, the instruments were marked to market at the end of the period, with 
changes in fair value reflected in net earnings. The fair value of the forward currency instruments was $0.1 million for both years ended 
May 30, 2009 and May 31, 2008, and a negligible amount at June 2, 2007. 

For fiscal year 2009, a net loss of $1.1 million related to remeasuring all foreign currency transactions into the appropriate functional 
currency was included in net earnings. For fiscal year 2008, a net gain of $0.1 million impacted net earnings, while the impact in fiscal 
2007 was negligible. Additionally, the cumulative effect of translating the balance sheet and income statement accounts from the 
functional currency into the United States dollar increased the accumulated comprehensive loss FRPSRQHQW�RI�WRWDO�VKDUHKROGHUV¶�HTXLW\�
by $14.0 million as of the end of fiscal 2009.  Conversely, the effect reduced the accumulated comprehensive loss component of total 
sharehROGHU¶V�HTXLW\�E\������PLOOLRQ��DQG������PLOOLRQ�for the years ended May 31, 2008, and June 2, 2007, respectively. 
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Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk (continued) 

Interest Rate Risk 
The company maintains fixed-rate debt for which changes in interest rates generally affect fair market value but not earnings or cash 
flows. As of the end of fiscal years 2009 and 2008, the company held one interest rate swap agreement that effectively converts $50.0 
million of fixed-rate debt securities to a variable rate. As of the end of fiscal year 2007, the company had two interest rate swaps that 
effectively converted $53.0 million of fixed-rate debt to a variable-rate basis. This debt is subject to changes in interest rates, which, if 
significant, FRXOG�KDYH�D�PDWHULDO�LPSDFW�RQ�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�ILQDQFLDO�UHVXOWV��7KH�LQWHUHVW�UDWH�VZDS�GHULYDWLYH�LQVWUXPHQWV�DUH�KHOG�DQG�
used by the company as a tool for managing interest rate risk. They are not used for trading or speculative purposes. The 
counterparties to these swap instruments are large financial institutions that the company believes are of high-quality creditworthiness. 
While the company may be exposed to potential losses due to the credit risk of non-performance by these counterparties, such losses 
are not anticipated. 

The combined fair market value of effective interest rate swap instruments was $2.4 million, $0.5 million, and a negative $1.8 million 
at May 30, 2009, May 31, 2008 and June 2, 2007, respectively. The impact of these swap instruments on total interest expense was a 
reduction to interest expense of $1.2 million in fiscal 2009, $0.4 million in fiscal 2008, and an addition to interest expense of $0.6 million 
LQ� ILVFDO� ������ $OO� FDVK� IORZV� UHODWHG� WR� WKH� FRPSDQ\¶V� LQWHUHVW� UDWH� VZDS� Lnstruments are denominated in U.S. dollars. For further 
information, refer to Notes 16 and 17 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

As of May 30, 2009, the weighted-DYHUDJH�LQWHUHVW�UDWH�RQ�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�YDULDEOH-rate debt was approximately 3.5 percent. Based 
on the level of variable-rate debt outstanding as of that date, a one percentage-point increase in the weighted-average interest rate 
ZRXOG�LQFUHDVH�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�DQQXDO�SUH-tax interest expense by approximately $0.5 million. 

Expected cash flows (notional amounts) over the next five years and thereafter related to debt instruments are as follows. 
(In millions) 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 Thereafter Total(1) 

Long-Term Debt: 
Fixed rate  $75.0 $100.0 $² $² $² $ 200.0 $375.0 
Wtd. average interest rate = 6.69% 

Derivative Financial Instruments Related to Debt ±
Interest Rate Swaps 

Pay variable/receive fixed $² $ 50.0 $² $² $² $²  $ 50.0 
Pay interest rate = 3.53% (at May 31, 2009) 
Receive interest rate = 7.125% 

(1) Amount does not include the recorded fair value of the swap instruments, which totaled $2.4 million at the end of fiscal 2009. 
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Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited) 

Set forth below is a summary of the quarterly operating results on a consolidated basis for the years ended May 30, 2009, May 31, 
������ DQG� -XQH� ��� ������ 5HIHU� WR� 0DQDJHPHQW¶V� 'LVFXVVLRQ� DQG� $QDO\VLV� SURYLGHG� LQ� ,WHP� �� DQG� WKH� 1RWHV� WR� WKH� &RQVROLGDWHG�
Financial Statements for further disclosure of significant accounting transactions that may have affected the quarterly operating results 
for each of the periods presented. 
(In millions, except per share data) First Quarter(3) Second Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarter 

Fiscal 2009 

Net sales $479.1  $476.6 $354.4 $319.9
 Gross margin(1)  162.4  155.4 105.9 104.0
 Net earnings  33.4  32.6             (5.2)  7.2 

Earnings per share-basic(1)  .60  .61  (.10)  .14 
Earnings per share-diluted(1)  .60  .60  (.10) .14 

Fiscal 2008 

Net sales  $491.7 $505.9 $495.4 $519.1 
 Gross margin(1)  167.5 180.1 170.0 181.0 
 Net earnings(2)  33.5 41.0 38.3 39.5 

Earnings per share-basic(1)  .54 .67 .66 .70 
Earnings per share-diluted(1)(2)  .54 .67 .65 .71 

Fiscal 2007 

Net sales  $449.7 $499.1 $484.8 $485.3 
 Gross margin(1)  152.3 170.4 160.0 163.1 
 Net earnings(1)  28.5 36.6 32.3 31.7 
 Earnings per share-basic .44 .57 .50 .50 

Earnings per share-diluted(1)  .43 .56 .50 .50 

(1) The sum of the quarters does not equal the annual balance reflected in the Consolidated Statements of Operations due to rounding associated with the calculations on an individual 
quarter basis. 

(2) The fourth quarter of fiscal year 2007 includes adjustments to various tax accruals resulting in a reduction of income taxes of $3.4 million or $0.05 diluted earnings per share in the 
quarter. 
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Consolidated Statements of Operations 

Fiscal Years Ended 
(In millions, except per share data) May 30, 2009 May 31, 2008 June 2, 2007 

Net sales  $1,630.0 $2,012.1 $1,918.9 
Cost of sales  1,102.3 1,313.4 1,273.0 

Gross margin  527.7 698.7 645.9 
Operating Expenses: 
 Selling, general, and administrative 330.8 395.8 395.8
 Restructuring expenses 28.4 5.1 ²

Design and research 45.7 51.2 52.0 

 Total operating expenses  404.9 452.1 447.8 

Operating earnings  122.8 246.6 198.1 
Other Expenses (Income):
 Interest expense 25.6 18.8 13.7 

Interest and other investment income (2.6)  (3.8) (4.1)
 Other, net 0.9 1.2 1.5 

Net other expenses 23.9 16.2 11.1 
Earnings before income taxes and minority interest 98.9 230.4 187.0 
Income tax expense 31.0 78.2 57.9 
Minority interest, net of income tax (0.1) (0.1) ²

Net Earnings $68.0 $152.3 $129.1 

Earnings per share ± basic $1.26 $2.58 $2.01 
Earnings per share ± diluted $1.25 $2.56 $1.98 
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Consolidated Balance Sheets 

(In millions, except share and per share data) May 30, 2009 May 31, 2008 

Assets 
Current Assets: 

Cash and cash equivalents  $192.9 $155.4 
 Short-term investments  11.3 15.7 

Accounts receivable, less allowances of $7.3 in 2009 and $5.6 in 2008 148.9 209.0
 Inventories, net 37.3 55.1 

Prepaid expenses and other 60.5 58.0 

Total Current Assets  450.9 493.2 

Property and Equipment: 
 Land and improvements  18.8 19.0 
 Buildings and improvements  137.4 139.4 

Machinery and equipment 552.0 547.4
 Construction in progress 9.8 17.4 

718.0 723.2 
Less: accumulated depreciation  (538.8) (526.9) 

Net Property and Equipment  179.2 196.3 

Goodwill 69.5 40.2 
Other assets  67.7 53.5 

Total Assets  $767.3 $783.2 

/LDELOLWLHV�DQG�6KDUHKROGHUV·�(TXLW\

Current Liabilities:
 Unfunded checks  $3.9 $8.5 

Current maturities of long-term debt 75.0 ²
 Accounts payable  79.1 117.9
 Accrued liabilities  125.2 184.1 

Total Current Liabilities  283.2 310.5 

Long-term debt, less current maturities  302.4 375.5 
Other liabilities  173.7 73.8 

Total Liabilities  759.3 759.8 

Minority Interest 
6KDUHKROGHUV¶�(TXLW\�

Preferred stock, no par value (10,000,000 shares authorized, none issued) ² ²
Common stock, $0.20 par value (240,000,000 shares authorized, 53,826,061 and 55,706,997 shares 
issued and outstanding in 2009 and 2008, respectively)  10.8 11.1 

 Additional paid-in capital  5.9 ²
 Retained earnings 129.2 76.7 

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (134.1) (60.1) 
Key executive deferred compensation  (3.8)  (4.3) 

7RWDO�6KDUHKROGHUV·�(TXLW\  8.0 23.4 

7RWDO�/LDELOLWLHV�DQG�6KDUHKROGHUV·�(TXLW\  $767.3 $783.2 
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&RQVROLGDWHG�6WDWHPHQWV�RI�6KDUHKROGHUV·�(TXLW\

(In millions, except share data) Accumulated Key 
Shares of Other Executive Total 
Common Common Additional Paid-In Retained Comprehensive Deferred 6KDUHKROGHUV¶

Stock Stock Capital Earnings Loss Compensation Equity 

Balance, June 3, 2006 
Net earnings 
Foreign currency translation adjustment 
Pension and post-retirement liability adjustments (net of 
tax of $33.5 million) 
Unrealized holding gain (net of negligible tax) 
Total comprehensive income 
Cash dividends declared ($.328 per share) 
Exercise of stock options 
Employee stock purchase plan 
Tax benefit relating to stock options 
Repurchase and retirement of common stock 
'LUHFWRUV¶�IHHV
Restricted stock units compensation expense 
Restricted stock units released 
Stock grants compensation expense 
Stock grants issued 
Stock option compensation expense 
Deferred compensation plan 
Adjustment to adopt SFAS 158 
(net of tax of $28.2 million) 
Balance, June 2, 2007 

66,034,452 
²
²

²
²

²
1,886,326 

102,808 
²

(5,116,375) 
5,637 
²

1,527 
-

5,050 
²
²

²
62,919,425 

$13.2 
²
²

²
²

²
0.4 
²
²

(1.0) 
²
²
²
²
²
²
²

²
$12.6 

$³
²
²

²
²

²
46.9 

3.4 
6.7 

(61.4) 
0.2 
2.4 
0.1 

(1.1) 
²

2.5 
0.3 

²
$³

$192.2 
129.1 
²

²
²

(21.0) 
²
²
²

(102.5) 
²
²
²
²
²
²
²

²
$197.8 

$(63.3) 
²

3.3 

58.3 
0.1 

²
²
²
²
²
²
²
²
²
²
²
²

(50.0) 
$(51.6) 

$(3.7) 
²
²

²
²

²
²
²
²
²
²

(1.3) 
²

1.8 
²
²

(0.3) 

²
$(3.5) 

$138.4 
129.1 

3.3 

58.3 
0.1 

190.8 
(21.0) 

47.3 
3.4 
6.7 

(164.9) 
0.2 
1.1 
0.1 
0.7 

-
2.5 
0.0 

(50.0) 
$155.3 

Net earnings 
Foreign currency translation adjustment 
Pension and post-retirement liability adjustments 
(net of tax of $5.2 million) 
Total comprehensive income 
Cash dividends declared ($0.352 per share) 
Exercise of stock options 
Employee stock purchase plan 
Tax benefit relating to stock-based compensation 
Excess tax benefit relating to stock-based compensation 
Repurchase and retirement of common stock 
Restricted stock units compensation expense 
Restricted stock units released 
Stock grants compensation expense 
Stock grants issued 
Stock option compensation expense 
Deferred compensation plan 
'LUHFWRUV¶�IHHV
Performance share units compensation expense 
Cumulative effect of adopting FIN 48 (net of tax) 

²
²

²

²
125,301 
118,801 

²
²

(7,488,430) 
²

2,892 
²

12,922 
²
²

16,086 
²
²

²
²

²

²
²
²
²
²

(1.5) 
²
²
²
²
²
²
²
²
²

²
²

²

²
2.9 
3.3 
0.1 
0.1 

(13.3) 
0.6 
0.1 
0.7 
²

3.0 
0.6 
0.5 
1.4 
²

152.3 
²

²

(20.5) 
²
²
²
²

(251.9) 
²
²
²
²
²
²
²
²

(1.0) 

²
4.1 

(12.6) 

²
²
²
²
²
²
²
²
²
²
²
²
²
²
²

²
²

²

²
²
²
²
²
²
²
²
²
²
²

(0.8) 
²
²
²

152.3 
4.1 

(12.6) 
143.8 
(20.5) 

2.9 
3.3 
0.1 
0.1 

(266.7) 
0.6 
0.1 
0.7 
²

3.0 
(0.2) 

0.5 
1.4 

(1.0) 
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ConsoliGDWHG�6WDWHPHQWV�RI�6KDUHKROGHUV·�(TXLW\�(continued) 

Balance, May 31, 2008 55,706,997 $11.1 $³ $76.7 $(60.1) $(4.3) $23.4 
Net earnings ² ² ² 68.0 ² ² 68.0 
Foreign currency translation adjustment ² ² ² ² (14.0) ² (14.0) 
Pension liability adjustments (net of tax of $35.3 million) ² ² ² ² (59.9) ² (59.9) 
Unrealized holding loss ² ² ² ² (0.1) ² (0.1) 
Total comprehensive loss (6.0) 
Cash dividends declared ($0.286 per share) ² ² ² (15.5) ² ² (15.5) 
Exercise of stock options 23,050 ² 0.5 ² ² ² 0.5 
Employee stock purchase plan 187,037 ² 2.7 ² ² ² 2.7 
Tax benefit relating to stock-based compensation ² ² 0.1 ² ² ² 0.1 
Excess tax benefit relating to stock-based compensation ² ² (0.3) ² ² ² (0.3) 
Repurchase and retirement of common stock (2,138,701) (0.3) 0.2 ² ² ² (0.1) 
Restricted stock units compensation expense ² ² 0.2 ² ² ² 0.2 
Restricted stock units released 14,074 ² 0.4 ² ² ² 0.4 
Stock grants compensation expense ² ² 0.7 ² ² ² 0.7 
Stock grants issued 3,600 ² ² ² ² ² ²
Stock option compensation expense ² ² 2.9 ² ² ² 2.9 
Deferred compensation plan ² ² (0.5) ² ² 0.5 ²
'LUHFWRUV¶�IHHV 30,004 ² 0.4 ² ² ² 0.4 
Performance share units compensation expense ² ² (1.4) ² ² ² (1.4) 

Balance, May 30, 2009 53,826,061 10.8 5.9 129.2 (134.1) (3.8) 8.0 
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 

(In millions) 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
 Net earnings

Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash provided by operating activities  

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities

May 30, 2009 

$68.0 
23.7 

91.7 

May 31, 2008 

$152.3 
61.3 

213.6 

Fiscal Years Ended 
June 2, 2007 

$129.1 
8.6 

137.7 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities: 
Notes receivable repayments  60.6 69.1 67.4 
Notes receivable issued (60.3)  (68.4)  (66.8) 
Marketable securities purchases (3.0)  (11.9)  (11.5) 
Marketable securities sales  6.4 12.1 11.0 

 Capital expenditures  (25.3)  (40.5)  (41.3) 
Proceeds from sales of property and equipment 0.3 0.3 7.9 
Proceeds from disposal of owned dealers 1.3 0.9 ²
Net cash paid for acquisitions  (29.5)  (11.7)  (3.5) 
Loss on impairment of investments  0.6 ² ²
Proceeds from loan on cash surrender value of life insurance  19.3 ² ²

 Other, net  0.1 (0.9)  (0.6) 

Net Cash Used for Investing Activities  (29.5)  (51.0)  (37.4) 

Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
 Short-term debt repayments ²  (1.2) ²
 Long-term debt repayments ²  (4.0)  (3.0)
 Long-term debt borrowings ²  200.0 ²
 Dividends paid (19.2)  (21.2)  (20.7) 

Common stock issued  3.4 6.5 50.4 
Common stock repurchased and retired  (0.3)  (266.7) (164.9) 
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation  (0.3)       0.1       6.7 
Other, net  (0.1) ² ²

Net Cash Used for Financing Activities  (16.5)  (86.5)  (131.5) 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  (8.2)  2.9 0.8 

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents  37.5 79.0 (30.4) 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year  155.4 76.4 106.8 

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Year $192.9 $155.4 $76.4 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

1. Significant Accounting and Reporting Policies 
The following is a summary of significant accounting and reporting policies not reflected elsewhere in the accompanying financial 
statements. 

Principles of Consolidation  
The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of Herman Miller, Inc., and its majority-owned domestic and foreign 
VXEVLGLDULHV�� 7KH� FRQVROLGDWHG� HQWLWLHV� DUH� FROOHFWLYHO\� UHIHUUHG� WR� DV� ³WKH� FRPSDQ\�´� $OO� LQWHUFRPSDQ\� DFFRXQWV� DQG� WUDQVDFWLRQV��
including any involving VIEs, have been eliminated in the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

Description of Business  
The company researches, designs, manufactures and distributes interior furnishings, for use in various environments including office, 
healthcare, educational, and residential settings, and provides related services that support companies all over the world. The 
FRPSDQ\¶V�SURGXFWV�DUH�VROG�SULPDULO\�WKURXJK�LQGHSHQGHQW�FRQWUDFW�RIILFH�IXUQLWure dealers. Accordingly, accounts and notes receivable 
in the accompanying balance sheets are principally amounts due from the dealers. 

Fiscal Year 
7KH�FRPSDQ\¶V�ILVFDO�\HDU�HQGV�RQ�WKH�6DWXUGD\�FORVHVW�WR�0D\�����)LVFDO�\HDUV�HQGHG�0D\�����������0D\��1, 2008 and June 2, 2007, 
each contain 52 weeks. $Q�H[WUD�ZHHN�LQ�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�ILVFDO�\HDU�LV�UHTXLUHG�DSSUR[LPDWHO\�HYHU\�VL[�\HDUV�LQ�RUGHU�WR�UHDOLJQ�LWV�ILVFDO�
calendar-end dates with the actual calendar months. 

Foreign Currency Translation 
The functional currency for foreign subsidiaries is the local currency. The cumulative effects of translating the balance sheet accounts 
from the functional currency into the United States dollar using fiscal year-end exchange rates and translating revenue and expense 
DFFRXQWV�XVLQJ�DYHUDJH�H[FKDQJH�UDWHV�IRU�WKH�SHULRG�LV�UHIOHFWHG�DV�D�FRPSRQHQW�RI�³$FFXPXODWHG�RWKHU�FRPSUHKHQVLYH�ORVV´�LQ the 
Consolidated Balance Sheets. The financial statement impact resulting from remeasuring all foreign currency transactions into the 
DSSURSULDWH�IXQFWLRQDO�FXUUHQF\��ZKLFK�LV�LQFOXGHG�LQ�³2WKHU�([SHQVHV��,QFRPH�´�LQ�WKH�&RQVROLGDWHG�6WDWHPHQWV�RI�2SHUDWLRQV� was a 
net loss of $1.1 million for the year ended May 30, 2009.  For the years ended May 31, 2008 and June 2, 2007, the financial statement 
impact was a net gain of $0.1 million and negligible, respectively.  

Cash Equivalents 
The company holds cash equivalents as part of its cash management function. Cash equivalents include money market funds, time 
deposit investments, and treasury bills with original maturities of less than three months. The carrying value of cash equivalents, which 
approximates fair value, totaled $99.0 million and $90.7 million as of May 30, 2009, and May 31, 2008, respectively. All cash and cash 
equivalents are high-credit quality financial instruments, and the amount of credit exposure to any one financial institution or instrument 
is limited. 

Marketable Securities 
The company maintains a portfolio of marketable securities primarily comprised of investment-grade, fixed-income securities. These 
LQYHVWPHQWV�DUH�KHOG�E\�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�ZKROO\�RZQHG�LQVXUDQFH�FDSWLYH�DQG�DUH�FRQVLGHUHG�³DYDLODEOH-for-VDOH´�DV�GHILQHG�LQ�6WDWHPHQW�
RI�)LQDQFLDO�$FFRXQWLQJ�6WDQGDUGV��6)$6��1R������� ³$FFRXQWLQJ� IRU�&HUWDLQ� ,QYHVWPHQWV� LQ�'HEW�DQG�(TXLW\�6HFXULWLHV�´�$FFRUGLQJO\��
they have been recorded at fair market value based on quoted market prices, with the resulting net unrealized holding gains or losses 
UHIOHFWHG�QHW�RI�WD[�DV�D�FRPSRQHQW�RI�³$FFXPXODWHG�RWKHU�FRPSUHKHQVLYH�ORVV´�LQ�WKH�&RQVROLGDWHG�%DODQFH�6KHHWV��

All marketable security transactions are recognized on the trade date. Realized gains and losses on disposal of available-for-sale 
LQYHVWPHQWV�DUH�LQFOXGHG�LQ�³,QWHUHVW�DQG�RWKHU�LQYHVWPHQW�LQFRPH´�LQ�WKH�&RQVolidated Statements of Operations. Net investment loss 
recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Operations for available-for-sale investments totaled $0.2 million for the year ended May 
30, 2009 and investment gain of  $0.7 million, and $0.8 million for the years ended May 31, 2008, and June 2, 2007, respectively.  
Included in the net investment loss of $0.2 million in fiscal 2009 was an impairment charge for certain equity investments of $0.6 million. 
This impairment charge also permanently reduced the cost basis in the investment by a corresponding amount. 
7KH�IROORZLQJ�LV�D�VXPPDU\�RI�WKH�FDUU\LQJ�DQG�PDUNHW�YDOXHV�RI�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�PDUNHWDEOH�VHFXULWLHV�DV�RI�WKH�GDWHV�LQGLFDWHG. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
1 Significant Accounting and Reporting Policies (continued) 

May 30, 2009 
Unrealized Unrealized Market 

(In millions) Cost Gain Loss Value 

U.S. Government & agency debt $3.6 $0.3 $²  $3.9 
Corporate investments 3.9 ² ² 3.9 
Mortgage-backed 3.8 ² (0.6) 3.2 
Other debt  0.5 ² (0.2) 0.3 

Total $11.8 $0.3 $(0.8)  $11.3 

May 31, 2008 
Unrealized Unrealized Market 

(In millions) Cost Gain Loss Value 

U.S. Government & agency debt $4.8 $0.2  $²  $5.0 
Corporate investments  6.0 ²  (0.2)  5.8 
Mortgage-backed  4.2 ²  (0.1)  4.1 
Other debt  0.9 ² (0.1) 0.8 

Total $15.9 $0.2  $(0.4)  $15.7 

Maturities of short-term investments as of May 30, 2009, are as follows. 
(In millions) Cost Market Value 

Due within one year $3.6 $3.5 
Due after one year through five years 6.0 5.8 
Due after five years  2.2 2.0 

Total $11.8 $11.3 

Accounts Receivable Allowances  
Reserves for uncollectible accounts receivable balances are based on known customer exposures, historical credit experience, and the 
specific identification of other potential problems, including the economic climate. Balances are written off against the reserve once the 
company determines the probability of collection to be remote. The company generally does not require collateral or other security on 
trade accounts receivable. 

Inventories 
,QYHQWRULHV�DUH�YDOXHG�DW� WKH� ORZHU�RI�FRVW�RU�PDUNHW��7KH� LQYHQWRULHV�DW� WKH�PDMRULW\�RI� WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�PDQXIDFWXULQJ�RSHUDWLons are 
valued using the last-in, first-out (LIFO) method, whereas inventories of FHUWDLQ�RWKHU�RI�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�VXEVLGLDULHV�DUH�YDOXHG�XVLQJ�WKH�
first-in, first-out (FIFO) method. The company establishes reserves for excess and obsolete inventory, based on prevailing 
circumstances and judgment for consideration of current events, such as economic conditions, that may affect inventory. Further 
LQIRUPDWLRQ�RQ�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�UHFRUGHG�LQYHQWRU\�EDODQFHV�FDQ�EH�IRXQG�LQ�1RWH���

Property, Equipment, and Depreciation   
Property and equipment are stated at cost. The cost is depreciated over the estimated useful lives of the assets, using the straight-line 
method. Estimated useful lives range from 3 to 10 years for machinery and equipment and do not exceed 40 years for buildings. 
Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the lesser of the lease term or the useful life of the asset, not to exceed 10 years. The 
company capitalizes certain external and internal costs incurred in connection with the development, testing, and installation of software 
for internal use. Software for internal use is included in property and equipment and is depreciated over an estimated useful life not 
exceeding 5 years. 

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2007, the company completed the sale of its Canton, Georgia facility which was exited in fiscal 
2004. The company received net cash consideration of $7.5 million, for assets with a carrying value of $7.5 million.  This resulted in a 
negligible pre-tax gain. 

As of the end of fiscal 2009, outstanding commitments for future capital purchases approximated $5.8 million. 
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1 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Significant Accounting and Reporting Policies (continued) 

Long-Lived Assets  
The company assesses the recoverability of its long-OLYHG�DVVHWV�LQ�DFFRUGDQFH�ZLWK�WKH�SURYLVLRQV�RI�6)$6�1R�������³$FFRXQWLng for 
the Impairment or Disposal of Long-/LYHG�$VVHWV�´�7KLV�DVVHVVPHQW�LV�SHUIRUPHG�ZKHQHYHU�HYHQWV�RU�FLUFXPVWDQFHV�VXFK�DV�FXUUHQW�
and projected future operating losses or changes in the business climate indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 
Assets are grouped and evaluated at the lowest level for which there are independent and identifiable cash flows. The company 
considers historical performance and future estimated results in its evaluation of potential impairment and then compares the carrying 
amount of the asset to the estimated future undiscounted cash flows (without interest charges) expected to result from the use of the 
asset. If the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the expected future cash flows, the company measures and records an impairment 
loss for the excess of the carrying value of the asset over its fair value. The estimation of fair value is made by discounting the expected 
future cash flows at the rate the company uses to evaluate similar potential investments based on the best information available at that 
time. 

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets  
7KH� FRPSDQ\¶V� UHFRUGHG� JRRGZLOO� DW� 0D\� ���� ����� DQG�0D\� ���� ������ LV� DVVRFLDWHG� ZLWK� WKH� 1RUWK� $PHULFDQ� )XUQLWXUH� 6ROXWLRQV�
segment, which is described in further detail in Note 20. The company is required to test the carrying value of goodwill for impairment at 
WKH�³UHSRUWLQJ�XQLW´�OHYHO�DQQXDOO\�RU�PRUH�IUHTXHQWO\�LI�D�WULJJHULQJ�HYHQW�RFFXUV�XQGHU�WKH�SURYLVLRQV�RI�6)$6�1R�������³*Rodwill and 
Other Intangible AssetV´��6)$6�������$V�D�PDWWHU�RI�SUDFWLFH��WKH�FRPSDQ\�SHUIRUPV�WKH�UHTXLUHG�DQQXDO�LPSDLUPHQW�WHVWLQJ�RI�JRRGZLOO�
during the fourth quarter of each fiscal year. The annual testing performed each year indicated the present value of discounted cash 
flows of thH� UHSRUWLQJ� XQLW� H[FHHGHG� WKH� UHFRUGHG� FDUU\LQJ� YDOXH� RI� WKH� FRPSDQ\¶V� JRRGZLOO� DVVHWV�� DQG� DFFRUGLQJO\� QR� LPSDLUPHQW�
charge was required for the years ending May 30, 2009, May 31, 2008, and June 2, 2007. 

SFAS 142 also requires the company to evaluate its DFTXLUHG� LQWDQJLEOH� DVVHWV� WR�GHWHUPLQH�ZKHWKHU� DQ\�KDYH� ³LQGHILQLWH� XVHIXO�
OLYHV�´�8QGHU�WKLV�DFFRXQWLQJ�VWDQGDUG��LQWDQJLEOH�DVVHWV�ZLWK�LQGHILQLWH�XVHIXO�OLYHV��LI�DQ\��DUH�QRW�VXEMHFW�WR�DPRUWL]DWLon. The company 
has other intangible assets, consisting of certain trademarks and tradenames valued at approximately $4.3 million, which have 
indefinite useful lives and are evaluated in a manner consistent with goodwill. The company amortizes its other intangible assets over 
their remaining useful lives using the straight-line method over periods ranging from 5 to 17 years. 

Other intangible assets are comprised of patents, trademarks, and intellectual property rights with a combined gross carrying value 
and accumulated amortization of $24.0 million and $9.5 million, respectively as of May 30, 2009.  As of May 31, 2008, these amounts 
totaled $25.7 million and $7.6 million, respectively. 

Estimated amortization expense for existing intangible assets as of May 30, 2009, for each of the succeeding five fiscal years is as 
follows. 
(In millions) 

2010  $1.4 
2011  1.4 
2012  1.3 
2013  0.6 
2014  0.5 

Notes Receivable 
The notes receivable are primarily from certain independent contract office furniture dealers. These notes are the result of dealers in 
transition either through a change in ownership or general financial difficulty. The notes generally are collateralized by the assets of the 
dealers and bear interest based on the prevailing prime rate. Recorded reserves are based on historical credit experience, 
collateralization levels, and the specific identification of other potential collection problems. Interest income relating to these notes was 
$0.1 million for the year ended May 30, 2009 and $0.4 million for the years ended May 31, 2008, and June 2, 2007. 

Unfunded Checks  
As a result of maintaining a consolidated cash management system, the company utilizes controlled disbursement bank accounts. 
These accounts are funded as checks are presented for payment, not when checks are issued. Any resulting book overdraft position is 
included in current liabilities as unfunded checks. 
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1 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Significant Accounting and Reporting Policies (continued) 

Self-Insurance 
The company is partially self-insured for general liability, woUNHUV¶�FRPSHQVDWLRQ��DQG�FHUWDLQ�HPSOR\HH�KHDOWK�DQG�GHQWDO�EHQHILWV�XQGHU�
insurance arrangements that provide for third-SDUW\�FRYHUDJH�RI�FODLPV�H[FHHGLQJ�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�ORVV�UHWHQWLRQ�OHYHOV��7KH�FRPSDQ\¶V�
retention levels designated within significant insurance arrangements as of May 30, 2009, are as follows. 

Retention Level 

General liability and auto liability/physical damage $1.00 million per occurrence 
:RUNHUV¶�FRPSHQVDWLRQ�DQG�SURSHUW\ $0.75 million per occurrence 
Health benefits $0.20 million per employee 

7KH� FRPSDQ\¶V� SROLF\� LV� WR� DFFUXH� DPRXQWV� HTXDO� WR� WKH� DFWXDULDOO\-determined liabilities for loss and loss adjustment expenses, 
ZKLFK�DUH�LQFOXGHG�LQ�³2WKHU�/LDELOLWLHV´�LQ�WKH�&RQVROLGDWHG�%DODQFH�6KHHWV��7KH�DFWXDULDO�YDOXDWLRQV�DUH�EDVHG�RQ�historical information 
along with certain assumptions about future events. Changes in assumptions for such matters as legal actions, medical costs, and 
FKDQJHV�LQ�DFWXDO�H[SHULHQFH�FRXOG�FDXVH�WKHVH�HVWLPDWHV�WR�FKDQJH��7KH�JHQHUDO�DQG�ZRUNHUV¶�FRPSHQVDWLRn liabilities are managed 
WKURXJK�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�ZKROO\-owned insurance captive. 

Research, Development, and Other Related Costs  
Research, development, pre-production, and start-up costs are expensed as incurred. Research and development (R&D) costs consist 
of expenditures incurred during the course of planned search and investigation aimed at discovery of new knowledge useful in 
developing new products or processes. R&D costs also include the significant enhancement of existing products or production 
processes and the implementation of such through design, testing of product alternatives, or construction of prototypes. Royalty 
SD\PHQWV�PDGH�WR�GHVLJQHUV�RI�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�SURGXFWV�DV�WKH�SURGXFWV�DUH�VROG�DUH�QRW�LQFOXGHG�LQ�UHVHDUFK�DQG�GHYHORSPHQW�FRsts, 
aV�WKH\�DUH�D�YDULDEOH�FRVW�EDVHG�RQ�SURGXFW�VDOHV��5HVHDUFK�DQG�GHYHORSPHQW�FRVWV�LQFOXGHG�LQ�³'HVLJQ�DQG�5HVHDUFK´�H[SHQVH�Ln 
the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations of $36.2 million, $38.8 million, $42.1 million, in fiscal 2009, 2008, and 2007, 
respectively. 

Advertising Costs 
$GYHUWLVLQJ�FRVWV�DUH�H[SHQVHG�DV� LQFXUUHG�DQG�DUH� LQFOXGHG� LQ� ³6HOOLQJ��JHQHUDO�� DQG�DGPLQLVWUDWLYH´�H[SHQVH� LQ� WKH�DFFRPSDQying 
Consolidated Statements of Operations.  Advertising costs were $2.2 million, $3.4 million, and $3.2 million, in fiscal 2009, 2008, and 
2007, respectively. 

Income Taxes  
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the expected future tax consequences attributable to differences between the 
financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities, and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
are measured using the enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are 
expected to reverse. 

Stock-Based Compensation 
The company has several stock-based compensation plans, which are described fully in Note 14. In December 2004, the FASB issued 
D�UHYLVLRQ�RI�6)$6�1R������� ³6KDUH-%DVHG�3D\PHQW´� �6)$6�����5����ZKLFK�VXSHUVHGHV�$3%�2SLQLRQ�1R������ ³Accounting for Stock 
,VVXHG�WR�(PSOR\HHV�´�7KH�FRPSDQ\�DGRSWHG�WKH�SURYLVLRQV�RI�6)$6�����5��LQ�WKH�ILUVW�TXDUWHU�RI�ILVFDO�������

Earnings per Share 
Basic earnings per share (EPS) excludes the dilutive effect of common shares that could potentially be issued, due to the exercise of 
stock options or the vesting of restricted shares, and is computed by dividing net earnings by the weighted-average number of common 
shares outstanding for the period. Diluted EPS for fiscal years 2009, 2008, and 2007, was computed by dividing net earnings by the 
sum of the weighted-average number of shares outstanding, plus all dilutive shares that could potentially be issued. Refer to Note 13, 
for further information regarding the computation of EPS. 
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1 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Significant Accounting and Reporting Policies (continued) 

Revenue Recognition  
The company recognizes revenue on sales through its network of independent contract furniture dealers and independent retailers once 
the related product is shipped and title passes to the dealer. In situations where products are sold through subsidiary dealers or directly 
to the end customer, revenue is recognized once the related product is shipped to the end customer and installation is substantially 
complete. Offers such as rebates and discounts are recorded as reductions to net sales. Unearned revenue occurs during the normal 
course of business due to advance payments from customers for future delivery of products and services.  

Shipping and Handling Expenses  
7KH�FRPSDQ\� UHFRUGV�VKLSSLQJ�DQG�KDQGOLQJ� UHODWHG�H[SHQVHV�XQGHU� WKH�FDSWLRQ� ³&RVW�RI�6DOHV´� LQ� WKH�&RQVROLGDWHG�6WDWHPHQWV�Rf 
Operations. 

Comprehensive Income/(Loss)  
7KH� FRPSDQ\¶V� FRPSUHKHQVLYH� LQFRPH� �ORVV�� FRQVLVWV� RI� QHW� HDUQLQJV�� IRUeign currency translation adjustments, pension and post­
UHWLUHPHQW� OLDELOLW\� DGMXVWPHQWV�� DQG� XQUHDOL]HG� KROGLQJ� JDLQV� �ORVVHV�� RQ� ³DYDLODEOH-for-VDOH´� LQYHVWPHQWV�� 7KH� FRPSRQHQWV� RI�
³$FFXPXODWHG�RWKHU�FRPSUHKHQVLYH�ORVV´�LQ�HDFK�RI�WKH�ODVW�WKUHH�ILVFDO�\ears are as follows. 
(In millions) Foreign Currency Pension and Unrealized Total 

Translation Post-Retirement Holding Accumulated 
Adjustments Liability Period Other 

Adjustments Gains (Losses) Comprehensive 
(net of tax) (net of tax) Income (Loss) 

Balance, June 3, 2006 $(2.8) $(60.2) $(0.3) $(63.3) 

Other comprehensive gain/(loss) in fiscal 2007 3.3 58.3 0.1 61.7 

Adjustments to adopt SFAS No. 158 ² (50.0) ² (50.0) 

Balance, June 2, 2007 0.5 (51.9)  (0.2) (51.6) 

Other comprehensive gain in fiscal 2008 4.1 (12.6) ²  (8.5) 

Balance, May 31, 2008 4.6 (64.5) (0.2) (60.1) 

Other comprehensive gain/(loss) in fiscal 2009 (14.0) (59.9) (0.1) (74.0) 

Balance May 30,2009 $(9.4) $(124.4) $(0.3) $(134.1) 

Use of Estimates in the Preparation of Financial Statements  
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent 
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting 
period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

Variable Interest Entities  
The company has provided subordinated debt to and/or guarantees on behalf of certain independent contract furniture dealerships. 
7KHVH� UHODWLRQVKLSV�PD\� FRQVWLWXWH� YDULDEOH� LQWHUHVWV� XQGHU� WKH�SURYLVLRQV�RI�)$6%� ,QWHUSUHWDWLRQ�1R�� ���� ³&RQVROLGDWLRQ�RI�9ariable 
IQWHUHVW�(QWLWLHV´� �),1����5���� �2Q�0D\����������DQG�0D\����������� WKH�FRPSDQ\�ZDV�QRW�FRQVLGHUHG�WKH�SULPDU\�EHQHILFLDU\�RI�Dny 
such dealer relationships as defined by FIN 46(R) and therefore, no entities were included as Variable Interest Entities (VIEs) as of 
these dates.  Refer to Note 3 for further discussion regarding VIEs. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
1 Significant Accounting and Reporting Policies (continued) 

Fair Value 
,Q�6HSWHPEHU�������WKH�)$6%�LVVXHG�6)$6�1R�������³)DLU�9DOXH 0HDVXUHPHQWV�´�ZKLFK�HVWDEOLVKHV�D�FRPSUHKHQVLYH�IUDPHZRUN�IRU�
measuring the fair value of assets and liabilities and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. Specifically, SFAS 157 sets 
forth a definition of fair value, and establishes a hierarchy prioritizing the use of inputs in valuation techniques. SFAS 157 defines levels 
within the hierarchy as follows: 

Level 1 ± quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets and liabilities. 
Level 2 ± either direct or indirect inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, which are observable for similar assets or 
liabilities. 
Level 3 ± inputs are unobservable. 
The company adopted the provisions of SFAS 157 for financial assets and liabilities as of June 1, 2008. There was no impact to the 
FRPSDQ\¶V�FRQVROLGDWHG�ILQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�UHODWHG�WR�WKH�DGRSWLRQ�RI�6)$6�������7KH�IROORZLQJ�WDEOH�VHWV�IRUWK�ILQDQFLDO�DVsets and 
liabilities measured at fair value in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets and the respective pricing levels to which the fair value 
measurements are classified within the fair value hierarchy as of May 30, 2009. 

Fair Value Measurement as of May 30, 2009 

Quoted Prices In Quoted Prices With 
Active Markets Other Observable 

(In millions) Total (Level 1) Inputs (Level 2) 

Financial Assets 
Available for-sale securities  $11.3 $4.3 $7.0 
Interest rate swap agreements  2.4 ²  2.4 
Deferred compensation plan investments  1.4 1.4 ²
Foreign currency forward contracts  0.2 ²  0.2 
Total $15.3 $5.7 $9.6 
Financial Liabilities 
Foreign currency forward contracts  $0.1 $²  $0.1 
Total $0.1 $²  $0.1 

,Q�)HEUXDU\�������WKH�)$6%�LVVXHG�6)$6�1R������³7KH�)DLU�9DOXH�2SWLRQ�IRU�)LQDQFLDO�$VVHWV�DQG�)LQDQFLDO�/LDELOLWLHV´��6)$6��59). 
SFAS 159 expands the use of fair value measurement by permitting entities to choose to measure at fair value, many financial 
instruments and certain other items that are not currently required to be measured at fair value. The company adopted the provisions of 
SFAS 159 at the beginning of fiscal 2009 and elected not to expand the use of fair value accounting beyond those assets and liabilities 
currently required to use this basis of measurement. 

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities 
On February 28, 2009, the comSDQ\� DGRSWHG� )$6%� 6WDWHPHQW� 1R�� ����� ³'LVFORVXUHV� DERXW� 'HULYDWLYH� ,QVWUXPHQWV� DQG� +HGJLQJ�
$FWLYLWLHV��DQ�DPHQGPHQW�RI�)$6%�6WDWHPHQW����´��6)$6�������7KH�DGRSWLRQ�RI�6)$6�����KDG�QR�ILQDQFLDO�LPSDFW�RQ�RXU�FRQVROLGDted 
financial statements and only required additional financial statement disclosures. The requirements of SFAS 161 have been applied on 
a prospective basis. Accordingly, disclosures related to periods prior to the date of adoption have not been presented. 

Interest Rate Swap Agreements 
We have used interest rate swaps in order for a portion of interest bearing debt to be variable, which matches interest expense with our 
business cycle. As of May 30, 2009, the company has one interest rate swap agreement that has the economic effect of modifying the 
fixed interest obligations associated with a portion of our public debt securities due March 15, 2011 so that the interest payable on the 
senior notes effectively becomes variable at a rate set to the six-month LIBOR rate plus 2.65 percent. The critical terms of the interest 
rate swap agreement and a component of the public debt securities match, including the notional amounts, interest rate reset dates, 
maturity dates and underlying market indices. Accordingly, as of May 30, 2009, a total of $50.0 milOLRQ�RI�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�RXWVWDQGLQJ�
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1 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Significant Accounting and Reporting Policies (continued) 

debt was effectively converted to a variable-rate basis as a result of the interest rate swap arrangement. This swap is a fair-value hedge 
and qualifies for hedge-DFFRXQWLQJ� WUHDWPHQW�XVLQJ� WKH� ³VKRUW-FXW´�PHWKRG�XQGHU� WKH�SURYLVLRQV�RI�6)$6������8QGHU� WKLV�DFFRXQWLQJ�
treatment, the change in the fair value of the interest rate swap is equal to the change in value of the related hedged debt and, as a 
result, there is no net effect on earnings. The agreement requires the company to pay floating-rate interest payments in return for 
receiving fixed-rate interest payments that coincide with the semi-annual payments to the debt holders at the same date. The periodic 
interest settlements, which occur at the same interval as the public debt securities, are recorded as interest expense. 

Foreign Currency Forward Contracts Not Designated as Hedges 
We transact business in various foreign currencies and have established a program that primarily utilizes foreign currency forward 
contracts to offset the risks associated with the effects of certain foreign currency exposures. Under this program, the compDQ\¶V�
strategy is to have increases or decreases in our foreign currency exposures offset by gains or losses on the foreign currency forward 
contracts to mitigate the risks and volatility associated with foreign currency transaction gains or losses. These foreign currency 
exposures typically arise from net liability or asset exposures in non-local currencies on the balance sheets of our foreign subsidiaries. 
These foreign currency forward contracts generally settle within 90 days and are not used for trading purposes. These forward contracts 
are not designated as hedging instruments pursuant to SFAS 133. Accordingly, we record the fair value of these contracts as of the end 
of the reporting period in the consolidated balance sheet with changes in fair value recorded in our consolidated statement of 
operations. The balance sheet classification for the fair values of these forward contracts is other current assets for unrealized gains 
and to other current liabilities for unrealized losses. The statement of operations classification for the fair values of these forward 
contracts is to other expenses (income), other, net, for both realized and unrealized gains and losses. 

As of May 30, 2009, the notional amounts of the forward contracts held to purchase and sell U.S. dollars in exchange for other major 
international currencies were $10.4 million and the notional amounts of the foreign currency forward contracts held to sell European 
euros in exchange for other major international currencieV�ZHUH�¼��� million. 

The effects of derivative instruments on the condensed consolidated financial statements were as follows for the year ended May 30, 
2009 (amounts presented exclude any income tax effects) are shown below. The effect of derivative instruments on the condensed 
consolidated statement of operations was $0.1 million for the period ended May 30, 2009. 

Fair Value of Derivative Instruments in Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet 

May 30, 2009 

(In millions) Balance Sheet Location Fair Value 

Interest rate swap agreement ± fair market value Other noncurrent assets $2.4 
Foreign currency forward contracts not designated as hedges Other current assets $0.2 
Foreign currency forward contracts not designated as hedges Other current liabilities $0.1 

Effects of Derivative Instruments of Income 

May 30, 2009 

(In millions) (Gain) Loss Location Amount 

Recognized Income on Derivative 
Other expense (Income), 

Foreign currency forward contracts Other, net $(0.10) 

New Accounting Standards 
In DHFHPEHU������� WKH�)$6%� LVVXHG�D� UHYLVLRQ� RI�6)$6�1R�� ����� ³6KDUH-%DVHG�3D\PHQW´� �6)$6�����5����ZKLFK� VXSHUVHGHV�$3%�
2SLQLRQ�1R������³$FFRXQWLQJ�IRU�6WRFN�,VVXHG�WR�(PSOR\HHV�´�7KLV�VWDWHPHQW�IRFXVHV�SULPDULO\�RQ�WUDQVDFWLRQV�LQ�ZKLFK�DQ�HQWLty obtains 
employee services in exchange for share-based payments. Under SFAS 123(R), a public entity generally is required to measure the 
cost of employee services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments based on the grant-date fair value of the award, with 
such cost recognized over the requisite service period. This new accounting treatment is also required for any share-based payments to 
our Board of Directors. SFAS 123(R) also requires an entity to provide certain disclosures in order to assist in understanding the nature 
of share-based payment transactions and the effects of those transactions on the financial statements. We adopted the provisions of 
SFAS 123(R) in the first quarter of fiscal 2007.  Further information regarding the adoption of SFAS 123(R) is provided in Note 14. 
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1 
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Significant Accounting and Reporting Policies (continued) 

,Q�-XQH�������WKH�)$6%�LVVXHG�)$6%�,QWHUSUHWDWLRQ�1R������³$FFRXQWLQJ�IRU�8QFHUWDLQW\�LQ�,QFRPH�7D[HV-an interpretation of FASB 
6WDWHPHQW�1R�����´��),1������ZKLFK�FODULILHV�WKH�DFFRXQWLQJ�IRU�XQFHUWDLQW\�LQ�WD[�SRVLWLRQV��8QGHU�),1�����WKH�WD[�HIIHFWV�Rf a position 
VKRXOG�EH�UHFRJQL]HG�RQO\�LI�LW�LV�³PRUH-likely-than-QRW´�WR�EH�VXVWDLQHG�EDVHG�VROHO\�RQ�LWV�WHFKQLFDO�PHULWs as of the reporting date. FIN 
48 also requires significant new annual disclosures in the notes to the financial statements. The effect of adjustments at adoption is 
required to be recorded directly to beginning retaining earnings in the period of adoption and reported as a change in accounting 
principle. The company adopted the provisions of FIN 48 at the beginning of fiscal 2008. Further information regarding the adoption of 
FIN 48 is provided in Note 15. 
,Q�6HSWHPEHU�������WKH�)$6%�LVVXHG�6)$6�1R������³(PSOR\HUV¶�$FFRXQWLQJ�IRU�'HILQHG�%HQHILW�3HQVLRQ�DQG�2WKHU�3RVWUHWLUHPHQW�
3ODQV´��6)$6�������6)$6�����DPHQGV�6)$6�1R�����³(PSOR\HUV¶�$FFRXQWLQJ�IRU�3HQVLRQV�´�6)$6�1R�����³(PSOR\HUV¶�$FFRXQWLQJ�IRU�
Settlements and Curtailments of Defined Benefit Pension PODQV�DQG�IRU�7HUPLQDWLRQ�%HQHILWV�´�6)$6�1R������³(PSOR\HUV¶�$FFRXQWLQJ�
IRU�3RVWUHWLUHPHQW�%HQHILWV�2WKHU� WKDQ�3HQVLRQV´� DQG�6)$6����� ³(PSOR\HUV¶�'LVFORVXUHV�DERXW�3HQVLRQV�DQG�2WKHU�3RVWUHWLUHPHQW
%HQHILWV�´� 7KH� DPHQGPHQWV� UHWDLQ� PRVW� RI� WKH� H[LVWLQJ� PHDVurement and disclosure guidance and will not change the amounts 
recognized in our Consolidated Statements of Operations. SFAS 158 requires companies to recognize a net asset or liability with an 
offset to equity, by which the defined-benefit postretirement obligation is over-funded or under-funded. SFAS 158 requires prospective 
application. The company adopted the provisions of SFAS 158 as of June 2, 2007, and the adoption of SFAS 158 did not require a 
restatement of prior periods. 

In December 2007, the )$6%�LVVXHG�D�UHYLVHG�YHUVLRQ�RI�6)$6�1R�������³%XVLQHVV�&RPELQDWLRQV��UHYLVHG������´��6)$6�����5�����
7KH�)$6%�DOVR�LVVXHG�6)$6�1R�������³1RQFRQWUROOLQJ�,QWHUHVWV�LQ�&RQVROLGDWHG�)LQDQFLDO�6WDWHPHQWV-$Q�$PHQGPHQW�RI�$5%�1R����´�
(SFAS 160) at the same time it issued SFAS 141(R).  SFAS 160 requires all entities to report noncontrolling (minority) interests in 
subsidiaries as equity in the consolidated financial statements, except as required under FIN 46 (required consolidation with respect to 
Variable Interest Entities). 

The company is required to adopt the provisions of both SFAS 141(R) and SFAS 160 simultaneously at the beginning of fiscal 2010.  
Earlier adoption is prohibited.  The company is currently evaluating the provisions of these pronouncements; however, there will be an 
immediate impact from SFAS 141(R) as it relates to the announced acquisition of Nemschoff Chairs, LLC.  Under SFAS 141(R) we 
expect to expense acquisition related costs as incurred and contingent consideration associated with the transaction will be capitalized 
at estimated fair value as of the acquisition date.    

In June ������WKH�)$6%�LVVXHG�6WDII�3RVLWLRQ��³)63´��(PHUJLQJ�,VVXH�7DVN�)RUFH��³(,7)´��,VVXH�1R� 03-6-1, Determining Whether 
Instruments Granted in Share-Based Payment Transactions Are Participating Securities �³)63� (,7)� ��-6-�´��� )63� (,7)� ��-6-1 
provides that unvested share-based payment awards that contain non-forfeitable rights to dividends or dividend equivalents (whether 
paid or unpaid) are participating securities and shall be included in the computation of earnings per share pursuant to the two-class 
method. FSP EITF 03-6-1 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008 (fiscal year 2009 for the company). Upon 
adoption, a company is required to retrospectively adjust its earnings per share data, including any amounts related to interim periods, 
summaries of earnings, and selected financial data, to conform to the provisions of FSP EITF 03-6-1. The adoption of FSP EITF 03-6-1 
during fiscal 2009 had no financial impact on our consolidated financial statements and only required additional financial statement 
disclosures. 

On December 30, 2008, the FASB issued FSP SFAS No. 132(R)-1, (PSOR\HU¶V� 'LVFORVXUHV� DERXW� 3RVWUHWLUHPHQW� %HQHILW� 3ODQ�
Assets �³)63� 6)$S No. 132(R)-�´��� 7KLV� )63� DPHQGV� )$6%� 6WDWHPHQW� 1R�� ���� �5HYLVHG� ������� (PSOR\HUV¶� 'LVFORVXUHV� DERXW�
Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits �³6)$6�1R� ����5�´���WR�SURYLGH�JXLGDQFH�RQ�DQ�HPSOR\HU¶V�GLVFORVXUHV�DERXW�SODQ�DVVHWV�
of a defined benefit pension or other postretirement plan. The disclosures about plan assets required by FSP SFAS No. 132(R)-1 shall 
be provided for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2009 (fiscal 2010 for the company). Upon initial application, the provisions of 
FSP SFAS No. 132(R)-1 are not required for earlier periods that are presented for comparative purposes. Earlier application of the 
provisions of FSP SFAS No. 132(R)-1 is permitted. Since FSP SFAS No. 132(R)-1 requires only additional disclosures concerning plan 
assets, adoption of FSP SFAS No. 132(R)-��LV�QRW�H[SHFWHG�WR�DIIHFW�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�ILQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV��

In April 2009, the FASB released FASB Staff Position FAS 115-2 and FAS 124-2, Recognition and Presentation of Other-Than-
Temporary Impairments (FSP FAS 115-2).  Under FSP FAS 115-2, impairment for debt securities, in certain circumstances, is 
separated into the credit loss amount recognized in earnings and the amount related to all other factors (non-credit loss) recognized in 
other comprehensive income, net of applicable taxes.  FSP FAS 115-2 is effective for interim and annual periods ending after June 15, 
2009, although early adoption is permitted for companies with periods ending after March 15, 2009. The company chose to adopt FSP 
FAS 115-2 during the foXUWK�TXDUWHU�RI�ILVFDO�������ZKLFK�GLG�QRW�KDYH�D�PDWHULDO�LPSDFW�RQ�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�ILQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV���
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

2. Acquisitions and Divestitures 
During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2007, Convia, a subsidiary of Herman Miller, Inc. acquired a technology company for $3.5 million in 
cash. The intellectual property acquired in connection with this transaction is intended to enhance the functionality of ConYLD¶V�SURGXFW�
offering. 

On February 1, 2008, the company completed its acquisition of the stock of Brandrud Furniture, Inc. (Brandrud), an Auburn, 
Washington based manufacturer of healthcare furnishings. With annual net sales of approximately $20 million at the time of acquisition, 
Brandrud focuses on seating products for patient rooms, patient treatment areas, and public spaces such as lobbies and waiting areas. 
The final purchase price related to this transaction included an initial $12 million cash payment, the assumption of $2.1 million of debt 
and a performance-based contingency payment of $26.6 million cash paid in fiscal 2009 and recognized as goodwill. 
$VVHWV�DFTXLUHG�DQG�OLDELOLWLHV�DVVXPHG�LQ�WKH�DFTXLVLWLRQ�ZHUH�UHFRUGHG�RQ�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�&RQVROLGDWHG�%DODQFH�6KHHWV�EDVHG�Rn 

their estimated faiU�YDOXHV�DV�RI�WKH�GDWH�RI�WKH�DFTXLVLWLRQ��7KH�UHVXOWV�RI�RSHUDWLRQV�RI�%UDQGUXG�KDYH�EHHQ�LQFOXGHG�LQ�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�
Consolidated Statements of Operations since the date of the acquisition. The excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair 
values oI�WKH�XQGHUO\LQJ�DVVHWV�DFTXLUHG�DQG�OLDELOLWLHV�DVVXPHG�ZDV�DOORFDWHG�WR�JRRGZLOO��%UDQGUXG�LV�LQFOXGHG�LQ�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�1RUth 
American segment; therefore all of the goodwill recorded in the acquisition has been allocated to that segment. 

During the first quarter of fiscal 2009, the company completed the sale of a wholly-owned contract furniture dealership in Texas.  The 
HIIHFW�RI�WKLV�WUDQVDFWLRQ�RQ�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�FRQVROLGDWHG�ILQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV�ZDV�QRW�PDWHULDO���

During the second quarter of fiscal 2009, the company completed the purchase of selected elements of Ruskin Industries, a 
specialized manufacturer of complex wood chair frames and wood frame components, based in Hickory, North Carolina.  The purchase 
consideration for this transaction was approximately $2.9 million. 

Subsequent to May 30, 2009, the company acquired Nemschoff Chairs, LLC (Nemschoff) a Sheboygan, Wisconsin-based 
manufacturer, with additional manufacturing capabilities in Sioux Center, Iowa.   Nemschoff manufactures healthcare furnishings, with 
an emphasis on seating products for patient rooms, patient treatment areas, and public spaces such as lobbies and waiting areas. 
Nemschoff also serves the higher education and office markets.  Nemschoff, with revenues of greater than $90 million in its most 
recently completed fiscal year, was acquired for a combination of $32.1 million in cash, which was paid with cash-on-hand and the 
LVVXDQFH�RI�����������VKDUHV�RI�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�FRPPRQ�VWRFN���$GGLWLRQDOO\��WKHUH�DUH�WZR�IRUPV�RI�FRQWLQJHQW�consideration; one being 
in the form of a performance-based payment that is in the range of $0 and $25 million and would be earned over the next two years. 
7KH�RWKHU�FRQWLQJHQW�FRQVLGHUDWLRQ� LV� LQ� WKH�IRUP�RI�D�FRQWLQJHQW�YDOXH�ULJKW��³&95´�� IRU�HDFK�VKDUe of common stock issued.  In the 
aggregate, the CVRs will be in the range of $0 and $22 million in two years.  Each CVR entitles the holder to compensation in the event 
WKDW� WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�VKDUH�SULFH� LV�EHORZ�����SHU�VKDUH� LQ�-XQH�������� �$� IORRU�SULFH�RI $13.28 has been established that provides a 
maximum payout of $10.72 per share to payable at the time of maturity.  Both the performance-based and CVR payments, if any, may 
EH�PDGH�LQ�HLWKHU�FDVK�RU�VWRFN�DW�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�GLVFUHWLRQ�

3. Variable Interest Entities 
7KH�FRPSDQ\�DGRSWHG�),1����5��DW� WKH�HQG�RI� ILVFDO� \HDU������� �$W� WKDW� WLPH� WKH�FRPSDQ\�TXDOLILHG�DV� WKH� ³SULPDU\�EHQHILFLDU\´� LQ�
certain dealer relationships which required the company to include the financial statements of the qualifying VIEs in its Consolidated 
Financial Statements. Since that time, triggering events occurred which caused the company to cease the consolidation of these VIE 
financial statements. At May 30, 2009 and May 31, 2008, the company was not considered the primary beneficiary in any of its 
independent dealer financing relationships. 

4. Inventories 
(In millions) May 30, 2009 May 31, 2008 

Finished goods $20.5 $25.6 
Work in process  4.9  13.6 
Raw materials  11.9  15.9 

Total $37.3 $55.1 

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market and include material, labor, and overhead. The inventories of the majority of 
domestic manufacturing subsidiaries are valued using the last-in, first-out method (LIFO). The inventories of all other subsidiaries are 
valued using the first-in, first-out method. Inventories valued using LIFO amounted to $13.0 million and $17.2 million as of May 30, 2009 
and May 31, 2008, respectively. If all inventories had been valued using the first-in first-out method, inventories would have been $11.5 
million and $12.0 million higher than reported at May 30, 2009 and May 31, 2008, respectively. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

5. Prepaid Expenses and Other 
(In millions) 

Deferred income taxes 
Taxes
Other 

Total 

May 30, 2009 

$14.8 
   16.7
 29.0

$60.5 

May 31, 2008 

$17.1 
9.7 

31.2 

$58.0 

6. Other Assets 
(In millions) May 30, 2009 May 31, 2008 

Notes receivable, less allowance of $0.5 in 2009 and $3.2 in 2008  $²  $²
Other intangibles, net 14.5  18.1 
Deferred income taxes  45.0  11.9 
Cash surrender value of life insurance  2.1  20.4 
Other 6.1  3.1 

Total $67.7  $53.5 

7. Accrued Liabilities 
(In millions) May 30, 2009 May 31, 2008 

Compensation and employee benefits $43.9  $92.6 
Income taxes 0.6  5.6 
Other taxes  11.0  13.4 
Unearned revenue  11.2  16.6 
Warranty reserves  15.4  14.9 
Charitable contributions  0.1  0.5 
Pension and post-retirement benefits  1.5  1.6 
Restructuring    11.6       0.6 
Other 29.9  38.3 

Total $125.2  $184.1 

8. Other Liabilities 
(In millions) May 30, 2009 May 31, 2008 

Pension benefits $121.2  $22.4 
Post-retirement benefits  12.2  11.9 
Other 40.3  39.5 

Total $173.7  $73.8 

9. Notes Payable 
In December 2007, the company entered into an unsecured revolving credit facility that provides for $250 million of borrowings and 
which expires December 17, 2012. The agreement has an accordion feature enabling the credit facility to be increased by an additional 
$100 million, subject to certain conditions. Outstanding borrowings under the agreement bear interest at rates based on the prime, 
Federal Funds, LIBOR, or negotiated rates as outlined in the agreement. Interest is payable periodically throughout the period a 
borrowing is outstanding. As of May 30, 2009 the only usage against this facility is related to outstanding standby letters of credit 
totaling approximately $13.1 million. Usage against the previous facility at May 31, 2008 related to outstanding standby letters of credit 
and totaled $13.1 million. 

Subsequent to May 30, 2009, the company announced that the unsecured revolving credit facility had been renegotiated.  The terms 
of the new agreement provided for $150 million of borrowings, with no accordion feature, and will expire in June 2012. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

10. Long-Term Debt 
(In millions) May 30, 2009 May 31, 2008 

Series A senior notes, 5.94%, due January 3, 2015 $50.0 $50.0 
Series B senior notes, 6.42%, due January 3, 2018 150.0 150.0 
Debt securities, 7.125%, due March 15, 2011(1) 175.0 175.0 
Fair value of interest rate swap arrangements 2.4 0.5 

Subtotal 377.4 375.5 
Less: current portion (75.0) ²

Total $302.4 $375.5 

(1) Subsequent to May 30, 2009, the company announced and completed a tender offer to repurchase $75 million of the outstanding 7.125% debt securities by means of an auction.  
The repurchase was completed on July 23, 2009 

On January 3, 2008, the company issued $200 million Series A and Series B senior unsecured notes, each having interest payments 
that are due semi-annually.  The $200 million of proceeds from the notes were used for an accelerated share repurchase (ASR) of the 
FRPSDQ\¶V�FRPPRQ�VWRFN���7KH�$65�ZDV�FRPSOHWHG�LQ�WKH�VHFRQG�TXDUWHU�RI�ILVFDO������ZLWK�WKH�GHOLYHU\�RI�����PLOOLRQ�VKDUHV��which, 
with the delivery of 5.4 million shares in fiscal 2008, brought the total shares repurchased to 7.5 million.  

Provisions of the senior notes and the unsecured senior revolving credit facility restrict, without prior consent, the compan\¶V�
borrowings, capital leases, and the sale of certain assets. In addition, the company has agreed to maintain certain financial 
performance ratios, which are based on earnings before taxes, interest expense, depreciation and amortization. At May 30, 2009 and 
May 31, 2008, the company was in compliance with all of these restrictions and performance ratios. 

Annual maturities of long-term debt for the five fiscal years subsequent to May 30, 2009, are as follows. 
(In millions) 

2010 $ 75.0 
2011  $100.0 
2012  $²
2013  $²
2014  $²
Thereafter $200.0 

7KH�DERYH�DPRXQWV�H[FOXGH�WKH�UHFRUGHG�IDLU�YDOXH�RI�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V� interest rate swap arrangements, which had a combined fair 
value of positive $2.4 million as of May 30, 2009.  Additional information regarding interest rate swaps is provided in Note 17.  

11. Operating Leases 
The company leases real property and equipment under agreements that expire on various dates. Certain leases contain renewal 
provisions and generally require the company to pay utilities, insurance, taxes, and other operating expenses. 

Future minimum rental payments required under operating leases that have non-cancelable lease terms as of May 30, 2009, are as 
follows. 
(In millions) 

2010  $16.3 
2011  $14.0 
2012  $10.5 
2013  $7.9 
2014  $5.3 
Thereafter $7.8 

Total rental expense charged to operations was $27.8 million, $25.9 million, and $24.8 million, in fiscal 2009, 2008, and 2007, 
respectively. Substantially all such rental expense represented the minimum rental payments under operating leases. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

12. Employee Benefit Plans 
The company maintains plans that provide retirement benefits for substantially all employees. 

Pension Plans and Post-Retirement Medical and Life Insurance  
The principal domestic retirement plan is a defined-benefit plan with benefits determined by a cash balance calculation. Benefits under 
WKLV�SODQ�DUH�EDVHG�XSRQ�DQ�HPSOR\HH¶V�\HDUV�RI�VHUYLFH�DQG�HDUQLQJV��7KH�FRPSDQ\�DOVR�RIIHUV�FHUWDLQ�HPSOR\HHV�UHWLUHPHQW�EHnefits 
under other domestic defined benefit plans, one of which covers employees subject to a collective bargaining arrangement. The 
company provides healthcare and life insurance benefits to employees who retired from service on or before a qualifying date in 1998 
and 2008, respectively. As of the respective qualifying dates, the company discontinued offering post-retirement medical and life 
LQVXUDQFH�EHQHILWV� WR�IXWXUH�UHWLUHHV��%HQHILWV� WR�TXDOLI\LQJ�UHWLUHHV�XQGHU�WKLV�SODQ�DUH�EDVHG�RQ�WKH�HPSOR\HH¶V�\HDUV�RI�Vervice and 
age at the date of retirement. 

In addition to the domestic pension and retiree healthcDUH� DQG� OLIH� LQVXUDQFH� SODQV�� RQH� RI� WKH� FRPSDQ\¶V�ZKROO\� RZQHG� IRUHLJQ�
subsidiaries has a defined-benefit pension plan based upon an average final pay benefit calculation. 
7KH�PHDVXUHPHQW�GDWH�IRU�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�SULQFLSDO�GRPHVWLF�DQG�LQWHUQDWLRQDO�SHQVLRn plans as well as its post-retirement medical 

and life insurance plan is the last day of the fiscal year. 

Benefit Obligations and Funded Status 
The following table presents, for the fiscal years noted, a summary of the changes in the projected benefit obligation, plan assets, and 
IXQGHG�VWDWXV�RI�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�GRPHVWLF�DQG�LQWHUQDWLRQDO�SHQVLRQ�SODQV�DQG�SRVW-retirement plan.   
(In millions) Pension Benefits Post-Retirement Benefits 

2009 2008 2009 2008 
Domestic International Domestic International 

Change in benefit obligation: 
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $267.9 $88.7 $274.5 $77.9 $13.4 $17.3 
Service cost 8.4 2.1 8.1 2.3 ² ²
Interest cost 18.3 4.6 16.1 4.3 0.8 0.9 
Amendments ² ² 1.7 ² ² ²
Curtailment cost (0.2) ² ² ² ² ²
Termination benefits 0.3 0.2 ² ² ² ²
Foreign exchange impact ² (16.9) ² (0.1) ² ²
Actuarial (gain)/loss 14.0 (11.6) (15.9) 4.9 0.4 (3.6) 
Employee contributions ² 0.4 ² 0.5 ² ²
Benefits paid (27.5) (1.5) (16.6) (1.1) (1.0) (1.2) 

Benefit obligation at end of year $281.2 $66.0 $267.9 $88.7 $13.6 $13.4 

Change in plan assets: 
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $263.2 $70.9 $284.3 $72.8 $² $²
Actual return on plan assets (62.1) (8.8) (4.9) (4.9) ² ²
Foreign exchange impact ² (13.0) ² ² ² ²
Employer contributions 1.7 2.6 0.4 3.6 1.0 1.2 
Employee contributions ² 0.4 ² 0.5 ² ²
Benefits paid (27.5) (1.5) (16.6) (1.1) (1.0) (1.2) 

Fair value of plan assets at end of year 175.3 50.6 263.2 70.9 ² ²

Under funded status at end of year $(105.9) $(15.4) $(4.7) $(17.8) $(13.6) $(13.4) 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
12 Employee Benefit Plans (continued) 

The components of the amounts recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets are as follows. 
(In millions) Pension Benefits Post-Retirement Benefits 

2009 2008 2009 2008 
Domestic International Domestic International 

Current assets $(0.1) $² $(0.1) $² $(1.4) $(1.5) 
Non-current liabilities (105.8) (15.4) (4.6) (17.8) (12.2) (11.9) 

$(105.9) $(15.4) $(4.7) $(17.8) $(13.6) $(13.4) 

7KH�DFFXPXODWHG�EHQHILW�REOLJDWLRQ�IRU�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�GRPHVWLF�SHQVLRQ�EHQHILW�SODQV�WRWDOHG��������PLOOLRQ�DQG��������PLOOLRQ as of 
the end of fiscal years 2009 and 2008, respectively. For its international plans, these amounts totaled $59.3 million and $81.5 million as 
of the same dates, respectively. 

The components of the amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss before the effect of income taxes are as 
follows. 
(In millions) 

Domestic 
2009 

International Domestic 

Pension Benefits 
2008 

International 

Post-Retirement Benefits 
2009 2008 

Unrecognized net actuarial loss $170.6 $22.6 $77.1 $26.3 $4.2 $4.0 
Unrecognized prior service cost (8.4) ² (8.9) ² 0.2 0.3 
Unrecognized transition amount ² 0.1 ² 0.1 ² ²

$162.2 $22.7 $68.2 $26.4 $4.4 $4.3 

Components of Net Periodic Benefit Costs and Other Changes Recognized in Other Comprehensive Income 
The following table is a summary of the annual cost of the compan\¶V�SHQVLRQ�DQG�SRVW-retirement plans. 
(In millions) Pension Benefits Post-Retirement Benefits 

2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007 

Domestic: 
Service cost $8.4 $8.1 $8.8 $² $² $²
Interest cost 18.3 16.1 16.0 0.8 0.9 1.0 
Expected return on plan assets (22.2) (21.7) (21.2) ² ² ²
Plan amendment ² 0.9 ² ² ² ²
Net amortization 2.5 3.2 2.5 0.2 0.4 0.8 

Net periodic benefit cost $7.0 $6.6 $6.1 $1.0 $1.3 $1.8 

International: 
Service cost 
Interest cost 
Expected return on plan assets 
Net amortization 

$2.1 
4.6 

(4.6) 
1.0 

$2.3 
4.3 

(5.1) 
0.6 

$2.2 
3.7 

(4.3) 
1.6 

Net periodic benefit cost $3.1 $2.1 $3.2 

Total net periodic benefit cost $10.1 $8.7 $9.3 $1.0 $1.3 $1.8 

The net prior service credit and actuarial loss included in accumulated other comprehensive income expected to be recognized in net 
periodic benefit cost during fiscal 2010 is $(2.2) million ($(1.4) million, net of tax) and $6.7 million ($4.3 million, net of tax), respectively. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
12 Employee Benefit Plans (continued) 

Other Changes in Plan Assets and Benefit Obligations Recognized in Other Comprehensive (Income) Loss 
(In millions) Pension Benefits Post-Retirement Benefits 

2009 2008 2009 2008 

Domestic 
Prior service cost $² $0.8 $² $²
Net actuarial (gain) loss 98.2 10.8 0.4 (3.6) 
One time termination benefits and curtailment costs(1) (1.8) 
Net amortization (2.5) (3.2) (0.2) (0.4) 

Total recognized in other comprehensive (income)loss 93.9 8.4 0.2 (4.0) 

Total recognized net pension (income) cost and other comprehensive (income) loss $100.9 $15.0 $1.2 $(2.7) 

International 
Net actuarial loss $1.9 $14.0 
Net amortization (0.8) (0.6) 

Total recognized in other comprehensive loss 1.1 13.4 

Total recognized net pension cost and other comprehensive loss $4.2 $15.5 

Total: 

Total recognized in other comprehensive (income)loss $95.0 $21.8 $0.2 $(4.0) 

Total recognized net pension (income) cost and other comprehensive (income) loss $105.1 $30.5 $1.2 $(2.7) 

(1) 2QH�WLPH�WHUPLQDWLRQ�EHQHILWV�DQG�FXUWDLOPHQW�FRVWV�ZHUH�UHFRJQL]HG�LQ�ILVFDO������IRU�WKH�DQQRXQFHG�VKXWGRZQ�RI�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶s IMT facility 

Actuarial Assumptions 
The weighted-average actuarial assumptions used to determine the benefit obligation amounts as of the end of the fiscal year for the 
FRPSDQ\¶V�SHQVLRQ�SODQV�DQG�SRVW-retirement plans are as follows. 

2009 2008 2007 
U.S. International U.S. International U.S. International 

(Percentages) 
Discount rate 6.75 6.50 6.75 6.25 6.00 5.50 
Compensation increase rate 4.50 4.80 4.50 5.00 4.50 4.50 

The weighted-average actuarial assumptions used to determine the net periodic benefit cost are established at the end of the 
previous fiscal year for the subsequent fiscal years as follows. 

2009 2008 2007 
U.S. International U.S. International U.S. International 

(Percentages) 
Discount rate 6.75 6.25 6.00 5.50 6.50 5.00 
Compensation increase rate 4.50 5.00 4.50 4.50 4.50 4.25 
Expected return on plan assets 8.50 7.30 8.50 7.75 8.50 7.75 

In calculating post-retirement benefit obligations, a 7.8 percent annual rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered healthcare 
benefits was assumed for 2009, decreasing gradually to 4.5 percent by 2029 and remaining at that level thereafter. For purposes of 
calculating post-retirement benefit costs, a 9.3 percent annual rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered healthcare benefits was 
assumed for 2008, decreasing gradually to 5.0 percent by 2014 and remaining at that level thereafter. 

Assumed health care cost-trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported for retiree health care costs. A one­
percentage-point change in the assumed health care cost-trend rates would have the following effects: 
(In millions) 1 Percent 1 Percent 

Increase Decrease 

Effect on total fiscal 2009 service and interest cost components $²  $²
Effect on post-retirement benefit obligation at May 30, 2009  $0.6 $(0.6)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
12 Employee Benefit Plans (continued) 

Plan Assets and Investment Strategies 
7KH� FRPSDQ\¶V� SULPDU\� GRPHVWLF� DQG� LQWHUQDWLRQDO� SODQ� DVVHWV� FRQVLVW�PDLQO\� RI� OLVWHG� FRPPRQ� VWRFNV��PXWXDO� IXQGV�� IL[HG� LQFRme 
REOLJDWLRQV�DQG�FDVK��7KH�FRPSDQ\¶V�SULPDU\�REMHFtive for invested pension plan assets is to provide for sufficient long-term growth and 
liquidity to satisfy all of its benefit obligations over time. Accordingly, the company has developed an investment strategy that it believes 
maximizes the probability of meeting this overall objective. This strategy includes the development of a target investment allocation by 
asset category in order to provide guidelines for making investment decisions. This target allocation emphasizes the long-term 
characteristics of individual asset classes as well as the diversification among multiple asset classes. In developing its strategy, the 
company considered the need to balance the varying risks associated with each asset class with the long-term nature of its benefit 
obligaWLRQV�� 7KH� FRPSDQ\¶V� VWUDWHJ\� SODFHV� DQ� HPSKDVLV� RQ� WKH� SKLORVRSK\� WKDW�� RYHU� WKH� ORQJ-term, equities will outperform fixed 
income investments. Accordingly, the majority of plan assets are managed within various forms of equity investments. However, in the 
past 12 months we have systematically adopted an approach to de-risk the plan and increase investments in fixed income assets. 

The company utilizes independent investment managers to assist with investment decisions within the overall guidelines of the 
investment strategy. 
7KH�DVVHW�DOORFDWLRQ�IRU�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�SULPDU\�SHQVLRQ�SODQV�DW�WKH�HQG�RI�ILVFDO������DQG������DQG�WKH�WDUJHW�DOORFDWLRQ�E\�asset 

category are as follows: 

Primary Domestic Plan 
(Percentages) Targeted Actual Percentage of Plan 

Asset Assets at Year end 
Allocation 

2009 2008 

Asset Category 
Equities 54 ± 66 56.2 73.8 
Fixed Income 35 ± 43 42.2 25.7 
Other(1) 0 ± 5 1.6 0.5 

Total 100.0 100.0 

Primary International Plan 
(Percentages) Targeted Actual Percentage of Plan 

Asset Assets at Year end 
Allocation 

2009 2008 

Asset Category 
Equities 54 ± 66 60.9 63.8 
Fixed Income 35 ± 43 27.4 26.2 
Other(1) 0 ± 5 11.7 10.0 

Total 100.0 100.0 

(1) Primarily includes cash and equivalents. 

Cash Flows 
The company is currently determining what voluntary pension plan contributions, if any, will be made in fiscal 2010. Actual contributions 
will be dependent upon investment returns, changes in pension obligations, and other economic and regulatory factors. 
,Q�$XJXVW�������WKH�3HQVLRQ�3URWHFWLRQ�$FW�RI�������WKH�³$FW´��ZDV�VLJQHG�LQWR�ODZ���%HJLQQLQJ�LQ�������WKH�$FW�UHSODFHV�SUHYailing 
VWDWXWRU\�PLQLPXP�IXQGLQJ�UHTXLUHPHQWV��DQG�ZLOO�JHQHUDOO\�UHTXLUH�FRQWULEXWLRQV�WR�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�8�6��GHILQHG�EHQHILW�SHnsion plans in 
amounts necessary to fund the cost of currently-accruing benefits, and to fully-fund any unfunded accrued benefits over a period of 
seven years. In the long-term, the new law is not expected to materially change aggregate contributions required to be made to the U.S. 
pension plans, although such contributions may vary on a year to year basis  from what otherwise would have been required. The 
H[WHQW�RI�WKHVH�YDULDWLRQV�LV�QRW�H[SHFWHG�WR�KDYH�D�PDWHULDO�LPSDFW�RQ�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�ILQDQFLDO�SRVLWLon or cash flows. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
12 Employee Benefit Plans (continued) 

The following represents a summary of the benefits expected to be paid by the company in future fiscal years. These expected 
benefits were estimated based on the same actuarial valuation assumptions used to determine benefit obligations at May 30, 2009. 
(In millions) Domestic International Post-retirement 

Pension Benefits Pension Benefits Benefits 

2010 $23.8 $0.7 $1.4 
2011 23.8 0.9 1.4 
2012 25.2 1.3 1.4 
2013 25.4 1.5 1.4 
2014 20.3 1.7 1.3 
2015-2019 101.4 11.0 6.0 

Profit Sharing and 401(k) Plan 
Herman Miller, Inc. has a trusteed profit sharing plan that includes substantially all domestic employees. These employees are eligible 
to begin particLSDWLQJ�RQ�WKHLU�GDWH�RI�KLUH��7KH�SODQ�SURYLGHV�IRU�GLVFUHWLRQDU\�FRQWULEXWLRQV��SD\DEOH�LQ�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�FRPPRQ�VWRFN��RI�
QRW� PRUH� WKDQ� ���� SHUFHQW� RI� HPSOR\HHV¶� ZDJHV� EDVHG� RQ� WKH� FRPSDQ\¶V� ILQDQFLDO� SHUIRUPDQFH�� 7KH� FRVW� RI� WKH� FRPSDQ\¶V� SURILW�
sharing contributions charged against operations in fiscal 2009 was negligible and in 2008 and 2007 were $11.0 million and $12.2 
million, respectively.    

The company has traditionally matched 50 percent of employee contributions to their 401(k) accounts up to 6.0 percent of their pay. 
However, in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009, the company announced an indefinite suspension of the 401(k) matching program due to 
current economic conditions.  The company will continue to evaluate its cost structure to determine when and if the current policy will 
FKDQJH��7KH�FRVW�RI�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�PDWFKLQJ�FRQWULEXWLRQV�FKDUJHG�DJDLQVW�RSHUDWLRQV�ZDV�DSSUR[LPDWHO\������PLOOLRQ�������PLOOion, and 
$6.6 million, in fiscal 2009, 2008, and 2007, respectively. 

13. Common Stock and Per Share Information 
The following table reconciles the numerators and denominators used in the calculations of basic and diluted EPS for each of the last 
three fiscal years. 
(In millions, except shares) 2009 2008 2007 

Numerators: 
Numerators for both basic and diluted EPS, net earnings $68.0 $152.3 $129.1 

Denominators: 
Denominators for basic EPS, weighted-average common shares outstanding 54,138,570 59,109,284 64,318,034 
Potentially dilutive shares resulting from stock plans  396,921 475,632 743,236 

Denominator for diluted EPS 54,535,491 59,584,916 65,061,270 

Options to purchase 3,029,844 shares, 1,295,762 shares, and 710,516 shares of common stock have not been included in the 
denominator for the computation of diluted earnings per share for the fiscal years ended May 30, 2009, May 31, 2008, and June 2, 
2007, respectively, because they were anti-dilutive. 

14. Stock-Based Compensation 
The company utilizes equity-based compensation incentives as a component of its employee and non-employee director and officer 
compensation philosophy. Currently, these incentives consist principally of stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock units and 
performance share units. The company also offers a discounted stock purchase plan for its domestic and international employees. The 
company issues shares in connection with its share-based compensation plans from authorized, but unissued, shares. 

Valuation and Expense Information 
In December 2004, the FASB issued a revision of SFAS No. 1���� ³6KDUH-%DVHG� 3D\PHQW´� �6)$6� ����5���� ZKLFK� VXSHUVHGHV�
$FFRXQWLQJ�3ULQFLSOHV�%RDUG�2SLQLRQ�1R������³$FFRXQWLQJ�IRU�6WRFN�,VVXHG�WR�(PSOR\HHV´��$3%������6)$6�����5��JHQHUDOO\�UHTXLUes 
companies to measure the cost of employee services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments based on their grant-
date fair market value and to recognize this cost over the requisite service period. The company adopted SFAS 123(R) as of the 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
14 Stock Based Compensation (continued) 

beginning of its 2007 fiscal year, using the modified prospective method. Under this method, compensation expense recognized by the 
company, includes: (a) compensation cost for all stock-based payments granted prior to, but not yet vested as of June 3, 2006, based 
on the grant-GDWH� IDLU� YDOXH� HVWLPDWH� LQ� DFFRUGDQFH� ZLWK� WKH� RULJLQDO� SURYLVLRQV� RI� 6)$6� ����� ³$FFRXQWLQJ� IRU� 6WRFN-Based 
&RPSHQVDWLRQ�´�DQG��E��FRPSHQVDWLRQ�FRVW�IRU�DOO�VWRFN-based payments granted subsequent to June 3, 2006, based on the grant-date 
fair value estimated in accordance with SFAS 123(R). Prior to the adoption of SFAS 123(R), the company accounted for its stock-based 
compensation plans under the recognition and measurement principles of APB 25 and related Interpretations. 
&HUWDLQ� RI� WKH� FRPSDQ\¶V� HTXLW\-based compensation awards contain provisions that allow for continued vesting into retirement. 

Under SFAS 123(R), a stock-EDVHG�DZDUG�LV�FRQVLGHUHG�IXOO\�YHVWHG�IRU�H[SHQVH�DWWULEXWLRQ�SXUSRVHV�ZKHQ�WKH�HPSOR\HH¶V�UHtention of 
the award is no longer contingent on providing subsequent service. 

Pre-tax compensation expense for all types of stock-based programs was $3.2 million, $6.2 million, and $4.9 million for the fiscal 
years ended May 30, 2009, May 31, 2008, and June 2, 2007, respectively. The company classifies pre-tax stock-based compensation 
H[SHQVH�SULPDULO\�ZLWKLQ�³2SHUDWLQJ�([SHQVHV´� LQ� WKH�&RQVROLGDWHG�6WDWHPHQWV�RI�2SHUDWLRQV��5HODWHG�H[SHQVHV�FKDUJHG�WR� ³&RVW of 
6DOHV´�DUH�QRW�PDWHULDO��7KH�FRUUHVSRQGLQJ�Lncome tax benefit recognized for the fiscal years ended May 30, 2009, May 31, 2008, and 
June 2, 2007, was $1.0 million, $2.1 million, and $1.6 million, respectively. 

As of May 30, 2009, total pre-tax stock-based compensation cost not yet recognized related to non-vested awards was 
approximately $5.2 million. The weighted-average period over which this amount is expected to be recognized is 1.46 years. 

The company estimated the fair value of employee stock options on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes model. In determining 
these values, the following weighted-average assumptions were used for the options granted during the fiscal years indicated. 

2009 2008 

Risk-free interest rates(1) 1.96-3.55% 3.13-4.82% 4.33-4.95% 
Expected term of options(2) 5.5 years 1.6-5.5 years 1.7-5.0 years 
Expected volatility(3) 33% 28% 28% 
Dividend yield(4) 1.4% 1.0% 1.0% 
Weighted-average grant-date fair value of stock options: 

Granted with exercise prices equal to the 
fair market value of the stock on the date of grant $7.25 $9.55 $9.38 
Granted with exercise prices greater than the 
fair market value of the stock on the date of grant $² $² $7.48 

(1) Represents the U.S. Treasury yield over the same period as the expected option term. 
(2) Represents the period of time that options granted are expected to be outstanding. Based on analysis of historical option exercise activity, the company has determined that all 

employee groups exhibit similar exercise and post-vesting termination behavior. 
(3) AmounW�LV�GHWHUPLQHG�EDVHG�RQ�DQDO\VLV�RI�KLVWRULFDO�SULFH�YRODWLOLW\�RI�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�FRPPRQ�VWRFN�RYHU�D�SHULRG�HTXDO�WR�WKH�H[Sected term of the options. The company also 

utilizes a market-EDVHG�RU�³LPSOLHG�YRODWLOLW\´�PHDVXUH��RQ�H[FKDQJH-traded options in WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�FRPPRQ�VWRFN��DV�D�UHIHUHQFH�LQ�GHWHUPLQLQJ�WKLV�DVVXPSWLRQ���
(4) 5HSUHVHQWV�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�HVWLPDWHG�FDVK�GLYLGHQG�\LHOG�RYHU�WKH�H[SHFWHG�WHUP�RI�RSWLRQV�

Stock-based compensation expense recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Operations, has been reduced for estimated 
forfeitures, as it is based on awards ultimately expected to vest. SFAS 123(R) requires forfeitures to be estimated at the time of grant 
and revised, if necessary, in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. Forfeitures were estimated based on 
historical experience. 

Employee Stock Purchase Program 
8QGHU� WKH� WHUPV�RI� WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�(PSOR\HH�6WRFN�3XUFKDVH�3ODQ�� ��PLOOLRQ�VKDUHV�RI�DXWKRUL]HG�FRPPRQ�VWRFN�ZHUH� UHVHUYHG� IRU�
purchase by plan participants at 85.0 percent of the market price. The company recognized pre-tax compensation expense related to 
employee stock purchases of $0.4 million, $0.5 million, and $0.5 million for the fiscal years ended May 30, 2009, May 31, 2008 and 
June 2, 2007, respectively. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
14 Stock Based Compensation (continued) 

Stock Option Plans 
7KH� FRPSDQ\� KDV� VWRFN� RSWLRQ� SODQV� XQGHU� ZKLFK� RSWLRQV� WR� SXUFKDVH� WKH� FRPSDQ\¶V� VWRFN� DUH� JUDQWHG� WR� HPSOR\HHV� DQG� QRQ-
employee direcWRUV�DQG�RIILFHUV�DW�D�SULFH�QRW�OHVV�WKDQ�WKH�PDUNHW�SULFH�RI�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�FRPPRQ�VWRFN�RQ�WKH�GDWH�RI�JUDQW��8QGHU�
the current award program, all options become exercisable between one year and three years from date of grant and expire two to ten 
years from date of grant. The options are subject to graded vesting with the related compensation expense recognized on a straight-line 
basis over the requisite service period. At May 30, 2009, there were 6.0 million shares available for future options. 

The follRZLQJ�LV�D�VXPPDU\�RI�WKH�WUDQVDFWLRQV�XQGHU�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�VWRFN�RSWLRQ�SODQV�
Weighted-

Weighted- Average Aggregate 
Shares Average Remaining Intrinsic 
Under Exercise Contractual Value 
Option Prices Term (Years) (In Millions) 

Outstanding at June 3, 2006 4,330,708 $25.80 3.88 $20.8

 Granted at Market 
Granted>Market 
Exercised 
Forfeited 

94,205 
385,286 

(1,886,326) 
(63,751) 

$34.87 
$30.54 
$25.01 
$29.72 

Outstanding at June 2, 2007 2,860,122 $27.18 4.82 $26.8

 Granted at Market 
Exercised 
Forfeited 

317,902 
(125,301) 

(58,121) 

$31.35 
$24.03 
$30.84 

Outstanding at May 31, 2008 2,994,602 $27.68 4.36 $1.5

 Granted at Market 
Exercised 
Forfeited 

509,100 
(23,050) 

(656,440) 

$23.07 
$24.29 
$27.86 

Outstanding at May 30, 2009 2,824,212 $26.83 4.86 $0.2 

Ending vested + Expected to vest 
Exercisable at end of period 

2,799,946 
2,095,761 

$26.85 
$27.20 

4.83 
3.52 

$0.2 
$²

Pre-tax compensation expense related to these options totaled $2.9 million, $3.0 million, and $2.5 million for fiscal 2009, 2008, and 
2007, respectively. 

The total pre-tax intrinsic value of options exercised during fiscal 2009, 2008 and 2007 was $0.1 million, $0.9 million, and $19.8 
million, respectively. The aggregate intrinsic value in the preceding table represents the total pre-tax intrinsic value, based on the 
FRPSDQ\¶V�FORVLQJ�VWRFN�SULFH�DV�RI� WKH�HQG�RI� WKH�SHULRG�SUHVHQWHG��ZKLFK�ZRXOG�KDYH�EHHQ�UHFHLYHG�E\� WKH�RSWLRQ�KROGHUV�KDG all 
option holders exercised in-the-money options as of that date. 

The following is a summary of stock options outstanding at May 30, 2009. 
Outstanding Stock Options Exercisable Stock Options 

Range of Exercise Price Shares Weighted- Weighted- Shares Weighted-
Average Average Average 

Remaining Exercise Exercise 
Contractual Prices Prices 

Term (Years) 

$12.33-$25.10 

$25.13-$30.54 
$31.84-$38.13 

1,045,208 
1,202,903 

576,101 

3.17 
5.63 
6.33 

$22.65 
$27.48 
$33.07 

950,664 
718,983 
426,114 

$23.68 
$28.13 
$33.50 

Total 2,824,212 4.86 $26.83 2,095,761 $27.20 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
14 Stock Based Compensation (continued) 

Restricted Stock Grants 
From time to time, the company grants restricted common stock to certain key employees. Shares are granted in the name of the 
employee, who has all rights of a shareholder, subject to certain restrictions on transferability and a risk of forfeiture. The grants are 
subject to either cliff-based or graded vesting over a period not to exceed five years, subject to forfeiture if the employee ceases to be 
employed by the company for certain reasons. After the vesting period, the risk of forfeiture and restrictions on transferability lapse. The 
company recognizes the related compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period. A summary of shares 
subject to restrictions follows. 

2009 2008 2007 
Shares Weighted- Shares Weighted- Shares Weighted-

Average Average Average 
Grant-Date Grant-Date Grant-Date 
Fair Value Fair Value Fair Value 

Outstanding, at beginning of year 116,074 $26.59 106,001 $26.00 140,484 $25.12 
Granted 4,500 $20.04 12,922 $31.13 5,050 $33.68 
Vested (2,814) $29.02 (2,849) $25.21 (39,533) $23.87 

 Forfeited or Expired (900) $30.06 ² ² ² $²

Outstanding, at end of year 116,860 $26.25 116,074 $26.59 106,001 $26.00 

Pre-tax compensation expense related to these awards totaled $0.7 million for each of the fiscal years ended May 30, 2009, May 31, 
2008 and June 2, 2007, respectively. The weighted-average remaining recognition period of the outstanding restricted shares at May 
30, 2009, was 0.46 years. The fair value on the dates of vesting for shares that vested during the twelve months ended May 30, 2009, 
was $0.1 million. 

Restricted Stock Units 
The company has previously granted restricted stock units to certain key employees. This program provided that the actual number of 
UHVWULFWHG�VWRFN�XQLWV�DZDUGHG�ZDV�WLHG�LQ�SDUW�WR�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�DQQXDO�ILQDQFLDO�SHUIRUPDQFH�IRU�WKH�\HDU�RQ�ZKLFK�WKH�JUDQW is based. 
The awards generally cliff-vest after a five-year service period, with prorated vesting under certain circumstances and continued vesting 
LQWR� UHWLUHPHQW�� (DFK� UHVWULFWHG� VWRFN� XQLW� UHSUHVHQWV� RQH� HTXLYDOHQW� VKDUH� RI� WKH� FRPSDQ\¶V� FRPPRQ� VWRFN� WR� EH� DZDUGHG�� IUHH of 
restrictions, after the vesting period. Compensation expense related to these awards is recognized over the requisite service period, 
which includes any applicable performance period. Dividend equivalent awards are granted quarterly. The following is a summary of 
restricted stock unit transactions for the fiscal years indicated. 

2009 2008 2007 
Share Aggregate Weighted- Share Aggregate Weighted- Share Aggregate Weighted-
Units Intrinsic Average Units Intrinsic Average Units Intrinsic Average 

Value in Remaining Value in Remaining Value in Remaining 
Millions Contractual Millions Contractual Millions Contractual 

Term (Years) Term (Years) Term (Years) 

Outstanding, at beginning of year 168,374 $4.1 2.69 177,474 $6.5 3.68 80,062 $2.4 4.07
 Granted 

Forfeited 
Released 

Outstanding, at end of year 

3,438 
(9,927) 

(14,074) 

147,811 $2.0 1.69 

2,195 
(8,404) 
(2,891) 

168,374 $4.1 2.69 

109,318 
(10,379) 

(1,527) 

177,474 $6.5 3.68 

Ending vested + expected to vest 134,402 $1.9 1.69 143,554 $3.6 2.69 154,808 $5.7 3.68 

Pre-tax compensation expense related to restricted stock units totaled $0.6 million, $0.6 million, and $1.1 million for fiscal 2009, 2008 
and 2007, respectively. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
14 Stock Based Compensation (continued) 

Performance Share Units  
The company grants performance share units to certain key employees. No performance share units were granted prior to fiscal 2008. 
7KH�QXPEHU�RI�XQLWV�LQLWLDOO\�DZDUGHG�LV�EDVHG�RQ�WKH�YDOXH�RI�D�SRUWLRQ�RI�WKH�SDUWLFLSDQW¶V�ORQJ-term incentive compensation, divided by 
WKH� IDLU� YDOXH� RI� WKH� FRPSDQ\¶V� FRPPRQ� VWRFN� RQ� WKH� GDWH� RI� JUDQW�� (DFK� XQLW� UHSUHVHQWV� RQH� HTXLYDOHQW� VKDUH� RI� WKH� FRPSDQ\¶V
common stock. The number of common shares ultimately issued in connection with these performance share units is determined based 
RQ�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�ILQDQFLDO�SHUIRUPDQFH�RYHU�WKH�UHODWHG�WKUHH-year service period. Compensation expense is determined based on the 
grant-date fair value and the number of common shares projected to be issued, and is recognized over the requisite service period. The 
following is a summary of performance share unit transactions for the fiscal years indicated. 

2009 2008 
Share 
Units 

Aggregate 
Intrinsic 
Value in 
Millions 

Weighted-
Average 

Remaining 
Contractual 

Term (Years) 

Share 
Units 

Aggregate 
Intrinsic 
Value in 
Millions 

Weighted-
Average 

Remaining 
Contractual 

Term (Years) 

Outstanding, at beginning of year
 Granted 

Forfeited 

93,023 
101,426 
(11,472) 

$2.3 2.15 ²
95,530 
(2,507) 

$² ²

Outstanding, at end of year 182,977 $² 1.65 93,023 $2.3 2.15 

Ending vested + expected to vest ² $² 1.65 85,434 $2.1 2.15 

Pre-tax compensation expense (income) related to performance stock units totaled $(1.4) million and $1.4 million for fiscal 2009 and 
2008, respectively. The recognition of income during fiscal 2009 was driven by the reversal of expense for 2007 performance stock 
DZDUGV� EDVHG� RQ� WKH� FRPSDQ\¶V� UHFHQW� ILQDQFLDO� SHUIRUPDQFH�� GXH� WR� WKHVH� DZDUGV� QR� ORQJHU� EHLQJ� FRQVLGHUHG� SUREDEOH� RI� EHLQJ�
earned. 

Deferred Compensation Plan 
In 2008 the company discontinued use of the existing Non-qualified Deferred Compensation Plan for new contributions and established 
the Herman Miller, Inc. Executive Equalization Retirement Plan. 

The Non-qualified Deferred Compensation Plan allowed selected employees to defer part or all of their executive incentive cash 
ERQXV�SD\PHQW�HDFK�\HDU��7KH�FRPSDQ\�FRXOG�PDNH�D�PDWFKLQJ�FRQWULEXWLRQ�RI����SHUFHQW�RI� WKH�H[HFXWLYH¶V�FRQWULEXWLRQ�XS� WR��0 
SHUFHQW�RI� WKH�GHIHUUHG�FDVK� LQFHQWLYH�ERQXV��7KH�FRPSDQ\¶V�PDWFKLQJ�FRQWULEXWLRQ�YHVWed at the rate of 33 1/3 percent annually. In 
DFFRUGDQFH�ZLWK�WKH�WHUPV�RI�WKH�SODQ��WKH�H[HFXWLYH�GHIHUUDO�DQG�FRPSDQ\�PDWFKLQJ�FRQWULEXWLRQ�ZHUH�SODFHG�LQ�D�³5DEEL´�WUXVt, which 
LQYHVWHG� VROHO\� LQ� WKH� FRPSDQ\¶V� FRPPRQ� VWRFN�� 5DEEL� WUXVW� DUUDQJHPHQWV� RIIHr the executive a degree of assurance for ultimate 
payment of benefits without causing constructive receipt for income tax purposes. Distributions to the executive from the Rabbi trust can 
RQO\�EH�PDGH�LQ�WKH�IRUP�RI�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�FRPPRQ�VWRFN��7KH�DVVHWV�in the Rabbi trust remain subject to the claims of creditors of the 
FRPSDQ\�DQG�DUH�QRW�WKH�SURSHUW\�RI�WKH�H[HFXWLYH�DQG�DUH��WKHUHIRUH��LQFOXGHG�DV�D�VHSDUDWH�FRPSRQHQW�RI�VKDUHKROGHUV¶�HTXLWy under 
the caption Key Executive Deferred Compensation. 

The Herman Miller, Inc. Executive Equalization Retirement Plan is a supplemental deferred compensation plan and was made 
available for salary deferrals and company contributions beginning in January 2008. The plan is available to a select group of 
management or highly compensated employees who are selected for participation by the Executive Compensation Committee of the 
Board of Directors. The plan allows participants to defer up to 50 percent of their base salary and 100 percent of their incentive cash 
bonus. CoPSDQ\�FRQWULEXWLRQV�WR�WKH�SODQ�³PLUURU´�WKH�DPRXQWV�WKH�FRPSDQ\�ZRXOG�KDYH�FRQWULEXWHG�WR�WKH�YDULRXV�TXDOLILHG�UHWLUHPHQW�
SODQV� KDG� WKH� HPSOR\HH¶V� FRPSHQVDWLRQ� QRW� EHHQ� DERYH� WKH� ,56� VWDWXWRU\� FHLOLQJ� ���������� LQ� ������� +HUPDQ� 0LOOHU� GRHV� QRW�
guarantee a rate of return for these funds. Instead, participants make investment elections for their deferrals and company 
contributions. Investment options are the same as those available under the Herman Miller Profit Sharing and 401(k) Plan except for 
company stock which is not an investment option under this plan. 

In accordance with the terms of the Executive Equalization Plan, the salary and bonus deferrals and company contributions have 
been placed in a Rabbi trust. The assets in the Rabbi trust remain subject to the claims of creditors of the company and are not the 
SURSHUW\�RI�WKH�SDUWLFLSDQW�DQG�DUH��WKHUHIRUH��LQFOXGHG�DV�DQ�DVVHW�RQ�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�EDODQFH�VKHHW�
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
14 Stock Based Compensation (continued) 

Director Fees 
Company directors may elect to receive their director fees in one or more of the following forms: cash, deferred compensation in the 
form of shares, unrestricted company stock at the market value at the date of election, or stock options that vest in one year and expire 
LQ�WHQ�\HDUV��7KH�H[HUFLVH�SULFH�RI�WKH�VWRFN�RSWLRQV�JUDQWHG�PD\�QRW�EH�OHVV�WKDQ�WKH�PDUNHW�SULFH�RI�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�FRPPRQ�Vtock on 
the date of grant. Under the plan, the Board members received the following in the fiscal years indicated. 

2009 2008 2007 

Options 94,544 21,746 9,494 
Shares of common stock 30,004 16,086 5,637 
Shares through the deferred compensation program ² 4,334 6,529 

15. Income Taxes 
The components of earnings before income taxes and minority interest are as follows. 
(In millions) 2009 2008 2007 

Domestic $78.4 $176.1 $149.9 
Foreign  20.5    54.3  37.1 

Total $98.9 $230.4 $187.0 

The provision (benefit) for income taxes consists of the following. 
(In millions) 2009 2008 2007 

Current: Domestic ± Federal $18.7 $62.7 $38.7 
 Domestic ± State 1.7  5.0  3.7 

Foreign  7.5  21.1 12.3 

Subtotal  27.9  88.8 54.7 

Deferred: Domestic ± Federal 
 Domestic ± State 

Foreign 

3.6
 (0.3)
(0.2)

          (7.6)
          (0.3)
          (2.7) 

1.6 
0.9 
0.7 

Subtotal  3.1 (10.6)  3.2 

Total income tax provision $31.0 $78.2 $57.9 

The following table represents a reconciliation of income taxes at the United States statutory rate with the effective tax rate as 
follows. 
(In millions) 2008 2008 2007 

Income taxes computed at the United States 
statutory rate of 35% $34.6 $80.7 $65.5 

Increase (decrease) in taxes resulting from: 
Manufacturing deduction under the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (1.4) (3.4)   (1.2)

 Other, net (2.2) 0.9 (6.4) 

Income tax expense $31.0 $78.2 $57.9 

Effective tax rate 31.4% 33.9% 31.0% 

In fiscal 2007, the company was granted a tax holiday from the Ningbo Economic and Technological Development Commission in 
China. This agreement provides, starting with the first year of cumulative profits, for the company to be taxed at reduced rate for five 
\HDUV���7KH�FRPSDQ\¶V�1LQJER��&KLQD�RSHUDWLRQV�VWDUWHG�WKH�ILUVW�\HDU�RI�WKH�WD[�KROLGD\�DV�RI�-DQXDU\���������
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
15 Income Taxes (continued) 

The tax effects and types of temporary differences that give rise to significant components of the deferred tax assets and liabilities at 
May 30, 2009 and May 31, 2008, are as follows. 
(In millions) 2009 

Deferred tax assets: 
 Compensation-related accruals $7.8 $9.9 

Accrued pension and post-retirement benefit obligations 52.4 15.0 

Accrued health claims 1.6 1.9 
Reserves for inventory 1.7 2.3 
Reserves for uncollectible accounts and notes receivable 2.3 2.6 

 Warranty 5.0 4.6 
State and local tax net operating loss carryforwards 3.8 3.7 

Federal net operating loss carryforward 0.4 0.6 

 Non-Qualified Stock Options 2.8 2.1 
 State credits 1.8 1.8 

Foreign tax net operating loss carryforwards 5.4 5.2 
Foreign tax credits 0.2 3.5 

 Other 6.5 7.8 

Subtotal 91.7 61.0 
 Valuation allowance (9.2) (8.8) 

Total $82.5 $52.2 

Deferred tax liabilities: 
Book basis in property in excess of tax basis $(16.7) $(15.8) 
Prepaid employee benefits (5.2) (5.9)

 Other (0.8) (1.5) 

Total $(22.7) $(23.2) 

The future tax benefits of net operating loss (NOL) carryforwards and foreign tax credits are recognized to the extent that realization 
of these benefits is considered more likely than not. The company bases this determination on the expectation that related operations 
will be sufficiently profitable or various tax planning strategies will enable the company to utilize the NOL carryforwards and/or foreign 
tax credits. To the extent that available evidence about the future raises doubt about the realization of these tax benefits, a valuation 
allowance is established. 

At May 30, 2009, the company had state and local tax NOL carryforwards of $59.4 million, the tax benefit of which is $3.8 million, 
which have various expiration periods from one to twenty years. The company also had state credits with a tax benefit of $1.8 million 
that expire in one to six years. For financial statement purposes, the NOL carryforwards and state tax credits have been recognized as 
deferred tax assets, subject to a valuation allowance of $4.2 million. 

At May 30, 2009, the company had a federal NOL carryforward of $1.0 million, the tax benefit of which is $0.4 million, which expires 
in 17 years. For financial statement purposes, the NOL carryforward has been recognized as a deferred tax asset, subject to a 
valuation allowance of $0.4 million. 

At May 30, 2009, the company had foreign net operating loss carryforwards of $19.0 million, the tax benefit of which is $5.4 million, 
which have expiration periods from two years to unlimited in term. The company also had foreign tax credits with a tax benefit of $0.2 
million that expire in seven to ten years. For financial statement purposes, NOL carryforwards and foreign tax credits have been 
recognized as deferred tax assets, subject to a valuation allowance of $4.6 million. 

The company has not provided for United States income taxes on undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries totaling 
approximately $72.0 million. Recording deferred income taxes on these undistributed earnings is not required, because these earnings 
have been deemed to be permanently reinvested. These amounts would be subject to possible U.S. taxation only if remitted as 
dividends. The determination of the hypothetical amount of unrecognized deferred U.S. taxes on undistributed earnings of foreign 
entities is not practicable. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
15 Income Taxes (continued) 

The company adopted the provisions of FIN 48 on June 3, 2007.  As a result of the adoption of FIN 48, the company recorded an 
increase in liabilities for income tax accruals associated with tax benefits claimed on tax returns but not recognized for financial 
VWDWHPHQWV�SXUSRVHV��³XQUHFRJQL]HG�WD[�EHQHILWV´����7KH�FRPSRQHQWV�RI�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�XQUHFRJQL]HG�WD[�EHQHILWV�DUH�DV�IROORZV�
(In millions) 

Balance at May 31, 2008 $7.2 
Increases related to current year income tax positions 1.1 
Increases related to prior year income tax positions 0.9 
Decreases related to prior year income tax positions (1.2) 
Decreases related to lapse of applicable statue of limitations (0.3) 

Balance at May 30, 2009 $7.7 

7KH�FRPSDQ\¶V�HIIHFWLYH�WD[�UDWH�ZRXOG�KDYH�EHHQ�DIIHcted by the $7.7 million of unrecognized tax benefits had this amount been 
recognized as a reduction to income tax expense. 

The company recognizes interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits through income tax expense in its statement of 
opHUDWLRQV�� ,QWHUHVW�DQG�SHQDOWLHV� UHFRJQL]HG� LQ� WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�&RQVROLGDWHG�6WDWHPHQWV�RI�2SHUDWLRQV� IRU� WKH�\HDUV�HQGHG�0D\���, 
�����DQG�0D\����������ZHUH������DQG�������UHVSHFWLYHO\��$V�RI�0D\����������DQG�0D\�����������WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�UHFRUGHG�OLDELOLW\ for 
interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits totaled $1.0 million and $0.9 million, respectively. 

The company is subject to periodic audits by domestic and foreign tax authorities. Currently, the company is undergoing routine 
periodic audits in both domestic and foreign tax jurisdictions. It is reasonably possible that the amounts of unrecognized tax benefits 
could change in the next 12 months as a result of new positions that may be taken on income tax returns, settlement of tax positions 
aQG� WKH� FORVLQJ� RI� VWDWXWHV� RI� OLPLWDWLRQ�� ,W� LV� QRW� H[SHFWHG� WKDW� DQ\� RI� WKH� FKDQJHV�ZLOO� EH�PDWHULDO� WR� WKH� FRPSDQ\¶V�&RQVROidated 
Statement of Operations. 

For the majority of tax jurisdictions, the company is no longer subject to U.S. federal, state and local, or non-U.S. income tax 
examinations by tax authorities for fiscal years before 2005. 

Subsequent to May 30, 2009, the company closed an audit with the Internal Revenue Service covering fiscal years 2005 through 
2008. 

16. Fair Value of Financial Instruments 
7KH�FDUU\LQJ�DPRXQW�RI�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�ILQDQFLDO�LQVWUXPHQWV�LQFOXGHG�LQ�FXUUHQW�DVVHWV�DQG�FXUUHQW�OLDELOLWLHV�DSSUR[LPDWHV�IDir value due 
to their short-term nature. As of May 30, 2009 and May 31, 2008, the company estimates that the fair value of notes receivable 
approximates the related carrying values. The company intends to hold these notes to maturity and has recorded allowances to reflect 
WKH� H[SHFWHG� QHW� UHDOL]DEOH� YDOXH�� $V� RI�0D\� ���� ������ WKH� FDUU\LQJ� YDOXH� RI� WKH� FRPSDQ\¶V� ORQJ-term debt, including both current 
PDWXULWLHV�DQG� WKH� IDLU�YDOXH�RI� WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V� LQWHUHVW� UDWH�VZDS�DUUDQJHPHQWV��ZDV��������PLOOLRQ�ZLWK�D�FRUUHVSRQGLQJ� IDLU�market 
value of $365.6 million. At May 31, 2008, the carrying value and fair market value was $375.5 million and $370.1 million, respectively. 

17. Financial Instruments with Off-Balance Sheet Risk 
The company has periodically utilized financial instruments to manage its foreign currency volatility at the transactional level as well as 
its exposure to interest rate fluctuations.  

Foreign Currency Contracts 
In the normal course of business, the company enters into contracts denominated in foreign currencies. The principal foreign currencies 
in which the company conducts its business are the British pound sterling, euro, Canadian dollar, Japanese yen, Mexican peso, and 
Chinese renminbi.  As of May 30, 2009, the company had outstanding, nine forward currency instruments designed to offset either net 
asset or net liability exposure that is denominated in non-functional currencies.  Three forward contracts were placed in order to offset 
4.8 million euro-denominated net asset exposure that is denominated in a non-functional currency and two forward contracts were 
placed in order to offset 2.9 million U.S. dollar-denominated net asset exposure that is denominated in a non-functional currency.  Two 
forward contracts were placed to offset a 4.0 million U.S. dollar-denominated net liability exposure in China and Brazil and two forward 
contracts were placed to offset a 3.9 million British pound sterling-denominated net liability exposure in Japan and the United Kingdom.  
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
17 Financial Instruments with Off-Balance Sheet Risk (continued) 

As of May 31, 2008, the company had outstanding, five forward currency instruments designed to offset either net asset or net liability 
exposure that is denominated in non-functional currencies. Three forward contracts were placed in order to offset 4.0 million euro-
denominated net asset exposure that is denominated in a non-functional currency. Two forward contracts were placed to offset a 6.0 
million U.S. dollar-denominated net liability exposure in China. At both May 30, 2009 and May 31, 2008 the fair value of the forward 
currency instruments was $0.1 million. 

Interest Rate Swaps 
In November 2003, the company entered into two fixed-to-floating interest rate swap agreements. The first which expires March 15, 
2011, effectively converts $50.0 million of fixed-rate debt securities to a floating-rate basis. The fair value of this swap instrument, which 
is based upon expected LIBOR rates over the remaining term of the instrument, was approximately $2.4 million at May 30, 2009, and is 
reflected as an addition to long-term debt and an offsetting addition to non-current assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. As of 
May 31, 2008, the fair value of approximately $0.5 million was reflected as an addition to long-term debt and an offsetting addition to 
non-current assets. The floating interest rate for this agreement is based on the six-month LIBOR, set in-arrears at the end of each 
semi-annual period, and is estimated to be approximately 3.5 percent and 5.6 percent at May 30, 2009, and May 31, 2008, respectively. 
The next scheduled interest rate reset date is in September 2009.  The second agreement expired March 5, 2008. 
$V�RI�0D\�����������D�WRWDO�RI�������PLOOLRQ�RI�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�RXWVWDQGLQJ�GHEW�ZDV�HIIHFWLYHO\�FRQYHUWHG�WR�D�YDULDEOH-rate basis as a 

result of the remaining interest rate swap arrangement. This swap is a fair-value hedge and qualifies for hedge-accounting treatment 
XVLQJ� WKH� ³VKRUW-FXW´�PHWKRG�XQGHU� WKH�SURYLVLRQV�RI�6)$6�1R������� ³$FFRXQWLQJ� IRU�'HULYDWLYH� ,QVWUXPHQWV�DQG�+HGJLQJ�$FWLYLWLHV�´�
Under this accounting treatment, the change in the fair value of the interest rate swap is equal to the change in value of the related 
hedged debt and, as a result, there is no net effect on earnings. The agreement requires the company to pay floating-rate interest 
payments in return for receiving fixed-rate interest payments that coincide with the semi-annual payments to the debt holders at the 
same date. The periodic interest settlements, which occur at the same interval as the public debt securities, are recorded as interest 
expense. 

The counterparty to the remaining swap instrument is a large financial institution which the company believes is of high-quality 
creditworthiness. While the company may be exposed to potential losses due to the credit risk of non-performance by this counterparty, 
such losses are not anticipated. 

These swap arrangements effectively reduced interest expense by $1.2 million in fiscal 2009 and $0.4 million in fiscal 2008, and 
increased interest expense by $0.6 million in fiscal 2007. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

18. Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information 
The following table presents the adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash provided by operating activities. 
(In millions) 2009 2008 2007 

Depreciation  $39.5  $41.1  $39.7 
Amortization  2.2  2.1 1.5 
Provision for losses on accounts receivable and notes receivable 2.3 3.8 (0.6) 
Provision for losses on financial guarantees        (0.1)  (0.1)  (0.2) 
Minority interest        (0.1)  (0.1) ²
Loss on sales of property and equipment  0.5  1.1 1.5 
Gain on disposal of owned dealers        (0.8)  (0.9) ²
Deferred taxes  3.1  (10.6)  3.2 
Pension and other post-retirement benefits  5.2  5.5 3.9 
Stock-based compensation  3.3  6.2 4.9 
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation  0.3  (0.1)  (6.7) 
Other liabilities  2.2  1.9 0.3 
Other 0.5  (0.4)  (1.9) 
Changes in current assets and liabilities: 

Decrease (increase) in assets:
 Accounts receivable  53.5  (21.3)  (14.8)
 Inventories 15.3  2.6 (9.0) 

Prepaid expenses and other        (4.8)  (2.6)  (6.3) 
Increase (decrease) in liabilities: 

 Accounts payable      (37.8)  6.1 (1.8)
 Accrued liabilities      (60.6)  27.0 (5.1) 

Total changes in current assets and liabilities      (34.4)  11.8 (37.0) 

Total adjustments  $23.7 $61.3 $8.6 

Cash payments for interest and income taxes were as follows. 
(In millions) 2009 2008 2007 

Interest paid  $24.1  $13.1 $13.5 
Income taxes paid, net of cash received  $70.4  $75.7 $57.6 

19. Guarantees, Indemnifications, and Contingencies 
Product Warranties 
The company provides warranty coverage to the end-user for parts and labor on products sold. The standard length of warranty is 12 
years, however, this varies depending on the product classification. The company does not sell or otherwise issue warranties or 
warranty extensions as stand-DORQH� SURGXFWV�� 5HVHUYHV� KDYH� EHHQ� HVWDEOLVKHG� IRU� YDULRXV� FRVWV� DVVRFLDWHG� ZLWK� WKH� FRPSDQ\¶s 
warranty program. General warranty reserves are based on historical claims experience and other currently available information and 
are periodically adjusted for business levels and other factors. Specific reserves are established once an issue is identified with the 
amounts for such reserves based on the estimated cost of correction. Changes in the warranty reserve for the stated periods were as 
follows. 
(In millions) 2009 2008 

Accrual balance, beginning $14.9 $14.6 
Accrual for warranty matters 13.8 15.2 
Settlements and adjustments (13.3) (14.9) 

Accrual balance, ending $15.4 $14.9 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

Other Guarantees  
The company has entered into a separate agreement to guarantee the debt of an independent contract furniture dealership in fiscal 
������ ,Q� DFFRUGDQFH� ZLWK� WKH� SURYLVLRQV� RI� )$6%� ,QWHUSUHWDWLRQ� 1R�� ���� ³*XDUDQWRU¶V� $FFRXQWLQJ� DQG� 'LVFORVXUH� 5HTXLUHPHQWV� IRr 
*XDUDQWHHV��,QFOXGLQJ�,QGLUHFW�*XDUDQWHHV�RI�WKH�,QGHEWHGQHVV�RI�2WKHUV´��),1������WKH�FRmpany initially recorded an expense equal to 
the estimated fair values of this guarantee. The maximum financial exposure assumed by the company as a result of these 
arrangement(s) totaled $0.1 million and $0.4 million as of May 30, 2009 and May 31, 2008, respectively. Guarantees of $0.1 million and 
�����PLOOLRQ�DUH� UHIOHFWHG�XQGHU� WKH�FDSWLRQ� ³2WKHU�/LDELOLWLHV´� LQ� WKH�&RQVROLGDWHG�%DODQFH�6KHHWV�DV�RI�0D\����������DQG�0Dy 31, 
2008, respectively. 

The company is periodically required to provide performance bonds in order to conduct business with certain customers. These 
arrangements are common and generally have terms ranging between one and three years. The bonds are required to provide 
assurances to customers that the products and services they have purchased will be installed and/or provided properly and without 
damage to their facilities. The performance bonds are provided by various bonding agencies and the company is ultimately liable for 
claims that may occur against them. As of May 30, 2009, the company had a maximum financial exposure related to performance 
bonds of approximately $11.6 million. The company has no history of claims, nor is it aware of circumstances that would require it to 
perform under any of these arrangements and believes that the resolution of any claims that might arise in the future, either individually 
RU� LQ� WKH�DJJUHJDWH��ZRXOG�QRW�PDWHULDOO\�DIIHFW� WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V� ILQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV��$FFRUGLQJO\��QR� OLDELOLW\�KDV�EHHQ�UHFRUded as of 
May 30, 2009 and May 31, 2008. 

The company periodically enters into agreements in the normal course of business, which may include indemnification clauses 
regarding patent/trademark infringement and service losses. Service losses represent all direct or consequential loss, liability, damages, 
costs and expenses incurred by the customer or others resulting from services rendered by the company, the dealer, or certain sub­
contractors due to a proven negligent act. The company has no history of claims, nor is it aware of circumstances that would require it 
to perform under these arrangements and believes that the resolution of any claims that might arise in the future, either individually or in 
WKH�DJJUHJDWH��ZRXOG�QRW�PDWHULDOO\�DIIHFW�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�ILQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV��$FFRUGLQJO\��QR�OLDELOLW\�KDV�EHHQ recorded as of May 30, 
2009 and May 31, 2008. 

The company has entered into standby letter of credit arrangements for the purpose of protecting various insurance companies 
against default on the payment of certain premiums and claims. A majority of these aUUDQJHPHQWV�DUH�UHODWHG�WR�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�ZKROO\ ­
owned captive insurance company. As of May 30, 2009, the company had a maximum financial exposure from these insurance-related 
standby letters of credit of approximately $13.1 million. The company has no history of claims, nor is it aware of circumstances that 
would require it to perform under any of these arrangements and believes that the resolution of any claims that might arise in the future, 
either individually or in the aggregate, would not materially afIHFW�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�ILQDQFLDO�VWDWHPHQWV��$FFRUGLQJO\��QR�OLDELOLW\�KDV�EHHQ�
recorded as of May 30, 2009 and May 31, 2008. 

Contingencies 
The company leases a facility in the United Kingdom under an agreement that expires in June 2011. Under the terms of the lease, the 
company is required to perform the maintenance and repairs necessary to address the general dilapidation of the facility over the lease 
term. The ultimate cost of this provision to the company is dependent on a number of factors including, but not limited to, the future use 
of the facility by the lessor and whether the company chooses and is permitted to renew the lease term. The company has estimated 
the cost of these maintenance and repairs to be between $0 and $3 million, depending on the outcome of future plans and negotiations. 
Based on existing circumstances, it is estimated that these costs will most likely approximate $1.0 million, as of May 30, 2009, and was 
estimated to be $1.0 million as of May 31, 2008. As a result, these amounts have been recorded as a liability reflected under the 
FDSWLRQ�³2WKHU�/LDELOLWLHV´�LQ�WKH�&RQVROLGDWHG�%DODQFH�6KHHWV��

The company has a lease obligation in the United Kingdom until May 2014 for a facility that it previously exited. The company 
believes it will be able to assign or sublet the lease for the majority of the remaining lease term to another tenant at current market 
rates. However, current market rates for comparable office space are lower than the rental payments owed under the lease agreement. 
As such, the company would remain liable to pay the difference. As a result, the estimated liability of $1.6 million and $2.0 million is 
UHIOHFWHG� XQGHU� WKH� FDSWLRQ� ³2WKHU� /LDELOLWLHV´� LQ� WKH�&RQGHQVHG�&RQVROLGDWHG�%DODQFH�6KHHWV� DW�0D\� ���� ����� DQG�0D\� �1, 2008, 
respectively. 

The company, for a number of years, has sold various products to the United States Government under General Services 
$GPLQLVWUDWLRQ� �³*6$´�� PXOWLSOH� DZDUG� VFKHGXOH� FRQWUDFWV�� 8QGHU� WKH� WHUPV� RI� WKHVH� FRQWUDFWV�� WKH� *6$� LV� SHUPLWWHG� to audit the 
FRPSDQ\¶V�FRPSOLDQFH�ZLWK�WKH�*6$�FRQWUDFWV��7KH�FRPSDQ\�KDV�RFFDVLRQDOO\�QRWHG�HUURUV�LQ�FRPSO\LQJ�ZLWK�FRQWUDFW�SURYLVLRQV� From 
time to time the company has notified the GSA of known instances of non-compliance (whether favorable or unfavorable to the GSA) 
once such circumstances are identified and investigated. The company does not believe that any of the errors brought to the G6$¶V�
attention will adversely affect its relationship with the GSA. Currently there are no GSA post-award audits either scheduled or in 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

SURFHVV�� 0DQDJHPHQW� GRHV� QRW� H[SHFW� UHVROXWLRQ� RI� SRWHQWLDO� IXWXUH� DXGLWV� WR� KDYH� D� PDWHULDO� DGYHUVH� HIIHFW� RQ� WKH� FRPSDQ\¶V�
Consolidated Financial Statements. 

The company is also involved in legal proceedings and litigation arising in the ordinary course of business. In the opinion of 
PDQDJHPHQW�� WKH�RXWFRPH�RI�VXFK�SURFHHGLQJV�DQG� OLWLJDWLRQ�FXUUHQWO\�SHQGLQJ�ZLOO�QRW�PDWHULDOO\�DIIHFW� WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�&RQVROLdated 
Financial Statements. 

20. Operating Segments 
7KH� FRPSDQ\� LV� FRPSULVHG� RI� WZR� SULPDU\� RSHUDWLQJ� VHJPHQWV� DV� GHILQHG� E\� 6)$6� 1R�� ����� ³'LVFORVXUHV� DERXW� 6HJPHQWV� RI� DQ�
(QWHUSULVH�DQG�5HODWHG�,QIRUPDWLRQ�´�1RUWK�$PHULFDQ�)XUQLWXUH�6ROXWLRQV�DQG�QRQ-North American Furniture Solutions. 

The North American Furniture Solutions segment includes the operations associated with the design, manufacture, and sale of 
furniture products for work-related settings, including office and healthcare environments, throughout the United States, Canada, and 
0H[LFR��7KH�EXVLQHVV�DVVRFLDWHG�ZLWK�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�RZQHG�FRQWUDFW�IXUQLWXUH�GHDOHUV�LV�DOVR�LQFOXGHG�LQ�WKH�1RUWK�$PHULFDQ�)Xrniture 
Solutions segment. The non-North American Furniture Solutions segment includes the operations associated with the design, 
manufacture, and sale of furniture products, primarily for work-related settings, outside of North America. 
7KH�FRPSDQ\�DOVR�UHSRUWV�DQ�³2WKHU´�FDWHJRU\�FRQVLVWLQJ�SULPDULO\�RI�LWV�1RUWK�$PHULFDQ�+RPH�DQG�VWDUW-up businesses and certain 

unallocated corporate expenses. North American Home includes the operations associated with the design, manufacture and sale of 
furniture products for residential settings in the United States, Canada, and Mexico. The start-up businesses are discrete operations, 
such as Convia, Inc., or activities aimed at developing innovative products to serve current and new markets. 
7KH� SHUIRUPDQFH� RI� WKH� RSHUDWLQJ� VHJPHQWV� LV� HYDOXDWHG� E\� WKH� FRPSDQ\¶V�PDQDJHPHQW� XVLQJ� YDULRXV� ILQDQFLDO�PHDVXUHV�� 7KH�

following is a summary of certain key financial measures for the respective fiscal years indicated. 
(In millions) 2009 2008 2007 

Net Sales: 
North American Furniture Solutions $1,349.4 $1,636.3 $1,563.6 
Non-North American Furniture Solutions 238.4 323.5 278.5

 Other 42.2 52.3 76.8 

Total $1,630.0 $2,012.1 $1,918.9 

Depreciation and Amortization: 
North American Furniture Solutions $35.7 $36.5 $35.7 
Non-North American Furniture Solutions 4.4 4.6 4.4

 Other 1.6 2.1 1.1

 Total $41.7 $43.2 $41.2 

Operating Earnings: 
North American Furniture Solutions $133.0 $195.9 $161.7 
Non-North American Furniture Solutions 15.1 47.3 28.9 
Other (25.3) 3.4 7.5

 Total $122.8 $246.6 $198.1 

Capital Expenditures: 
North American Furniture Solutions $22.3 $33.2 $34.1 
Non-North American Furniture Solutions 2.8 5.7 4.8

 Other 0.2 1.6 2.4

 Total $25.3 $40.5 $41.3 

Total Assets: 
North American Furniture Solutions $628.7 $594.9 $507.0 
Non-North American Furniture Solutions 110.7 159.2 133.1

 Other 27.9 29.1 26.1 

Total $767.3 $783.2 $666.2 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
20 Operating Segments (continued) 

The accounting policies of the reportable operating segments are the same as those of the company, which are disclosed in further 
detail within Note 1. Additionally, the company employs a methodology for allocating corporate costs and assets to the operating 
VHJPHQWV��7KH�XQGHUO\LQJ�REMHFWLYH�RI�WKLV�PHWKRGRORJ\�LV�WR�DOORFDWH�FRUSRUDWH�FRVWV�DFFRUGLQJ�WR�WKH�UHODWLYH�³XVDJH´�RI�WKe underlying 
resources and to allocate corporate assets according to the relative expected benefit. The company has determined that allocation 
based on relative net sales is most appropriate for all expenses. The majority of corporate costs are allocated to the operating 
segments; however, certain costs that are generally considered the result of isolated business decisions are not subject to allocation 
and are evaluated separately from the rest of the regular ongoing business operations. The restructuring charges of $28.4 million in 
ILVFDO������DQG������PLOOLRQ�LQ�ILVFDO������DQG�GLVFXVVHG�LQ�1RWH����ZHUH�DOORFDWHG�WR�WKH�³2WKHU´�FDWHJRU\�
7KH�FRPSDQ\¶V�SURGXFW�RIIHULQJV�FRQVLVW�SULPDULO\�RI�RIILFH�IXUQLWXUH�V\VWHPV��VHDWLQJ��IUHHVWDQGLQJ�IXUQLWXUH��VWRUDJH�DQG�Fasegoods. 

These product offerings are marketed, distributed, and managed primarily as a group of similar products on an overall portfolio basis. 
The following is a summary of net sales by product category for the respective fiscal years indicated. Given that formal product line 
information is not available for the company as a whole, this summary is intended to represent a reasonable estimate of net sales by 
product category based on the best information available. 
(In millions) 2009 2008 2007 

Net sales: 
Systems $511.6 $579.7 $565.2 
Seating 361.1 489.1 481.7 
Freestanding and storage 260.3 295.9 288.0 
International(1) 365.7 481.0 408.9 
Other(2) 131.3 166.4 175.1 

Total $1,630.0 $2,012.1 $1,918.9 

(1) The company has determined that the disclosure of international product line information is not practicable. 
(2) 2WKHU´�SULPDULO\�FRQVLVWV�RI�PLVFHOODQHRXV�RU�RWKHUZLVH�XQFDWHJRUL]HG�SURGXFW�VDOHV�DQG�VHUYLFH�VDOHV�

Sales by geographic area are based on the location of the customer. Long-lived assets consist of long-term assets of the company, 
excluding financial instruments and deferred tax assets. The following is a summary of geographic information for the respective fiscal 
years indicated. Individual foreign country information is not provided as none of the individual foreign countries in which we operate are 
considered material for separate disclosure based on quantitative and qualitative considerations. 
(In millions) 2009 2008 2007 

Net Sales: 
 United States $1,233.6 $1,531.1 $1,510.0 
 International(1) 396.4 481.0 408.9 

Total $1,630.0 $2,012.1 $1,918.9 

Long-Lived Assets: 
 United States $162.4 $189.3 $194.2 

International(1) 24.9 30.6 28.5 

Total $187.3 $219.9 $222.7 

It is estimated that no single dealer accounted for more than 4.0 percent oI�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�QHW�VDOHV�LQ�WKH�ILVFDO�\HDU�HQGHG�0D\�����
2009. It is also estimated that the largest single end-user customer, the U.S. federal government, accounted for $167.2 million or 
DSSUR[LPDWHO\����SHUFHQW�RI�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�ILVFDO������QHW�VDOHV��7he 10 largest customers accounted for approximately 21 percent of 
net sales. 
$SSUR[LPDWHO\� �� SHUFHQW� RI� WKH� FRPSDQ\¶V� HPSOR\HHV� DUH� FRYHUHG� E\� FROOHFWLYH� EDUJDLQLQJ� DJUHHPHQWV�� PRVW� RI� ZKRP� DUH�

employees of its Integrated Metal Technology, Inc., and Herman Miller Limited (U.K.) subsidiaries. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

21. Restructuring Charges 
2008 Action 
'XULQJ�WKH�VHFRQG�TXDUWHU�RI�ILVFDO�������WKH�FRPSDQ\�H[HFXWHG�D�UHVWUXFWXULQJ�SODQ��³WKH������3ODQ´��WKDW�UHGXFHG�RSHrating expenses 
in order to improve operating performance, profitability and further enhance productivity and efficiencies. The 2008 Plan eliminated 
approximately 150 full-time positions, primarily in West Michigan. In connection with the 2008 Plan, the company recorded $5.2 million 
of pre-tax charges and $(0.1) million of adjustments for employee severance and outplacement costs. These charges were reflected 
separately as restructuring expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. 

The following is a summary of changes in restructuring accruals during fiscal 2008. 
(In millions) Severance and Outplacement Costs 

Balance as of June 2, 2007  $²
Restructuring expenses 5.2 
Adjustments (0.1) 
Cash payments (4.5) 
Balance as of May 31, 2008 $0.6 
Cash payments (0.6) 
Balance as of May 30, 2009 $²

2009 Action 
'XULQJ�WKH�WKLUG�TXDUWHU�RI�ILVFDO�������WKH�FRPSDQ\�H[HFXWHG�D�UHVWUXFWXULQJ�SODQ��³WKH������3ODQ´��WKDW�UHGXFHG�RSHUDWLQJ�Hxpenses in 
order to improve operating performance, profitability and further enhance productivity and efficiencies. The 2009 Plan eliminated 
approximately 1,400 salaried, hourly and temporary positions, primarily in the North American Furniture Solutions segment.  A number 
of these employees were offered one-time termination benefits, including severance and outplacement services. Additionally, the 
company consolidated facilities and exited leased buildings. In connection with these actions, the company recognized $28.4 million of 
pre-tax charges. 

In May 2009, the company announced a plan to consolidate manufacturing operations with the closure of its Integrated Metal 
Technologies (IMT) subsidiary in Spring Lake, Michigan. Under this plan, the company will retain existing production capacity and will 
enhance operational efficiency, with the majority of work and equipment moving to other newer, larger facilities in the area. Relocation 
is targeted to begin in August 2009, with the work completed and final closure targeted for spring 2010.  The anticipated one-time cost 
for this action is $9 million to $12 million with approximately $2 million of these costs having been recognized in fiscal 2009.  It is 
anticipated that the remainder of these costs will be incurred in fiscal 2010 and will be paid for with cash generated from operations. 

The following is a summary of changes in restructuring accruals during fiscal 2009. 
Severance and 

Total Plan Outplacement Leased Building 
(In millions) Costs Costs Exit Costs 

Balance as of May 31, 2008  $²  $²  $²
Restructuring expenses 28.4 25.0 3.4 
Cash payments (16.8)  (16.0) (0.8) 
Balance as of May 30, 2009 $11.6 $9.0 $2.6 

These charges have been reflected separately as restructuring expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.  Refer to 
1RWH����IRU�D�GLVFXVVLRQ�RI�WKH�3ODQ¶V�LPSDFW�RQ�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�UHSRUWDEOH�RSHUDWLQJ�VHJPHQWV�
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0DQDJHPHQW·V�5HSRUW�RQ�,QWHUQDO�&RQWURO�RYHU�)LQDQFLDO�5HSRUWLQJ

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Herman Miller, Inc. 
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as defined in 

Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f).  The internal control over financial reporting at Herman Miller, Inc., is designed to provide reasonable 
assurance to our stakeholders that the financial statements of the company fairly represent its financial condition and results of 
operations. 

Under the supervision and with the participation of management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we 
conducted an assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of May 30, 2009, based on the 
framework in Internal Control ± Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
&RPPLVVLRQ�� � %DVHG� RQ� WKLV� DVVHVVPHQW�� RXU� PDQDJHPHQW� EHOLHYHV� WKH� FRPSDQ\¶V� LQWHUQDO� FRQWURO� RYHU� ILQDQFLDO� UHSRUWLQJ� ZDV�
effective as of May 30, 2009.  

Ernst & Young LLP has issued an attestation report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting, which 
appears on page 82. 

Brian C. Walker 
Chief Executive Officer 

Gregory J. Bylsma 
Chief Financial Officer 
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Herman Miller, Inc. 
:H�KDYH�DXGLWHG�+HUPDQ�0LOOHU� ,QF�¶V� LQWHUQDO�FRQWURO�RYHU�ILQDQFLDO�UHSRUWLQJ�DV�RI�0D\�����������EDVHG�RQ�FULWHULD�HVWDEOLVhed in 

Internal Control±Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO 
FULWHULD���+HUPDQ�0LOOHU�� ,QF�¶V�PDQDJHPHQW� LV�UHVSRQVLEOH�IRU�PDLQWDLQLQJ�HIIHFWLYH� LQWHUQDO�FRQWURO�RYHU�ILQDQFLDO�UHSRUWLQg, and for its 
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over ILQDQFLDO� UHSRUWLQJ� LQFOXGHG� LQ� WKH� DFFRPSDQ\LQJ�0DQDJHPHQW¶V� 5HSRUW� RQ�
,QWHUQDO�&RQWURO�RYHU�)LQDQFLDO�5HSRUWLQJ��2XU� UHVSRQVLELOLW\� LV� WR�H[SUHVV�DQ�RSLQLRQ�RQ� WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V� LQWHUQDO�FRQWURO�RYHU financial 
reporting based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over 
financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over 
financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of 
internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. 
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 
$�FRPSDQ\¶V�LQWHUQDO�FRQWURO�RYHU�ILQDQFLDO�UHSRUWLQJ�Ls a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability 

of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted 
DFFRXQWLQJ�SULQFLSOHV��$�FRPSDQ\¶V�LQWHUQDO�FRQWURl over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the 
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the 
company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in 
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding 
SUHYHQWLRQ�RU�WLPHO\�GHWHFWLRQ�RI�XQDXWKRUL]HG�DFTXLVLWLRQ��XVH��RU�GLVSRVLWLRQ�RI�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�DVVHWV�WKDW�FRXOG�KDYH�D�PDWerial effect 
on the financial statements. 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections 
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in 
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

In our opinion, Herman Miller, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of May 30, 
2009, based on the COSO criteria. 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the 
fiscal 2009 consolidated financial statements of Herman Miller, Inc., and our report dated July 20, 2009 expressed an unqualified 
opinion thereon. 

Grand Rapids, Michigan /s/ Ernst & Young LLP 
July 20, 2009 
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Financial Statements 

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Herman Miller, Inc. 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Herman Miller, Inc. and subsidiaries as of May 30, 2009 and 
0D\�����������DQG�WKH�UHODWHG�FRQVROLGDWHG�VWDWHPHQWV�RI�RSHUDWLRQV��VKDUHKROGHUV¶�HTXLW\�DQG�FDVK�IORZV�IRU�HDFK�RI�WKe three fiscal 
\HDUV� LQ� WKH� SHULRG� HQGHG� 0D\� ���� ������ 7KHVH� ILQDQFLDO� VWDWHPHQWV� DUH� WKH� UHVSRQVLELOLW\� RI� WKH� FRPSDQ\¶V� PDQDJHPHQW�� 2XU�
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). 
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are 
free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, 
as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of 
Herman Miller, Inc. and subsidiaries at May 30, 2009 and May 31, 2008, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash 
flows for each of the three fiscal years in the period ended May 30, 2009, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting 
principles. 

As discussed in Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements, in fiscal 2008, the company changed its method of accounting for 
unrecognized tax benefits as a result of the required adoption of Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 48.  

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), 
+HUPDQ�0LOOHU�� ,QF�¶V� LQWHUQDO� FRQWURO� RYHU� ILQDQFLDO� UHSRUWLQJ� DV� RI�0D\� ���� ������ EDVHG� RQ� FULWHULD� HVWDEOished in Internal Control-
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated July 
20, 2009 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon. 

Grand Rapids, Michigan /s/ Ernst & Young LLP 
July 20, 2009 
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Board of Directors 

Paget L. Alves(1) 

President, South Region Sales & Distribution, Sprint Nextel 
Global communications company 
Mary Vermeer Andringa(2) 

President and Chief Executive Officer, Vermeer Manufacturing Company 
Agricutlural and industrial equipment manufacturer 
Douglas D. French(1) 

Managing Director, Santé Health Ventures 
Healthcare venture capital 
Lord Brian Griffiths of Fforestfach(4) 

International Advisor, Goldman Sachs International Limited 
International investment banking firm and House of Lords, United Kingdom 
J. Barry Griswell(1)(3) 

Retired Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer, Principal Financial Group, Inc. and Principal Life 
Financial services organization 
John R. Hoke III(1) 

Vice President, Global Footwear, Converse, Inc.
Footwear, apparel, equipment, and accessories
James R. Kackley(2)(3)

Director of various companies
Mark S. Nemschoff 
Consultant to Herman Miller
Former President and Chief Executive Officer, Nemschoff Chairs, Inc.
C. William Pollard(2)(3) 

Chairman Emeritus, The ServiceMaster Company 
Management and consumer services for healthcare, industrial, and educational facilities 
Dorothy A. Terrell(3)(4)

Venture Partner, First Light Capital
David O. Ulrich(4)

Professor, University of Michigan Business School
Michael A. Volkema(3) 

Chairman of the Board, Herman Miller, Inc.
Brian C. Walker
President and Chief Executive Officer, Herman Miller, Inc.
Daniel C. Molhoek
Secretary to the Board, Partner, Varnum Riddering, Schmidt & Howlett LLP
Attorneys at law
(1) Executive Compensation Committee 
(2) Audit Committee 
(3) Executive Committee 
(4) Nominating and Governance Committee 
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Leadership Team 

Brian Walker 
President and Chief Executive Officer 
Greg Bylsma 
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer 
Steve Gane 
Senior Vice President 
President, Geiger 
Don Goeman 
Executive Vice President, Research, Design, and Development 
Ken Goodson 
Executive Vice President, Operations 
Kathleen Koch 
Senior Vice President, Marketing 
Andy Lock 
Executive Vice President, Chief Administrative Officer 
Beth Nickels 
Executive Vice President 
President, Herman Miller Healthcare 
John Portlock 
Executive Vice President 
President, Herman Miller International 
Curt Pullen 
Executive Vice President 
President, North American Office and Learning Environments 
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Shareholder Reference Information

Line of Business

Herman Miller is a 100­year­old­plus company that places great importance on design, the environment, community service, and the
health and well­being of our customers and our employees. Innovative ways to improve the performance of our customers’
organizations have become our hallmark. Our award­winning furniture, services, and other products are available through retailers and
dealers around the world. Whether your world is an office, a school, a home, or a hospital–and whether you are a customer, an
employee, a shareholder, or a member of our community–we work hard to create a better world around you.

Common Stock

Herman Miller, Inc., common stock is traded on the NASDAQ­Global Select Market System (Symbol: MLHR). As of July 22, 2009, there
were approximately 20,700 record holders, including individual participants in security position listings, of the company’s common stock.

Affirmative Action

Herman Miller, Inc., is an equal opportunity employer and supports affirmative action programs for minorities and women, including the
recruitment, education and training, and economic development of businesses.

Investor Relations

Questions regarding earnings, releases, financial information, and other investor data should be addressed to:

Investor Relations, Herman Miller, Inc., 855 East Main Avenue, PO Box 302, Zeeland, Michigan 49464­0302, USA
Or call: 616 654 3305
Or email: investor@hermanmiller.com

Transfer Agent and Registrar

Computershare Trust Company, N.A., 250 Royall Street, Canton, Massachusetts 02021, Attention: Herman Miller, Inc.
Shareholder Relations
Or call: 866 768 5723

Independent Registered Public Accountants

Ernst & Young LLP, Grand Rapids, Michigan

Contact Herman Miller

Herman Miller has a physical presence through showrooms, dealers, customer centers, retailers, and manufacturing facilities
throughout the world. No matter how you would like to do business with us, you can begin connecting with us at:
www.hermanmiller.com
Or call: 616 654 3000
Or write: Herman Miller, Inc., 855 East Main Avenue, PO Box 302, Zeeland, Michigan 49464­0302, USA
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